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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Our Corporate Information

Our business was incorporated in Delaware as “Intralinks, Inc.” in June 1996. In June 2007, we completed a merger, or the Merger, pursuant to which
Intralinks, Inc. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of TA Indigo Holding Corporation, a newly-formed Delaware corporation owned by TA Associates, Inc.,
which is now part of TA Associates Management, L.P. and certain other stockholders of Intralinks, Inc., including Rho Capital Partners, Inc. and former and
current officers and employees of Intralinks, Inc. The Merger was accounted for under the purchase accounting method in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP. In 2010, we changed the name of TA Indigo Holding Corporation to “Intralinks
Holdings, Inc.” Unless otherwise stated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (also referred to as this Annual Report or this Form 10-K) or the context otherwise
requires, references to “Intralinks,” “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company” and similar references refer to Intralinks Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Intralinks®, Intralinks Connect™, Intralinks DealNexus™, Intralinks Dealspace™, Intralinks Debtspace™, Intralinks Fundspace™, Intralinks
Studyspace™, Intralinks VIA™ and other trademarks of Intralinks appearing in this Annual Report are the property of Intralinks. Other trademarks or
service marks that may appear in this Annual Report are the property of their respective holders. Solely for convenience, the trademarks and trade names in
this Annual Report are referred to without the ®, ™ and SM symbols, but such references should not be construed as any indicator that their respective owners
will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, their rights thereto.

Forward-Looking Statement Safe Harbor
Some of the statements in this Annual Report constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These statements relate to our operations and are based on our current
expectations, estimates and projections. Words such as “may,” “will,” “could,” “would,” “should,” “anticipate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue,”
“expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “projects,” “believes,” “estimates,” “goals,” “in our view” and similar expressions are used to identify these forward-looking
statements. The forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report include, but are not limited to, statements about our internal control over financial
reporting, our results of operations and financial condition and our plans, strategies and developments. Forward-looking statements are only predictions and,
as such, are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Forward-looking statements
are based upon assumptions as to future events or our future financial performance that may not prove to be accurate. Actual outcomes and results may differ
materially from what is expressed or forecasted in these forward-looking statements. Many of the reasons for these differences include changes that occur in
our continually changing business environment and other important factors. These risks, uncertainties and other factors are more fully described in “Item 1A.
Risk Factors” and “Item 7: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in Part I of this Form 10-K. You are
strongly encouraged to read those sections carefully as the occurrence of the events described therein and elsewhere in this report could materially harm our
business. Given these risks, uncertainties and other factors, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Also, these statements
speak only as of the date they were made and, except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Intralinks is a leading global provider of Software-as-a-Service, or SaaS, solutions for secure content management and collaboration within and among
organizations. Our cloud-based solutions enable organizations to control, track, search and exchange time-sensitive information inside and outside the firewall,

all within a secure and easy-to-use environment. Our customers rely on our cost-effective solutions to manage large amounts of electronic information,
accelerate information intensive business processes, reduce time to market, optimize critical information workflow, meet regulatory and risk management
requirements and collaborate with business counterparties in a secure, auditable and compliant manner. We help our customers eliminate many of the inherent
risks and inefficiencies of using email, fax, courier services and other existing solutions to collaborate and exchange information.

At our founding in 1996, we introduced cloud-based collaboration for the debt capital markets industry and, shortly thereafter, extended our solutions to
merger and acquisition transactions. Today, we service enterprises, financial institutions and governmental agencies in 6 9 countries across a variety of
industries, including financial services, pharmaceutical, manufacturing, biotechnology, consumer, energy, telecommunications, industrial, legal, agriculture,
insurance, real estate and technology, which use our solutions for the secure management and online exchange of information within and among organizations.
Across our principal markets, we help transform a wide range of slow, expensive and information-intensive tasks into streamlined, efficient and real-time
business processes.
We deliver our solutions through a cloud-based model, making them available on-demand over the Internet using a multi-tenant SaaS architecture in which a
single instance of our software serves all of our customers. We sell our solutions directly through a field sales team with industry-specific expertise and an
inside sales team, and indirectly through a customer referral network and channel partners. In 2013, we generated $234.5 million in revenue, 41.3% of which
was derived from sales across 6 9 countries outside of the U.S.

The Intralinks Platform

We have built a highly secure and scalable, cloud-based, multi-tenant platform upon which we develop solutions that allow our customers to collaborate,
manage and exchange critical information across organizational and geographic boundaries. We integrate content management, collaboration and social
networking software into one platform that supports business collaboration and content exchange. The Intralinks Platform scales from the needs of small
groups and individuals within one organization to large teams of people across multiple enterprises, financial institutions and governmental agencies. Our
platform helps transform a wide range of slow, expensive and information-intensive tasks into streamlined, efficient and real-time business processes.
Examples include the following:

•

debt capital markets transactions, including loan syndication, agency and other financing activities;

•

due diligence for merger and acquisition transactions, initial public offerings, or IPOs, and other strategic transactions;

•

secure enterprise collaboration and file sharing by business professionals in a wide variety of industry settings;

•

private equity fundraising, hedge fund marketing and investor reporting;

•

clinical trial management support and safety document distribution;

•

life sciences drug development support and licensing;

•

contract and vendor management;

•

corporate development and board reporting; and

•

corporate banking.

Intralinks Exchanges
Intralinks exchanges facilitate collaboration within and among organizations. They integrate the capabilities of content management, collaboration and social
networking software into a cohesive work environment that is accessible from the Internet. Users can also access the system from a wide variety of mobile
devices, including iPads, iPhones, BlackBerry and Android-based products.
Inherent in each Intralinks exchange is the ability to manage content. This includes not only standard document management capabilities, such as the ability to
monitor document use to maintain version control, but also more sophisticated permissioning capabilities such as document locking and protection, that can
watermark content and control a user's ability to view, print, forward
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and save content stored on an Intralinks exchange. Document locking and protection can be configured for users and groups on a bulk or per document basis.

Disaster recovery services, virus scanning and protection and automated backups are included as an ongoing component of our service offering to protect and
secure the Intralinks Exchange environment and its content. We also provide a comprehensive archiving service that includes a complete electronic copy of all
Intralinks exchange content (e.g., files and documents), access history, historical permissions and electronic communications sent through an Intralinks
Exchange. Detailed and auditable records document disclosure should any legal or other compliance challenges arise. These auditable records frequently
satisfy additional company and regulatory record-keeping requirements.

Intralinks has a broad range of application solutions built on the Intralinks Platform that deliver collaboration capabilities for different user communities and
use cases:

Intralinks Dealspace
Intralinks Dealspace is a virtual deal room, or VDR, solution designed for the mergers and acquisitions industry. Intralinks Dealspace is a rich application
that manages the entire due diligence process, providing a secure, customizable environment for deal makers to exchange sensitive documents and information.

Intralinks Studyspace
Intralinks Studyspace is used by life sciences companies, including clinical research organizations, biotechnology companies, and pharmaceutical and
medical device companies, to exchange sensitive information during research programs and drug trials to support bringing new drugs, therapies, medical
devices and other medical technologies to market.

Intralinks Fundspace
Intralinks Fundspace is used by the alternative investment community to help raise capital, support investor and fund reporting and manage assets.

Intralinks Debtspace
Intralinks Debtspace is used by syndicated loan professionals to manage the entire syndicated loan process throughout the primary, secondary and agency
phases. Intralinks Debtspace’s features include deal management, marketing support, reporting and amendment voting capabilities.

Intralinks VIA
We launched Intralinks VIA, a secure and scalable SaaS solution for enterprise content sharing and collaboration within and beyond the corporate firewall, in
February 2013, with the offering generally available in April 2013. Designed for business collaboration in a wide variety of markets and industries, Intralinks

VIA enables users to sync, share and revoke access to, or ‘unshare’ files, work efficiently on group projects, and manage content wherever it travels.
Intralinks VIA enables all employees in an organization to share content and collaborate beyond the firewall in a way that adheres to management-level control,
security, auditability and compliance requirements.

Intralinks VIA allows collaboration through the creation of work streams, enabling business professionals to work together on a document or project. Further,
Intralinks VIA, which is accessible through a simple web-based user interface, allows users to access and share files at any time from their desktops to their
mobile devices, while security and digital rights management, or DRM, capabilities ensure constant control and monitoring over the content. Intralinks VIA
integrates with existing applications and systems, providing an extension of familiar tools and experiences, and the means to coordinate work across people,
organizations and devices.

In January 2014, we announced Intralinks VIA Enterprise, a new version of our Intralinks VIA product that incorporates advanced capabilities of the
Intralinks platform previously available in our Intralinks Connect product, which we rebranded in 2013. With Intralinks VIA Enterprise, customers can
manage the full lifecycle of content, both inside and across the enterprise boundary, from ad hoc creation and editing through structured storage and
publication through final archiving and disposal.
In addition to solutions built on the Intralinks Platform, we also offer:

Intralinks DealNexus
In April 2013, we announced the acquisitions of PE-Nexus and MergerID, two online deal sourcing platforms used by the mergers and acquisitions industry.
In September 2013, we combined these two platforms to create DealNexus, an online platform for the deal making community that brings together qualified
M&A professionals with matching deal criteria and opportunities. The DealNexus platform offers a low-cost and confidential way for deal makers to market
deals broadly and then find and engage the best buyers or capital partners.
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Intralinks Technology and Integration Services
The Intralinks Platform provides a technology environment for building business applications that integrates with existing enterprise software applications.
Through our technology, integrators and third party developers have the ability to create and deploy new business applications customized to specific customer
requirements. Additionally, they can connect and integrate Intralinks exchanges with existing content management systems and collaboration services, as well
as manage workflow and information exchange between systems. Key elements include:
•

Intralinks Application Programming Interfaces, or APIs: Intralinks APIs include a broad set of functionality and a comprehensive API map to
manage and control content, users, sessions and system administration. They are developed on the representational state transfer, or REST,
architecture, making them web services ready. Our internal development teams use the Intralinks APIs extensively to create all of the Intralinks
applications.

•

Intralinks Adapters: Intralinks Adapters are .NET applications that enable communications between Intralinks and external systems. Intralinks
Adapters include pre-packaged functionality such as contact management, file management and basic system configuration.

•

Intralinks Connectors: Intralinks Connectors are designed to connect and integrate Intralinks' software with the APIs of specific external systems,
like Microsoft SharePoint, EMC Documentum, and Salesforce.com. Our connectors are "out-of-the-box" offerings for external integration and include
packaged services for file transfer, permissioning, reporting and workflow.

Intralinks Customer Service
Our customer-facing teams provide a range of implementation and end-user support services to ensure that our customers remain productive through the
duration of their use of our services.

Implementation Services:
•

Requirements consultation and solution configuration: We engage with our customers to understand their unique business processes and analyze
and identify their service requirements to assist with the optimal configuration of their Intralinks Exchange environments.

•

Project management: We develop an action and training plan to accelerate the integration and roll-out of the Intralinks solution within the customer's
organization.

•

Training: We provide administrator and end-user training, including end-user certifications to meet specific industry requirements in areas such as
life sciences.

•

Document scanning and upload: We provide services, as required, to organize and scan customer documents and to automate the data upload
process.

Our online solutions are critical to enable time-sensitive transactions and communications. We therefore aim to provide excellent customer service to enable our
customers to complete their business processes and objectives in a timely and cost-effective manner. Customer service and support is a regular component of
our value proposition. As a result, our customer service team provides live support 24 hours per day, 7 days per week and 365 days per year for all users of

our applications and solutions, regardless of whether they are direct customers or end users invited to use our applications and solutions by our direct
customers. Our support model is a significant differentiator from alternative application providers, many of whom do not provide support beyond their direct
customers' firewalls. Because many of the organizations and business processes supported by our online Intralinks exchanges and Intralinks VIA work
streams are global and involve international communication and collaboration, we support customer and end user inquiries in over 140 languages.
Our Technology

We have built a highly secure and scalable, cloud-based, multi-tenant platform upon which we develop solutions that allow our customers to collaborate,
manage and exchange critical information across organizational and geographic boundaries. Our third-generation Intralinks Platform is optimized to service all
of our customers from a single central software instance. Unlike enterprise software vendors, we do not need to custom-build software to use our technology in
different environments or to address industry-specific needs. Consequently, we do not need to manage and support multiple versions of our software, and we
do not need to expend effort to customize support for different hardware, operating systems or databases. Our platform combines our proprietary code with
integrated components from third-party vendors.

The Intralinks Platform can be accessed universally from a simple web browser, yet has a rich customer interface powered by Adobe Flex that supports
familiar desktop tools. These include drag-and-drop capabilities, right-click menus and dynamic easy-to-use reporting features, which allow users to get
started quickly and easily. We also utilize Microsoft .NET technologies for desktop integration and MOSS integration toolkits and make extensive use of Web
2.0 technologies, such as AJAX and Flash, for
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improved usability and performance and to deliver a rich and highly interactive experience. Our technology platform includes an integrated full text search
capability that performs real time data categorization and tagging of content, along with dynamic facet generation to help users quickly navigate search results.
In addition, we utilize Akamai's Terra Enterprise Solutions services to enable consistently high performance for users around the world. We also employ
virtualization and load balancing technologies to enable seamless scalability of our infrastructure across all computing tiers.
We have built a highly sophisticated authentication, authorization and encryption service designed to ensure that the content stored in our system is accessible
only by authorized users. We employ a wide range of technical security features, including two factor authentication using RSA Adaptive Authentication and
data encryption with encoded session identifiers and passwords. Every file we transmit from an exchange is encrypted to the end user via a Secure Socket
Layer, or SSL, v3 128-bit, or Transport Layer Services, or TLS, v1.2 up to 256-bit, depending on the client's browser. We also use encryption technology in
our storage systems and backup tapes. We incorporate sophisticated information rights management and permissioning controls that enable our customers to
control the role of and access of participants to information. Our platform also provides audit trails for compliance and access history tracking for content
throughout its lifecycle.

To demonstrate that we have established effective operational control objectives and activities, we undergo annual audits conducted by an outside service
auditor, in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants' audit guide titled, "Reports on Controls at a Service Organization over
Security, Availability, Processing, Integrity, Confidentiality or Privacy." The successful completion of these audits, and the issuance of the outside service
auditor's report, provides independent validation that our control activities and processes are effective and can be relied upon by our customers.
The Intralinks Platform is hosted in four secure data centers provided by SunGard Availability Services LP that are run in primary and secondary mode with
redundancy and failover capability. Physical security at these facilities includes a continually staffed security station along with biometric and man trap
access controls. Systems are protected by firewalls and encryption technology. Each data center features redundant power, on-site backup generators, and
environmental controls and monitoring. As part of our disaster recovery arrangements, all customer data is replicated to all sites in near real-time. Our hosting
providers conduct regular security audits of our infrastructure and we also employ outside vendors for managed network security and monitoring 24 hours per
day, 7 days per week, 365 days per year. The performance of our application suite is continually monitored using a variety of automated tools, and customer
data is regularly backed up and stored in a primary and secondary secure location to minimize the risk of data loss at any facility.

Sales and Marketing

Throughout 2013, we continued to establish our inside sales capabilities to support a high-velocity sales model in order to address opportunities in the
enterprise market. We are continuing to develop a sales and marketing capability aimed at accelerating the adoption of our solutions by expanding penetration
of existing industries, capitalizing on new opportunities in underpenetrated or emerging markets, and by selectively increasing our geographic coverage.

Sales
We sell our solutions through a mix of field and inside sales, a referral network and a select group of channel partners. As of December 31, 2013, our direct
sales, product marketing and sales support staff consisted of 260 full-time employees. Our sales representatives have extensive experience selling technology
solutions into a wide variety of industries including financial services, insurance, energy and utilities and life sciences.

In addition to our direct sales force, we have established relationships with channel partners that promote, sell and support our services in specific
geographies. Our channel partners include, among others, systems integrators, resellers, financial printers, services partners and consultants that resell our
services directly or through referral business. Our key channel partners are located in a variety of countries including India, Japan, Brazil and South Africa.

Marketing
Marketing supports our sales efforts through thought leadership and brand awareness activities, lead generation programs, and the unique positioning of our
offerings. We have developed a broad mix of marketing tools tailored for the different markets we serve. We have a deep expertise in our core strategic
transactions business, where we have a leading brand and a strong market share position. Across sales and marketing, we have honed our activities to
maintain and develop key relationships within the deal making community, where we have relationships that number in the high thousands. In our Enterprise
business, where there are millions of potential users across many industries, we are adapting our market approach and developing new capabilities to serve the
needs of that market.

Research and Development

Under our SaaS model, we maintain and support only one version of our software. Our use of common, multi-tenant application architecture enables us to
provide all of our customers with a solution based on two instances of our application, Global and Japan. In addition, we are able to simultaneously upgrade
all of our customers with each new software release. This enables us to focus
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our research and development expenditures on developing new features and functionality, rather than implementation. Our development process follows our
own iterative methodology that includes elements of the Agile software development process with multiple quality control cycles to ensure high quality and ongoing update capability.
As of December 31, 2013, our research and development group consisted of 124 employees based in New York, Boston and other locations.

Competition

The market for our solutions is highly competitive, fragmented and dynamic. We compete with a multitude of service providers, including both virtual data
room providers and enterprise software providers. We expect to encounter increased competition from established software companies as well as newer entrants
to the market for online content-sharing services.

We believe that the principal differentiating factors in our market primarily include the ability to collaborate inside and outside firewalls while maintaining
security, control, auditability and compliance standards. We believe we compete effectively based on broad capabilities across all of these factors. In
particular, our solutions are specifically designed for inter-enterprise collaboration for content and information sharing beyond the firewall. Our technology
platform offers enterprise class scalability and reliability, while enabling secure, auditable and compliant information exchange, via a SaaS delivery model
that lowers total cost of ownership. Additionally, our industry-specific expertise, global customer support, scalability and reliability to ensure uninterrupted
performance, as well as price and functionality, have earned us a reputation of trust with our customers.
Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws in the U.S. and other jurisdictions, as well as confidentiality procedures and
contractual provisions, to protect our proprietary technology and our brand. We have registered our "Intralinks" trademark, as well as other trademarks, with
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and in several jurisdictions outside the U.S.

We hold seven issued U.S. patents (patent numbers 6,898,636; 7,143,175; 6,678,698; 7,233,992; 7,168,094; 7,587,504; and 7,814,537). These
patents, which are scheduled to expire on various dates commencing on February 4, 2019, cover, among other things, certain processes and systems for using
a computer to upload documents to a server, permission any number of recipients to view or download documents and send an automated alert and link to
those recipients. Our patents contemplate broad applications of these processes, including in the context of combination of such processes with single-sign-on
technology, use of the process with handheld devices, combination of the process with data encryption and customized user interfaces for private labeling, use
of the processes for managing time-sensitive projects and tasks, and automatic updating of exchange contents at regular time intervals. We have filed additional
patent applications containing hundreds of inventions with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, including one that relates to the unsharing of content. This
feature allows for the sender of content that has been shared beyond the protective facilities of an enterprise to maintain control of the access to the content no
matter where or to whom the content has been distributed. In this way, sharing and unsharing is easily controlled across corporate boundaries. We will
continue to assess appropriate occasions for seeking patent and other intellectual property protections for those aspects of our technology and service that we
believe constitute innovations providing significant competitive advantages.

Employees
As of December 31, 2013, we employed 6 6 6 full-time employees, including 260 in sales and marketing, 124 in product development, 140 in operations and
support, and 142 in general and administrative.
Geographic Information
We generate revenue both within and outside the U.S. We operate globally with $137.6 million , or 58.7%, of total revenue derived from customers located in
the U.S. and $96.9 million, or 41.3%, derived from customers located in various international locations, with the largest being the U.K. The amount of our
long-lived assets outside of the U.S at December 31, 2013 is immaterial. Information regarding financial data by geographic segment is set forth in Part II, Item
8 of this Form 10-K in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 14, "Segment and Geographic Information."

Available Information
We maintain an internet website under the name www.intralinks.com. We make available, free of charge, on our website, our annual report on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements, other information and amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably
practicable after providing such reports to the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. We also make available on our website (i) the charters for the
committees of our Board of Directors, including the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and
(ii) our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics governing our directors, officers and employees.

We file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and other documents with the SEC
under the Securities Exchange Act, as amended. The public may read and copy any materials that we
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file with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington DC 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of
the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Also, the SEC maintains an internet website that contains reports, proxy and information
statements and other information regarding issuers, including Intralinks Holdings, Inc., that file electronically with the SEC. The public can obtain any
document we file with the SEC at www.sec.gov.

ITEM 1A: RISK FACTORS

The following risks and uncertainties, together with all other information in this Annual Report, including our Consolidated Financial Statements and
related notes, should be considered carefully. Any of the risk factors we describe below could adversely affect our business, financial condition or
results of operations and could cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate or decline.
Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry

Our future profitability is uncertain.
We have historically incurred significant net operating losses. As a result of these operating losses, we accumulated a deficit of $112.7 million from June 15,
2007, the date on which, through a series of transactions we refer to as the Merger, all of the outstanding equity of Intralinks, Inc. was acquired by a newly

formed entity, TA Indigo Holding Corporation, which was owned by TA Associates, Inc. (now part of TA Associates Management, L.P.), Rho Capital
Partners, Inc., a principal stockholder in Intralinks, Inc. since 2001, and other stockholders, including former and current officers and employees of
Intralinks, Inc., through December 31, 2013. Our future profitability depends on, among other things, our ability to generate revenue in excess of our expenses.

However, since our initial public offering in August 2010, we have incurred and will continue to incur as a public company significant additional legal,
accounting and other expenses to which we were not subject as a private company, including expenses related to our efforts in complying with the requirements
of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or Sarbanes-Oxley, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, or Dodd-Frank, and other

public company disclosure and corporate governance requirements, responding to requests of government regulators and defending the class action and
stockholder derivative lawsuits filed against us. At the same time, we have significant and continuing fixed costs relating to the maintenance of our assets and
business, including our substantial debt service requirements, which we may not be able to reduce adequately to sustain our profitability if our revenue
decreases. Our profitability also may be impacted by non-cash charges such as stock-based compensation charges and potential impairment of goodwill,
which will negatively affect our reported financial results. Even if we achieve our profitability on an annual basis, we may not be able to achieve profitability
on a quarterly basis. You should not consider prior revenue growth as indicative of our future performance. In fact, in future quarters we may not have any
revenue growth and our revenue could decline. We may continue to incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, including the other risks
described elsewhere in this Form 10-K, and we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other unknown events. Our failure
to achieve and maintain our profitability could negatively impact the market price of our common stock.

We may be unable to sustain positive cash flow.
Our ability to continue to generate positive cash flow depends on our ability to generate collections from sales in excess of our cash expenditures. Our ability to
generate and collect on sales can be negatively affected by many factors, including but not limited to:

•

our inability to convince new customers to use our services or existing customers to renew their contracts or use additional services;

•

the lengthening of our sales cycle;

•

changes in our customer mix;

•

a decision by any of our existing customers to cease or reduce using our services;

•

failure of customers to pay our invoices on a timely basis or at all;

•

a failure in the performance of our solutions or our internal controls that adversely affects our reputation or results in loss of business;

•

the loss of market share to existing or new competitors;

•

regional or global economic conditions affecting perceived need for or value of our services; or

•

our inability to develop new products, expand our offerings or drive adoption of our new offerings on a timely basis and thus our potentially not
meeting evolving market needs.

We anticipate that we will incur increased sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses as we continue to diversify our business into new
industries and geographic markets. Our business will also require significant amounts of working capital
10
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to support our growth. In addition, we face significant expenditures in connection with our public company disclosure, Sarbanes-Oxley, and other corporate
governance requirements and pending class action and stockholder derivative lawsuits. We may not achieve collections from sales to offset these anticipated
expenditures sufficient to maintain positive future cash flow. In addition, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other
unknown events that cause our costs to exceed our expectations. An inability to generate positive cash flow may decrease our long-term viability.

Our business may not generate sufficient cash flows from operations, or future borrowings under our credit facilities or from other sources may
not be available to us, in amounts sufficient to enable us to repay our indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity needs, including capital
expenditure requirements.
We cannot guarantee that we will be able to generate or obtain enough capital to service our debt and fund our planned capital expenditures and business plan.
We may be more vulnerable to adverse economic conditions than less leveraged competitors and thus less able to withstand competitive pressures. Any of these
events could reduce our ability to generate cash available for investment or debt repayment or to make improvements or respond to events that would enhance
profitability. If we are unable to service or repay our debt when it becomes due, our lenders could seek to accelerate payment of all unpaid principal and

foreclose on our assets, and we may have to take actions such as selling assets, seeking additional equity investments or reducing or delaying capital
expenditures, strategic acquisitions, investments and alliances. Additionally, we may not be able to take these types of actions, if necessary, on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all. The occurrence of any of these events would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

Our operating results are likely to fluctuate from quarter to quarter, which may have an impact on our stock price.
Our operating results have varied significantly from quarter to quarter and may vary significantly from quarter to quarter in the future. As a result, we may
not be able to accurately forecast our revenues or operating results. Our operating results may fall below market analysts' expectations in some future quarters,
which could lead to downturns in the market price of our common stock. Quarterly fluctuations may result from factors such as:
•

changes in the markets that we serve;

•

changes in demand for our services;

•

rate of penetration within our existing customer base;

•

loss of customers or business from one or more customers, including from consolidations and acquisitions of customers;

•

the timing of large contracts or contract terminations;

•

increased competition;

•

changes in the mix of customer types;

•

changes in the mix of our offerings and sales channels through which they are sold;

•

changes in our standard service contracts that may affect when we recognize revenue;

•

the timing of our new product releases;

•

loss of key personnel;

•

interruption in our service resulting in a loss of revenue;

•

changes in our pricing policies or the pricing policies of our competitors;

•

costs of developing new solutions and enhancements;

•

write-offs affecting any of our material assets;

•

changes in our operating expenses;

•

customer credits issued in excess of established reserves;

•

software "bugs" or other service quality problems;

•

concerns relating to the security of our systems;

•

adverse tax consequences; and

•

general domestic and international political, economic and market conditions.

We believe that our quarterly operating results may vary significantly in the future, that period-to-period comparisons of results of operations may not
necessarily be meaningful and, as a result, such comparisons should not be relied upon as indications of
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future performance.

Failure to maintain the security and integrity of our systems, software and solutions could seriously damage our reputation and affect our ability
to retain customers and attract new business.
Maintaining the security and integrity of our systems, software and solutions is an issue of critical importance for us and for our customers and users who
rely on our systems to store and exchange large volumes of proprietary and confidential information. There appears to be an increasing number of individuals,
governments, groups and computer "hackers" developing and deploying a variety of destructive software programs (such as viruses, worms and other
malicious software) that could attack our computer systems or solutions or attempt to infiltrate our systems. We make significant efforts to maintain the
security and integrity of our systems, solutions and source code. Despite significant efforts to create security barriers, it is virtually impossible for us to
mitigate this risk entirely because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not recognized until
launched against a target. Like all software solutions, our software is vulnerable to these types of attacks. An attack of this type could disrupt the proper
functioning of our software solutions, cause errors in the output of our customers' work, allow unauthorized access to sensitive, proprietary or confidential
information of ours or our customers and other destructive outcomes. If an actual or perceived breach of our security were to occur, our reputation could
suffer, customers could stop buying our solutions, we could face lawsuits and potential liability and our financial performance could be negatively impacted.
There is also a danger of industrial espionage, cyber-attacks, misuse or theft of information or assets (including source code), or damage to assets by people
who have gained unauthorized access to our facilities, systems or information, which could lead to the disclosure of portions of our source code or other
confidential information, improper usage and distribution of our solutions without compensation, illegal usage of our solutions, the putting in jeopardy of the
security of information stored in and transmitted through our computer systems, manipulation and destruction of data, defects in our software and downtime
issues. Although we actively employ measures to combat unlicensed copying, access and use of our software and intellectual property through a variety of
techniques, preventing unauthorized use or infringement of our rights is inherently difficult. The occurrence of an event of this nature could adversely affect
our financial results or could result in significant claims against us for damages. Further, participating in either a lawsuit to protect against unauthorized
access to, usage of or disclosure of any of our solutions or any portion of our source code or the prosecution of an individual in connection with a
cybersecurity breach could be costly and time-consuming and could divert management's attention and adversely affect the market's perception of us and our
solutions.

A number of core processes, such as software development, sales and marketing, customer service and financial transactions, rely on our IT infrastructure
and applications. Malicious software, sabotage and other cybersecurity breaches of the types described above could cause an outage of our infrastructure,
which could lead to a substantial denial of service and ultimately downtimes, recovery costs and customer claims, any of which could have a significant
negative impact on our business, financial position, profit or cash flows.

We rely upon our customers and users of our solutions to perform important activities relating to the security of the data maintained on our Intralinks
Platform, such as assignment of user access rights and administration of document access controls. Because we do not control the access provided by our
customers to third-parties with respect to the data on our systems, we cannot ensure the complete integrity or security of this data. Errors or wrongdoing by
users resulting in security breaches could be attributed to us. Because many of our engagements involve business-critical projects for financial institutions and
their customers and for other types of customers where confidentiality is of paramount importance, a failure or inability to meet our customers' expectations
with respect to security and confidentiality could seriously damage our reputation and affect our ability to retain customers and attract new business.

The security and integrity of our systems could also be jeopardized by a breach of our internal controls and policies by our employees, consultants or
subcontractors having access to our systems. If our systems fail or are breached as a result of a third-party attack or an error, violation of internal controls or
policies or a breach of contract by an employee, consultant or subcontractor that results in the unauthorized use or disclosure of proprietary or confidential
information or customer data (including information about the existence and nature of the projects and transactions our customers are engaged in), we could
lose business, suffer irreparable damage to our reputation, and incur significant costs and expenses relating to the investigation and possible litigation of
claims relating to such event. We could be liable for damages, penalties for violation of applicable laws or regulations and costs for remediation and efforts to
prevent future occurrences, any of which liabilities could be significant. There can be no assurance that the limitations of liability in our contracts would be
enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect us from liabilities or damages with respect to any particular claim. We also cannot assure that our existing
general liability insurance coverage and coverage for errors and omissions will continue to be available on acceptable terms or will be available in sufficient
amounts to cover one or more large claims, or that the insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large
claims against us that exceeds our available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the
imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, litigation, regardless of its outcome, could result in a substantial cost to us and divert management's attention from our operations. Any
significant claim or litigation against us could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We have implemented a number of measures designed to ensure the security of our information, IT resources and other assets. Nonetheless, unauthorized
users could gain access to our systems through cyber-attacks and steal, use without authorization and sabotage our intellectual property and confidential data.
Any security breach, misuse of our IT systems or theft of our or our customers' intellectual property or data could lead to loss of production, recovery costs or
litigation brought by customers or business partners, cash flows and reputation.

Our ability to provide our services may be adversely impacted by disruptions to our hardware and software systems.
Our services are highly dependent on our computer and telecommunications equipment and software systems. Disruptions in our service and related software
systems could be the result of errors or acts by our vendors, customers, users or other third parties, or electronic or physical attacks by persons seeking to
disrupt our operations. Any damage to, or failure or capacity limitations of, our systems and our related network could result in interruptions in our service
that could cause us to lose revenue, issue credits or refunds or could cause our customers to terminate their subscriptions, in each case adversely affecting our
renewal rates. Our business and reputation will be adversely affected if our customers and potential customers believe our service is unreliable.

If we experience interruptions, delays or performance problems with the systems and applications that support our internal operations or
difficulties replacing or implementing changes to those systems and applications, our business may be harmed.
We rely on various systems and applications to support our internal operations, including our billing, financial reporting and customer contracting
functions. The availability of these systems and applications is essential to us and delays, disruptions or performance problems may adversely impact our
ability to accurately bill our customers, report financial information and conduct our business. Additionally, we may choose to replace or implement changes
to these systems, including substituting traditional systems with cloud-based solutions, which could be time-consuming and expensive and which could result
in delays in the ongoing operational processes these software solutions support. Further, our cloud-based solutions may experience disruptions and outages that
are beyond our control as we rely on third party vendors to support these solutions and assure their continued availability.

We may not successfully develop, introduce or integrate new services or enhancements to our Intralinks Platform or our application solutions and
this could harm our reputation, revenues and operating income.
Our ability to attract new customers and increase revenue from existing customers will depend in large part on our ability to enhance and improve our existing
Intralinks Platform and our application solutions and to introduce new functionality either by acquisition or internal development. Our operating results would
suffer if our innovations are not responsive to the needs of our customers, are not appropriately timed with market opportunities or are not brought to market
effectively. In addition, it is possible that our assumptions about the features that we believe will drive purchasing decisions for our potential customers could
be incorrect. In the past, we have experienced delays in the planned release dates of new features and upgrades and have discovered defects in new services
after their introduction. There can be no assurance that new services or upgrades will be released on schedule or that, when released, they will not contain
defects. In addition, we could experience challenges, delays or quality issues in our product development efforts due to the demands of the Agile development
methodology we have adopted. If any of these situations were to arise, we could suffer adverse publicity, damage to our reputation, loss of revenue, delay in
market acceptance or claims by customers brought against us, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition. Moreover, upgrades and enhancements to our Intralinks Platform and our application solutions may require substantial investment and
there can be no assurance that our investments will prove successful. If customers do not widely adopt our solutions or new innovations to our solutions, we
may not be able to justify the investments we have made. If we are unable to develop, license or acquire new solutions or enhancements to existing services on a

timely and cost-effective basis, or if our new or enhanced solutions do not achieve market acceptance, our business, results of operations and financial
condition will be materially adversely affected.

If we fail to develop our brand cost-effectively, our business may suffer.
We believe that developing and maintaining awareness of the Intralinks brand in a cost-effective manner is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our
existing and future services and is an important element in attracting new customers. Furthermore, we believe that the importance of brand recognition will
increase as competition in our market develops. Successful promotion of our brand will depend largely on the effectiveness of our marketing efforts and our
ability to provide reliable and useful services at competitive prices. Brand promotion and protection will also require protection and defense of our trademarks,
service marks and trade dress, which may not be adequate to protect our investment in our brand or prevent competitors' use of similar brands. In the past,

our efforts to build our brand have involved significant expense. Brand promotion activities may not yield increased revenue, and even if they do, any
increased revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in building our brand. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand, or incur substantial
expenses in an unsuccessful attempt to promote and maintain our brand, we may fail to attract enough new customers or retain our existing customers to the
extent necessary to realize a sufficient return on our brand-building efforts, and our business could suffer.

Our business depends substantially on customers renewing and expanding their subscriptions for our services. Any decline in our customer
renewals and expansions would harm our future operating results.
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We enter into subscription agreements with certain of our customers that are generally one year in length. As a result, maintaining the renewal rate of our
subscription agreements is critical to our future success. Some of our contracts with annual commitment terms contain an automatic renewal clause. However,
our customer agreements typically include a provision permitting the customer to provide notification of non-renewal within 30 to 90 days prior to the end of
the contract term. Repeat customers who do not have automatic renewal terms typically negotiate renewal terms at or prior to each annual termination date. Our
customers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions for our services after the expiration of the initial term of their agreements and some of our customers
have elected not to do so. We cannot assure you that any of our customer agreements will be renewed. The loss of any customers that individually or
collectively account for a significant amount of our revenues would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.
Our renewal rates may decline due to a variety of factors, including:

•

the price, performance and functionality of our solutions;

•

the availability, price, performance and functionality of competing products and services;

•

our customers ceasing to use or anticipating a declining need for our services in their operations;

•

our ability to demonstrate to our customers the value of our solutions within the terms of their agreements with us;

•

the relative ease and low cost of moving to a competing product or service;

•

consolidation in our customer base;

•

the effects of economic downturns and global economic conditions; or

•

reductions in our customers' spending levels.

If our renewal rates are lower than anticipated or decline for any reason, or if customers renew on terms less favorable to us, our revenue may decrease and our
profitability and gross margin may be harmed, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenue from contracts that provide for the use of our solutions for a fixed duration. Our inability to enter
into new contracts as existing ones expire could negatively impact our overall financial performance.
Many of our contracts with customers are entered into in connection with discrete one-time financial and strategic business transactions and projects such as
mergers and acquisitions, or M&A, transactions. During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, revenue generated from transactional
contracts constituted a substantial portion of our total revenue. These transactional agreements typically have initial terms of six to twelve months depending
on the purpose of the Intralinks exchange. Accordingly, our business depends on our ability to replace these transactional agreements as they expire. Our
inability to enter into new contracts with existing customers or find new customers to replace these contracts could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

A significant part of our business is derived from the use of our application solutions in connection with financial and strategic business
transactions. Economic trends that affect the volume of these transactions may negatively impact the demand for our services.
A significant portion of our revenue depends on the purchase of our services by parties involved in financial and strategic business transactions such as
M&A transactions, loan syndications and other debt capital markets, or DCM, transactions. During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and
2013, revenue generated from the M&A and DCM principal markets constituted 55.4%, 56.3% and 59.4%, respectively, of our total revenue. The volume of
these types of transactions drives demand for our services. Downturns in the global economy or in the economies of the geographies in which we do business,
rising unemployment and reduced equity valuations all create risks that could harm our business. We are not able to predict the impact any potential
worsening of macroeconomic conditions could also have on our results of operations. The level of activity in the financial services industry, including the
financial transactions our services are used to support, is sensitive to many factors beyond our control, including interest rates, regulatory policies, general
economic conditions, our customers' competitive environments, business trends, terrorism and political change. Unfavorable conditions or changes in any of
these factors could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

We typically provide service availability commitments under our customer agreements. If we fail to meet these contractual commitments, we could
be obligated to provide credits or refunds or face contract terminations, which could adversely affect our revenue and reputation.
In our customer agreements, we typically provide service level commitments. For some of our larger enterprise and government agency customers, we may
provide custom service level commitments. If we are unable to meet our stated service level commitments or if we were to suffer extended periods of
unavailability of our solutions, we might be contractually obligated to provide affected customers with service credits or refunds, or we could face contract
terminations or non-renewals. Our revenue could be significantly
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affected if we suffer unscheduled downtime that exceeds the allowed downtimes under our customer agreements. Any extended service outages could adversely
affect our reputation, revenue and operating results.

The quality of our support and services offerings is important to our customers and, if we fail to offer high quality support and services,
customers may not buy our solutions and our revenue may decline.
Our customers generally depend on our service organization to resolve issues relating to the use of our solutions. A high level of support is critical for the
successful marketing and sale of our solutions. If we are unable to provide the necessary level of support and service to our customers, we could experience:
•

loss of customers and market share;

•

a failure to attract new customers, including in new geographic regions; and

•

increased service and support costs and a diversion of resources.

Any of the above results would likely have a material adverse impact on our business, revenue, results of operations, financial condition and reputation.

The sales cycle for enterprise customers can be long and unpredictable and requires considerable time and expense, which may cause our
operating results to fluctuate.
The timing of our revenue from sales to enterprise customers is difficult to predict. Our enterprise sales efforts require us to educate our customers about the
use and benefit of our services, including the technical capabilities and potential cost savings to an organization. Enterprise customers typically undertake a
significant evaluation process that has, in the past, resulted in a lengthy sales cycle, typically several months. We spend substantial time, effort and money on
our enterprise sales efforts without any assurance that our efforts will produce any sales. In addition, where we make sales to enterprise customers on a
subscription basis, there is a delay between when we make the sale and when we start to recognize revenue from that customer. If sales expected from a specific
customer for a particular period are not realized in that period or at all, our results could fall short of public expectations and our business, operating results
and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Indemnity provisions in various agreements to which we are a party, including our customer agreements, potentially expose us to substantial
liability for losses arising out of intellectual property infringement and other causes.
Certain of our agreements with customers and partners include indemnification provisions under which we have agreed to indemnify the counter-party for
losses suffered or incurred as a result of claims of intellectual property infringement related to our Intralinks Platform or application solutions and, in some
cases, for damages caused by us to property or persons. If we were required to make large indemnity payments, our business, operating results and financial
condition could be materially and adversely affected.

Assertions that we have infringed the proprietary rights of others, whether successful or not, may significantly increase our costs or adversely
affect our results of operations and stock price.
A third-party may assert that our technology or services violates its intellectual property rights. In particular, as the number of products and services offered in
our markets, as well as the number of related patents issued in the U.S. and elsewhere increase and the functionality of these products and services further
overlap, we believe that infringement claims may arise. Any claims, regardless of their merit, could:

•

be expensive and time-consuming to defend;

•

force us to stop providing services that incorporate the challenged intellectual property;

•

require us to redesign our technology and services;

•

divert management's attention and other company resources; and

•

require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements in order to obtain the right to use necessary technologies, which may not be available on terms
acceptable to us, if at all.

We face shareholder lawsuits and other potential liabilities that could materially adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
We have been, are currently and may in the future be the subject of various lawsuits, proceedings and investigations. In August 2011, we received a subpoena
from the SEC requesting certain documents related to our business from January 1, 2011 through August 4, 2011. On July 10, 2013, we announced that we
had received written notification from the SEC that its investigation had been terminated and that no enforcement action had been recommended against us. In
addition, we and certain of our current and former officers and directors have been named as defendants in class action and stockholder derivative lawsuits.
See Part I, Item 3 - "Legal Proceedings" for more information. Though one of these lawsuits has been dismissed by the parties, given the stage of the remaining
lawsuits, we are unable to assess or quantify with any certainty their outcome, timing or potential costs. In defending
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and ultimately resolving these matters, we may be required to pay substantial amounts, divert management's attention from the operation of our business or
change our business practices, any of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and,
consequently, the trading price of our common stock.

The outcome and amount of resources needed to respond to, defend or resolve lawsuits or regulatory actions or requests is unpredictable and may remain
unknown for long periods of time. Our exposure under these matters may also include our indemnification obligations, to the extent we have any, to current
and former officers and directors and, in some cases former underwriters, against losses incurred in connection these matters, including reimbursement of
legal fees. Although we maintain insurance for claims of this nature, our insurance coverage does not apply in all circumstances and may be denied or
insufficient to cover the costs related to the class action and stockholder derivative lawsuits. In addition, these matters or future lawsuits or investigations
involving us may increase our insurance premiums, deductibles or co-insurance requirements or otherwise make it more difficult for us to maintain or obtain
adequate insurance coverage on acceptable terms, if at all. Moreover, adverse publicity associated with regulatory actions and investigations and negative
developments in pending legal proceedings could decrease customer demand for our services. As a result, the pending lawsuits and any future lawsuits or
investigations involving us or our officers or directors could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial condition, results of
operations, liquidity and the trading price of our common stock.

Evolutions in technology and related privacy concerns could result in regulatory changes and impose additional costs and liabilities on us,
adversely affecting our business.
Our application solutions provide our customers with central locations where they can post information and make it accessible to any parties they authorize. In
connection with offering our solutions to our customers and their invited guests, we collect user information related to the individuals who access our software
solutions. If we were required to change our business activities or revise or eliminate the services we offer, or if we were required to implement burdensome
compliance measures, our business and results of operations could be harmed. Privacy concerns, whether valid or not, may also inhibit market adoption of
our solutions in some industries and foreign countries, harming our growth. In addition, we may be subject to fines, penalties, and potential litigation if we fail
to comply with applicable privacy regulations. The costs of compliance with privacy-related laws and regulations that apply to our customers’ businesses
may limit the adoption and use of our solutions and reduce overall demand for them. The European Union and many countries in Europe have stringent
privacy laws and regulations, which may impact our ability to profitably operate in certain European countries. Further, the ongoing debate in the European

Union around implementing a data privacy regulation causes uncertainty to our business, as we may have to implement new measures to comply with
changing laws if and when they are adopted. Additional regulatory burdens of this sort could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations .

Government regulation of the Internet and e-commerce and of the international exchange of certain information is subject to possible
unfavorable changes, and our failure to comply with applicable regulations could harm our business and operating results.
As Internet commerce continues to evolve, increasing regulation by federal, state or foreign governments becomes more likely. For example, we believe increased
regulation is likely in the area of data privacy. Further, laws and regulations applying to the solicitation, collection, processing or use of personal or consumer

information could affect our customers' ability to use and share data, potentially reducing demand for our products and services. In addition, taxation of
products and services provided over the Internet or other charges imposed by government agencies or by private organizations for accessing the Internet may
also be imposed. Any regulation imposing greater fees for Internet use or restricting the exchange of information over the Internet could result in reduced growth
or a decline in the use of the Internet and could diminish the viability of our Internet-based services, which could harm our business and operating results.

Changes in laws, regulations or governmental policy applicable to our customers or potential customers may decrease the demand for our
solutions or increase our costs.
The level of our customers' and potential customers' activity in the business processes our services are used to support is sensitive to many factors beyond our
control, including governmental regulation and regulatory policies. Many of our customers and potential customers in the life sciences, energy, utilities,

insurance, financial and other industries are subject to substantial regulation and may be the subject of further regulation in the future. Accordingly,
significant new laws or regulations or changes in, or repeals of, existing laws, regulations or governmental policy may change the way these customers do
business and could cause the demand for and sales of our solutions to decrease. For example, many products developed by our customers in the life sciences
industry require approval of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, and other similar foreign regulatory agencies before they can market their
products. The processes for filing and obtaining FDA approval to market these products are guided by specific protocols that our services help support, such
as U.S. 21 CFR Part 11, which provides the criteria for acceptance by the FDA of electronic records. If new government regulations from future legislation or
administrative action or from changes in FDA or foreign regulatory policies occur in the future, the services we currently provide may no longer support these
life science processes and protocols, and we may lose customers in the life sciences industry. Any change in the scope of applicable regulations that
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either decreases the volume of transactions that our customers or potential customers enter into or otherwise negatively impacts their use of our solutions would

have a material adverse effect on our revenues or gross margins. Moreover, complying with increased or changed regulations could cause our operating
expenses to increase as we may have to reconfigure our existing services or develop new services to adapt to new regulatory rules and policies, either of which
will require additional expense and time. Additionally, the information provided by, or residing in, the software or services we provide to our customers could
be deemed relevant to a regulatory investigation or other governmental or private legal proceeding involving our customers, which could result in requests for
information from us that could be expensive and time consuming for us to address or harm our reputation since our customers rely on us to protect the
confidentiality of their information. These types of changes could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

If we are unable to increase our penetration in our existing principal markets, develop, market and sell new solutions or expand into additional
markets, we will be unable to grow our business and increase our revenue.
We currently market our solutions for a wide range of business processes. These include:

•

clinical trial management;

•

safety information exchange and drug development and licensing for the life sciences industry;

•

private equity fundraising, hedge fund marketing and investor reporting;

•

energy exploration and production ventures for the oil and gas industry;

•

loan syndication and other debt capital markets transactions;

•

due diligence for M&A transactions;

•

public offerings and other strategic transactions;

•

contract and vendor management;

•

board reporting;

•

partner document collaboration;

•

distribution of regulated content;

•

secure mobile access to content; and

•

external content repositories.

We intend to continue to focus our sales and marketing efforts in these markets to grow our business. In addition, we believe our future growth depends not
only on increasing our penetration into the principal markets in which our services are currently used, but also on identifying and expanding the number of
industries, communities and markets that use or could use our services and expanding the solutions we offer to customers in those markets. Efforts to expand
our service offerings beyond the markets that we currently serve or to develop, market and sell new product offerings, however, may divert management
resources from existing operations, expose us to increased competition from new and existing competitors and require us to commit significant financial
resources to an unproven business, any of which could significantly impair our operating results. Moreover, efforts to expand beyond our existing markets
and solutions may never result in new services that achieve market acceptance, create additional revenue or become profitable. Our inability to further penetrate
our existing markets, successfully launch new solutions or identify additional markets and achieve acceptance of our services in these additional markets
could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

If we are unable to maintain or expand our direct sales capabilities, we may not be able to generate anticipated revenues. In addition, if we are
unable to maintain or expand our product development capabilities, we may not be able to meet our product development goals.
Our success depends in large part on our ability to attract, motivate, and retain highly qualified personnel. We rely primarily on our direct sales force to sell
our services. Our services and solutions require a sophisticated sales effort targeted at the senior management of our prospective customers. We must expand
our sales efforts to generate increased revenue from new customers. Failure to hire or retain qualified sales personnel will preclude us from expanding our
business and generating anticipated revenue. Competition for talented sales personnel is intense, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to retain our
existing sales personnel or attract, assimilate or retain enough highly qualified sales personnel. Many of the companies with which we compete for experienced
personnel have greater resources than we have. If any of our sales representatives or sales management personnel were to leave us and join one of our
competitors, we may be unable to prevent those sales representatives from helping our competitors solicit business from our existing customers, which could
adversely affect our revenue.
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In our industry, there is substantial and continuous competition for individuals with high levels of technical experience and expertise in designing and
developing innovative solutions. We may not be successful in attracting and retaining qualified personnel. We have from time to time experienced, and we
expect to continue to experience, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled employees with appropriate technical qualifications. If we fail to attract new
technical personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current technical personnel, we may not be able to meet our product development goals and our business
could be severely harmed.

In addition, we believe that, in making employment decisions, particularly in the software industry, job candidates often consider the value of the stock
options they are to receive in connection with their employment. We have experienced and may in the future experience a substantial decline in the trading price
of our stock. Accordingly, if the price of our stock is subject to a lengthy period of continued decline or significant volatility, our ability to attract or retain key
employees could be materially impaired. In the past, our sales force has experienced high turnover rates. New hires require training and take time to achieve
full productivity. If we experience high turnover in our sales force or our product development group in the future, we cannot be certain that new hires will
become as productive as necessary to maintain or increase our revenue.

Our performance and growth depend on our ability to generate customer referrals and to develop referenceable customer relationships that will
enhance our sales and marketing efforts.
We depend on end-users of our solutions to generate customer referrals for our services. We depend in part on the financial institutions, legal providers and
other third parties who use our services to recommend them to a larger customer base than we can reach through our direct sales and internal marketing efforts.
For instance, a significant portion of our revenue from our M&A business is derived from referrals by investment banks, financial advisors and law firms
that have relied on our services in connection with prior transactions. These referrals are an important source of new customers for our services and generally
are made without expectation of compensation. We intend to continue to focus our marketing efforts on these referral partners in order to expand our reach and
improve the efficiency of our sales efforts.
We also recognize that having respected, well known, market-leading customers who have committed to deploy our solutions within their organizations will
support our marketing and sales efforts, as these customers can act as references for us and our product offerings. Having these types of “referenceable” or
“anchor” customers is an important part of our growth strategy. Our ability to establish and maintain these customer relationships is important to our future
profitability. The willingness of these types of customers to provide referrals or serve as anchor or reference customers depends on a number of factors,
including the performance, ease of use, reliability, reputation and cost-effectiveness of our services as compared to those offered by our competitors, as well as
the internal policies of these customers. We may not be able to cultivate or maintain the strong relationships with customers that are necessary to develop those
customer relationships into referenceable accounts.
The loss of any of our significant referral sources, including our anchor customers, or a decline in the number of referrals we receive or anchor customers that
we generate could require us to devote substantially more resources to the sales and marketing of our services, which would increase our costs, potentially lead
to a decline in our revenue, slow our growth and generally have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. In
addition, the revenue we generate from our referral and anchor relationships may vary from period to period.

We rely in part on strategic relationships with third parties to sell and deliver our solutions. If we are unable to successfully develop and maintain
these relationships, our business may be harmed.
In addition to generating customer referrals through third-party users of our solutions, we intend to pursue relationships with other third parties such as
technology and content providers and implementation and distribution partners. Our future growth will depend, at least in part, on our ability to enter into and
maintain successful strategic relationships with these third parties. Identifying partners and negotiating and documenting relationships with them requires
significant time and resources, as does integrating third-party content and technology. Some of the third parties with whom we have strategic relationships have
entered and may continue to enter into strategic relationships with our competitors. Further, these third parties may have multiple strategic relationships and
may not regard us as significant for their businesses. As a result, they may choose to offer their services on terms that are unfavorable to us, terminate their
respective relationships with us, pursue other partnerships or relationships, or attempt to develop or acquire services or solutions that compete with ours. Our
relationships with strategic partners could also interfere with our ability to enter into desirable strategic relationships with other potential partners in the future.

If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining relationships with strategic partners on favorable economic terms, our ability to compete in the
marketplace or to grow our revenue could be impaired, and our business, results of operations and financial condition would suffer. Even if we are
successful, we cannot assure you that these relationships will result in increased revenue or customer usage of our solutions or that the economic terms of these
relationships will not adversely affect our margins.
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Consolidation in the commercial and investment banking industries and other industries we serve could adversely impact our business by
eliminating a number of our existing and potential customers.
There has been, and continues to be, merger, acquisition and consolidation activity among our customers. Mergers or consolidations of banks and financial
institutions, in particular, have reduced and may continue to reduce the number of our customers and potential customers for our solutions, resulting in a
smaller market for our services, which could have a material adverse impact on our business and results of operations. In addition, it is possible that the
larger institutions that result from mergers or consolidations could perform themselves some or all of the services that we currently provide or could provide in
the future. A merger of two of our existing customers may also result in the merged entity deciding not to use our service or to purchase fewer of our services
than the companies did separately or may result in the merged entity seeking pricing advantages or discounts using the leverage of its increased size. If that
were to occur, it could adversely impact our revenue, which in turn would adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We operate in highly competitive markets, which could make it more difficult for us to acquire and retain customers.
The markets for online collaborative content workspaces and solutions for managing, distributing and protecting enterprise content are intensely competitive
and rapidly changing, with relatively low barriers to entry. We expect competition to increase from existing competitors as well as new and emerging market
entrants. In addition, as we expand our service offerings, we may face competition from new and existing competitors. We compete primarily on product
functionality, service levels, security and compliance characteristics, price and reputation. Our competitors include companies that provide online products
that serve as document repositories or virtual data rooms together with other products or services that may result in those companies effectively selling these
services at lower prices and creating downward pricing pressure for us. Some of our competitors may have significantly greater financial resources than we do
and they may be able to devote greater resources to the development and improvement of their services than we can. As a result, our competitors may be
quicker at implementing technological changes and responding to customers' changing needs. In addition, if our competitors consolidate or our smaller
competitors are acquired by other, larger competitors, they may be able to provide services comparable to ours at a lower price due to their size. Our
competitors may also develop services or products that are superior to ours and their products or services may gain greater market acceptance than our
services. Furthermore, our customers or their advisors, including investment banks and law firms, may acquire or develop their own technologies, such as
client extranets, that could decrease the need for our services. The arrival of new market entrants or the use of these internal technologies could reduce the
demand for our services or cause us to reduce our pricing, resulting in a loss of revenue and adversely affecting our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

The average sales price of our solutions may decrease, which may reduce our profitability.

The average sales price for our solutions may decline for a variety of reasons, including competitive pricing pressures, discounts we offer, new pricing
models, a change in the mix of our solutions, anticipation of the introduction of new solutions or promotional programs. Competition continues to increase in
the market for online collaborative content workspaces and we expect competition to further increase in the future, thereby leading to increased pricing
pressures. We cannot assure you that we will be successful maintaining our prices at levels that will allow us to maintain profitability. Failure to maintain our
prices could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

If we do not maintain the compatibility of our services with third-party applications that our customers use in their business processes, demand
for our services could decline.
Our solutions can be used alongside a wide range of other systems such as email and enterprise software systems used by our customers in their businesses. If

we do not support the continued integration of our services with third-party applications, including through the provision of application programming
interfaces that enable data to be transferred readily between our services and third-party applications, demand for our services could decline and we could lose
sales. We will also be required to make our services compatible with new or additional third-party applications that are introduced to the markets that we serve
and, if we are not successful, we could experience reduced demand for our services. In addition, prospective customers, especially large enterprise customers,
may require heavily customized features and functions unique to their business processes. If prospective customers require customized features or functions
that we do not offer and that would be difficult for them to develop and integrate within our services, then the market for our services will be adversely
affected.

If we fail to adapt our services to changes in technology or the marketplace, we could lose existing customers and fail to attract new business.

Our customers and users regularly adopt new technologies and industry standards continue to evolve. The introduction of products or services and the
emergence of new industry standards can render our existing services obsolete and unmarketable in short periods of time. We expect others to continue to
develop, introduce new and enhance existing products and services, which will compete with our services. Our future success will depend, in part, on our
ability to enhance our current services and to develop and introduce new services that keep pace with technological developments, emerging industry standards
and the needs of our customers. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in cost-effectively developing, marketing and selling new services or
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service enhancements that meet these changing demands, that we will not experience difficulties that could delay or prevent the successful development,
introduction and marketing of these services, or that our new service and service enhancements will adequately meet the demands of the marketplace and
achieve market acceptance. We also cannot assure you that the features that we believe will drive purchasing decisions will in fact be the features that our
potential customers consider most significant.

Our customers may adopt technologies that decrease the demand for our services, which could reduce our revenue and adversely affect our
business.
We target large institutions such as commercial banks, investment banks and life sciences companies for many of our services and we depend on their
continued need for our services. However, over time, our customers or their advisors, such as law firms and investment banking firms, may acquire, adopt
or develop their own technologies, such as client extranets, that decrease the need for our solutions. The use of these internal technologies could reduce the
demand for our services, result in pricing pressures or cause a reduction in our revenue. If we fail to manage these challenges adequately, our business, results
of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Interruptions or delays in our service due to problems with our third-party web hosting facilities or other third-party service providers could
adversely affect our business.
We rely on SunGard Availability Services LP, or SunGard, for the maintenance of the equipment running our solutions and software at geographically
dispersed hosting facilities. Our agreement with SunGard expires on December 31, 2015. If we are unable to renew, extend or replace this contract, we may be
unable to arrange for replacement services at a similar cost and in a timely manner, which could cause an interruption in our service. We do not control the
operation of these SunGard facilities, each of which may be subject to damage or interruption from earthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, telecommunications
failures or similar events. These facilities may also be subject to break-ins, sabotage, intentional acts of vandalism or similar misconduct. Despite precautions
taken at these facilities, the occurrence of a natural disaster, cessation of operations by our third-party web hosting provider or SunGard's decision to close a
facility without adequate notice or other unanticipated problems at any facility could result in lengthy interruptions in our service. In addition, the failure by
these facilities to provide our required data communications capacity could result in interruptions in our service.

We have a substantial amount of debt that exposes us to risks that could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.
We had total indebtedness of $74.9 million outstanding as of December 31, 2013 pursuant to our First Lien Credit Agreement, entered into on June 15, 2007,

as amended, or the Prior Credit Facility. On February 24, 2014, we refinanced all the outstanding indebtedness under our Prior Credit Facility with the
proceeds of our new Term Loan Credit Facility and our Revolving Credit Facility, or collectively, the Credit Facilities. Each of our Credit Facilities is secured
by liens on substantially all of our assets. Our Revolving Credit Facility is secured by a first lien on our cash, accounts receivable and certain other liquid
collateral and a second lien on our other assets. Our Term Loan Credit Facility is secured by a second lien on our cash, accounts receivable and certain other
liquid collateral and a first lien on our other assets. The level and nature of our indebtedness could, among other things:

•

make it difficult for us to obtain any necessary financing in the future;

•

limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business;

•

reduce funds available for use in our operations and corporate development initiatives;

•

impair our ability to incur additional debt because of financial and other restrictive covenants or the liens on our assets that secure our current debt;

•

hinder our ability to raise equity capital, because in the event of a liquidation of our business, debt holders receive a priority before equity holders;

•

make us more vulnerable in the event of a downturn in our business; and

•

place us at a possible competitive disadvantage relative to less leveraged competitors and competitors that have better access to capital resources.

In addition, we may incur significantly more debt in the future, which will increase each of the risks described above related to our indebtedness. The Prior
Credit Facility also provided for a $15.0 million revolving line of credit, which expired on June 15, 2013. The obligations previously covered by the
Company's revolving line of credit, which were primarily related to the Company's operating lease agreements for its various office locations, were replaced
under a separate cash collateralized facility under which we originally provided the bank with $2.5 million and the bank provided certain of our landlords
with separate letters of credit for each location. The cash collateral balance is $2.4 million at December 31, 2013 . This facility expires on June 3, 2014 and, as
such, is classified as current restricted cash on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet. In addition, we have the ability to issue letters of credit under our
Revolving Credit Facility. In May 2013, a requirement for a $0.8 million standby letter of credit related to the Company's corporate charge card utilized by
executives and certain other employees was terminated. If we increase our
20

Table of Contents

indebtedness by borrowing under our Revolving Credit Facility, cash collateralized facility or incur other new indebtedness, each of the risks described above
would increase.

Our loan agreements contain operating and financial covenants that may restrict our business and financing activities.

As of December 31, 2013 , we had $74.9 million of debt outstanding under our Prior Credit Facility. On February 24, 2014, we refinanced all of the
outstanding indebtedness under our Prior Credit Facility with the proceeds of our new Term Loan Credit Facility and our new Revolving Credit Facility. The
borrowings under our Credit Facilities are secured by substantially all of our assets, including our intellectual property. Our loan agreements restrict, among
other things, our ability to:

•

incur additional indebtedness other than in the normal course of business;

•

create liens;

•

make investments and acquisitions;

•

sell assets;

•

pay dividends or make distributions on and repurchase our stock; or

•

consolidate or merge with other entities.

In addition, our loan agreements have a change in control provision that provides that, upon the occurrence of a change in control, all credit facility
commitments shall terminate and all loans shall become due and payable. Furthermore, our loan agreements require us to meet specified minimum financial
measurements. The operating and financial restrictions and covenants in our loan agreements, as well as any future financing agreements that we may enter
into, may restrict our ability to finance our operations, engage in business activities or expand or fully pursue our business strategies. Our ability to comply
with these covenants may be affected by events beyond our control and we may not be able to meet those covenants. A breach of any of the covenants under
either of these loan agreements could result in a default under both our loan agreements, which could cause all of the outstanding indebtedness under our loan
agreements to become immediately due and payable and terminate all commitments to extend further credit.

We might require additional capital to support the growth of our business and this capital might not be available on reasonable terms or at all.
We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to respond to business challenges, including the
need to develop new services or enhance our existing services, enhance our operating infrastructure and acquire complementary businesses and technologies.
Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or
convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences
and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. Any debt financing secured by us in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to
our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue
business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. In addition, we may not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us, if at all. If we
are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business growth and
to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited.

Further downgrades in our credit ratings may increase our future borrowing costs, limit our ability to raise capital, cause our stock price to
decline or reduce analyst coverage, any of which could have a material adverse impact on our business.
In the past, we have experienced a downgrade in one of our corporate credit ratings. Since investors, analysts and financial institutions often rely on credit
ratings to assess a company's creditworthiness and risk profile, make investment decisions and establish threshold requirements for investment guidelines,
our ability to raise capital, stock price and analyst coverage could be negatively impacted by a further downgrade to our credit rating.

We may choose to pursue business combinations and acquisitions that may be difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value
or divert management's attention.
We may support our growth through acquisitions of complementary businesses, services or technologies. Future acquisitions involve risks, such as:

•

challenges associated with integrating acquired technologies and operations of acquired companies;

•

exposure to unforeseen liabilities;

•

diversion of managerial resources from day-to-day operations;

•

possible loss of key employees, customers and suppliers;
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•

misjudgment with respect to the value, return on investment or strategic fit of any acquired operations or assets;

•

higher than expected transaction costs; and

•

additional dilution to our existing stockholders if we use our common stock as consideration for acquisitions.

As a result of these risks, we may not be able to achieve the expected benefits of any acquisition. If we are unsuccessful in completing or integrating
acquisitions, we may be required to reevaluate our growth strategy.

Future business combinations could involve the acquisition of significant intangible assets. We may need to record write-downs from future impairments of
identified intangible assets and goodwill. These accounting charges would reduce any future reported earnings or increase a reported loss. In addition, we could
use substantial portions of our available cash to pay the purchase price for acquisitions. Subject to the provisions of our existing indebtedness, it is possible
that we could incur additional debt or issue additional equity securities as consideration for these acquisitions, which could cause our stockholders to suffer
significant dilution.

Our growth may strain our management, information systems and resources.
Our growth has placed, and may continue to place, a significant strain on our managerial, administrative, operational, financial and other resources. We
intend to expand our overall business, customer base, headcount and operations both domestically and internationally. Growing a global organization and
managing a geographically dispersed workforce will require substantial management effort and significant additional investment in our infrastructure. We will
be required to continue to improve our information technology infrastructure, reporting systems and procedures, and operational and financial controls, as
well as manage expanded operations in geographically distributed locations. Our expected additional growth will increase our costs, which will make it more
difficult for us to offset any future revenue shortfalls by offsetting expense reductions in the short term. If we fail to manage our growth successfully we will be
unable to execute our business plan successfully, which could have a negative impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Continuing weakness or further deterioration in domestic and global economic conditions could have a significant adverse impact on our
business, financial condition and operating results.
Our business, financial condition and operating results could be significantly affected by general economic conditions. The U.S. and global economies have
experienced a significant prolonged downturn and prospects for sustained economic recovery remain uncertain. In particular, the European Union continues to
face significant economic challenges, which could impede the recovery of the worldwide economy. Additionally, in October 2013, the U.S. federal government
shutdown caused uncertainty in the federal government's ability to meet its debt payments. While the debt ceiling has been increased through March 2015, a
future U.S. government shutdown may occur and any resulting failure of the U.S. to meet its debt obligations, or the perceived risk of such a failure, could
have a material adverse effect on the financial markets and economic conditions in the U.S. and throughout the world. To the extent that economic conditions
remain uncertain or deteriorate further, our business and operating results could be significantly and adversely affected.

Expansion of our business internationally will subject us to additional economic and operational risks that could increase our costs and make it
difficult for us to operate profitably.
One of our key growth strategies is to pursue international expansion. International revenue accounted for 40.0%, 39.0%, and 41.3%, of our revenue in 2011,
2012 and 2013, respectively. In addition, a further portion of our revenue is associated with employees of U.S. customers using our services outside of the
U.S. The continued expansion of our international operations may require significant expenditure of financial and management resources and may result in
increased administrative and compliance costs. In addition, international expansion will increasingly subject us to the risks inherent in conducting business
internationally, including:

•

anti-corruption laws, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act and other local laws prohibiting corrupt payments to
governmental officials and private actors, and antitrust and competition regulations, among others;

•

localization of our services, including translation into foreign languages and adaptation for local practices and regulatory requirements;

•

difficulty in enforcing contractual provisions in local jurisdictions;

•

longer accounts receivable payment cycles and increased difficulty in collecting accounts receivable;

•

the effect of applicable foreign tax structures, including tax rates that may be higher than tax rates in the U.S. or taxes that may be duplicative of
those imposed in the U.S.;

•

tariffs and trade barriers;

•

difficulties in managing and staffing international operations;

•

general economic and political conditions in each country;
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•

inadequate intellectual property protection in foreign countries;

•

increased insurance and employee costs associated with operating in foreign jurisdictions;

•

dependence on certain third parties, including channel partners with whom we may not have extensive experience;

•

the potential for political unrest, terrorism, hostilities or war; and

•

the difficulties in and increased expenses resulting from complying with a variety of foreign laws, regulations and trade standards, including
employment, labor, tax, data protection and privacy laws that may or may not be in conflict with U.S. law.

Fluctuations in the exchange rate of foreign currencies could result in currency transaction losses, which could harm our operating results and
financial condition.
We currently have foreign sales denominated in foreign currencies and may in the future have sales denominated in the currencies of additional countries. Any
fluctuation in the exchange rate of these foreign currencies may positively or negatively affect our business, financial condition and operating results. If there
continues to be volatility in exchange rates for foreign currencies, we may continue to see fluctuations in our revenue and expenses, which may impact our
operating results.

Because we recognize revenue for our services ratably over the term of our customer agreements, downturns or upturns in the value of signed
contracts will not be fully and immediately reflected in our operating results.
We offer our services primarily through fixed commitment contracts and recognize revenue ratably over the related service period, which typically ranges from

six to twelve months. As a result, some portion of the revenue we report in each quarter is revenue from contracts entered into during prior quarters.
Consequently, a decline in signed contracts in any quarter will not be fully and immediately reflected in the revenue for that quarter, but will instead negatively
affect our revenue in future quarters. In addition, we may be unable to adjust our cost structure to offset this reduced revenue. Similarly, revenue attributable to
an increase in contracts signed in a particular quarter will not be fully and immediately recognized, as revenue from new or renewed contracts is recognized
ratably over the applicable service period. Because we incur sales commissions at the time of sale, we may not recognize revenues from some customers despite

incurring considerable expense related to our sales processes. Timing differences of this nature could cause our margins and profitability to fluctuate
significantly from quarter to quarter.

Our offerings of new services or products may be subject to complex revenue recognition standards, which could materially affect our financial
results.
As we introduce new services or products, revenue recognition could become increasingly complex and require additional analysis and judgment. Additionally,

we may negotiate and revise terms and conditions of our contracts with customers and channel partners, which may also cause us to revise our revenue
recognition policies. As our arrangements with customers evolve, we may be required to defer a greater portion of revenue into future periods, which could
materially and adversely affect our financial results.

Changes in financial accounting standards or practices may cause adverse, unexpected financial reporting fluctuations and affect our reported
financial results.
A change in accounting standards or practices can have a significant effect on our reported results and may even affect our reporting of transactions completed
before the change is effective. New accounting pronouncements and varying interpretations of accounting pronouncements have occurred and will occur in the
future. Changes to existing rules or the questioning of current practices may adversely affect our reported financial results or the way in which we conduct our
business.

If we are unable to maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting in the future, our ability to
produce accurate and timely financial statements could be materially impaired, which could harm our operating results, investors' views of us
and, as a result, the value of our common stock.
Upon registration of our shares of common stock with the SEC, we became subject to rules and regulations that require us to maintain the effectiveness of
both disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. Effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports, effectively prevent fraud and operate successfully as a public company. If we
cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our reputation and operating results would be harmed. In addition, beginning with the Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, we became subject to the requirement to perform an annual management assessment of the effectiveness
of our internal controls over financial reporting and obtain a report from our independent registered public accounting firm addressing the effectiveness of our
internal controls over financial reporting. We reported a material weakness in 2011 and could report a material weakness in the future.
We may not be able to maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting in the future. If we are not able to
maintain adequate compliance with these requirements in future years, we may be unable to report our financial information on a timely basis or our
independent registered public accounting firm may be unable to express an
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opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, which could result in SEC or other regulatory investigations or proceedings,
violations of New York Stock Exchange listing rules and loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, and, in turn, materially
adversely affect our business, reputation, financial position, results of operations and the market price of our common stock. In addition, we could be
required to incur substantial accounting and auditing expense and significant management time in complying with these requirements, remediating any
material weaknesses that may be identified in the future, or responding to any regulatory investigations or proceedings.

We rely on third-party software and hardware to support our system and services and our business and reputation could suffer if these thirdparty services fail to perform properly or are no longer available to us.
We rely on hardware purchased or leased and software licensed from third parties to offer our service. This hardware and software may not continue to be
available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Any loss of the right to use any of this hardware or software could result in delays in the provisioning of
our services, which could negatively affect our business until equivalent technology is either developed by us or, if available, is identified, obtained and
integrated. In addition, it is possible that our hardware vendors or the licensors of third party software could increase the prices they charge, which could have
a material adverse impact on our results of operations. Further, changing hardware vendors or software licensors could detract from management's ability to
focus on the ongoing operations of our business or could cause delays in the operations of our business.
Additionally, third-party software underlying our services can contain undetected errors or bugs. We may be forced to delay commercial release of our services
until any discovered problems are corrected and, in some cases, may need to implement enhancements or modifications to correct errors that we do not detect
until after deployment of our services. In addition, problems with the third party software underlying our services could result in:

•

damage to our reputation;

•

loss of or delayed revenue;

•

loss of customers;

•

warranty claims or litigation;

•

loss of or delayed market acceptance of our services; and

•

unexpected expenses and diversion of resources to remedy errors.

Our use of "open source" software could negatively affect our ability to sell our services and subject us to possible litigation.
A portion of the technologies licensed by us incorporates "open source" software, and we may incorporate open source software in the future. Open source
software is generally licensed by its authors or other third parties under open source licenses. If we fail to comply with these licenses, we may be subject to
certain conditions, including requirements that we offer any of our services that incorporate the open source software at no cost. Additionally, we may be
required to make publicly available any source code for modifications or derivative works we create based upon, incorporating or using the open source
software and/or license those modifications or alterations on terms that are unfavorable to us. If an author or other third party that distributes open source
software were to allege that we had not complied with the conditions of one or more of these licenses, we could be required to incur significant legal expenses
defending against such allegations and could be subject to significant damages, enjoined from selling those of our services that contained the open source
software and required to comply with the foregoing conditions, which could disrupt the distribution and sale of some of our services.

If we are unable to protect our proprietary technology and other rights, the value of our business and our competitive position may be impaired.
If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, our competitors could use our intellectual property to market products and services similar to ours, which
could decrease demand for our services. We rely on a combination of copyright, patent, trademark and trade secret laws, as well as third-party nondisclosure
agreements and other contractual provisions and technical measures, to protect our intellectual property rights. These protections may not be adequate to
prevent our competitors from copying or reverse-engineering our technology and services to create similar offerings. Additionally, any of our pending or future
patent applications may not be issued with the scope of protection we seek, if at all. The scope of patent protection, if any, we may obtain from our patent
applications is difficult to predict and our patents may be found invalid, unenforceable or of insufficient scope to prevent competitors from offering similar
services. Our competitors may independently develop technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technology. To protect our trade secrets
and other proprietary information, we require employees, consultants, advisors, subcontractors and collaborators to enter into confidentiality agreements and
maintain policies and procedures to limit access to our trade secrets and proprietary information. These agreements and the other actions we take may not
provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information from unauthorized use, misappropriation or disclosure.
Further, existing copyright and patent laws may not provide adequate or meaningful protection in the event competitors independently develop technology,
products or services similar to ours. Even if the laws governing intellectual property rights
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provide protection, we may have insufficient resources to take the legal actions necessary to protect our interests. In addition, our intellectual property rights
and interests may not be afforded the same protection under the laws of foreign countries as they are under the laws of the U.S.

Our success depends on our customers' continued high-speed access to the Internet and the continued reliability of the Internet infrastructure.
Our future sales growth depends on our customers having high-speed access to the Internet, as well as the continued maintenance and development of the
Internet infrastructure. The future delivery of our services will depend on third-party Internet service providers to expand high-speed Internet access, maintain a
reliable network with the necessary speed, data capacity and security, and develop complementary products and services, including high-speed modems, for
providing reliable and timely Internet access and services. The success of our business depends directly on the continued accessibility, maintenance and
improvement of the Internet as a convenient means of customer interaction, as well as an efficient medium for the delivery and distribution of information
among businesses and by businesses to their employees. All of these factors are out of our control. If for any reason the Internet does not remain a widespread
communications medium and commercial platform, the demand for our services would be significantly reduced, which would harm our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

To the extent that the Internet continues to experience increased numbers of users, frequency of use or bandwidth requirements, the Internet may become
congested and be unable to support the demands placed on it, and its performance or reliability may decline. Any future Internet outages or delays could
adversely affect our ability to provide services to our customers, which could adversely affect our business.

If we are unable to retain our key executives, we may not be able to implement our business strategy.
We rely on the expertise and experience of our senior management, especially our President and Chief Executive Officer, Ronald W. Hovsepian, as well as the
other executive officers and key employees referenced in Item 10 of this Form 10-K. Although we have employment agreements with certain of our executive
officers, none of them or any of our other management personnel is obligated to remain employed by us. We have no key-man insurance on any members of

our management team. The loss of services of any key management personnel could make it more difficult to pursue our business goals successfully.
Furthermore, recruiting and retaining qualified management personnel are critical to our growth plans. We may be unable to attract and retain key personnel on
acceptable terms given the competition among technology companies for experienced management personnel.

Our employee retention and hiring may be adversely impacted by immigration restrictions and related factors .
Competition for skilled personnel is intense in our industry and any failure on our part to hire and retain appropriately skilled employees could harm our
business. Our ability to hire and retain skilled employees is impacted, at least in part, by the fact that a portion of our professional workforce in the U.S. is
comprised of foreign nationals who are not U.S. citizens. In order to be legally allowed to work for us, these individuals generally hold immigrant visas (which
may or may not be tied to their employment with us) or who hold green cards, the latter of which makes them permanent residents in the U.S.
The ability of these foreign nationals to remain and work in the U.S. is impacted by a variety of laws and regulations, as well as the processing procedures of
various government agencies. Changes in applicable laws, regulations or procedures could adversely affect our ability to hire or retain these skilled employees
and could affect our costs of doing business and our ability to deliver services to our customers. In addition, if the laws, rules or procedures governing the
ability of foreign nationals to work in the U.S. were to change or if the number of visas available for foreign nationals permitted to work in the U.S. were to be
reduced, our business could be adversely affected, if, for example, we were unable to hire or no longer able to retain a skilled worker who is a foreign national.

Employing foreign nationals may require significant time and expense and our foreign national employees may choose to leave after we have made this
investment. While a foreign national who is working under an immigrant visa tied to his or her employment by us may be less likely to choose to leave our
company than a similarly situated employee who is a U.S. national or a green card holder (as leaving our employ could mean also having to leave the U.S.),
this may not always be the case. Additionally, many of our foreign national employees hold green cards, which means that they have greater flexibility to leave
our company without facing the risk of also having to leave the U.S.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes may be limited or disallowed by the Internal Revenue Service.
As of December 31, 2013, we had net operating loss carryforwards of $48.3 million , including $11.3 million of windfall tax benefits attributable to equity
compensation, to offset future taxable income, which expire in various years beginning in 2020 through 2030, if not utilized. If we were not to generate
sufficient future taxable income, this would adversely affect our ability to utilize these net operating loss carryforwards. In addition, under the Internal Revenue
Code, substantial changes in our ownership could limit the amount of net operating loss carryforwards that can be utilized annually in the future to offset
taxable income. Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code impose limitations on a company's ability to use net operating loss carryforwards
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and other tax attributes if a company experiences a more-than-50-percent ownership change over a three-year period. We believe that, as a result of our initial
and follow-on public offerings, or as a result of prior or future issuances of our capital stock, it is possible that such a change in our ownership could occur
in the future. If such a change in our ownership occurs, our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards in any future periods may be limited on an
annual basis.

In addition, due to an administrative omission from certain prior year tax filings, losses generated by Intralinks Ltd., our U.K. subsidiary, were disallowed
by the Internal Revenue Service. We proactively sought “reasonable cause” relief from the possible disallowance or restriction of these net operating loss
carryforwards from the Internal Revenue Service. We concluded an audit by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, or the IRS, in the second quarter of 2013 of our
U.S. Federal income tax returns for the years ended December 31, 2006 through 2009. As of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have received
Notices of Proposed Adjustments from the IRS disallowing $58.3 million of foreign branch losses on the basis that they constitute dual consolidated losses in
the U.S.; the IRS is asserting that we are not entitled to reasonable cause relief for late election filings. We disagree with the IRS' proposed adjustments and have
filed an appeal. In the event relief is not ultimately granted, we would no longer have the ability to use certain net operating loss carryforwards. If this were to
happen, in the current year and in future years in which we have taxable income, we would have to pay more taxes than if we were able to fully utilize our net
operating loss carryforwards. This could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

We incur increased costs and demands upon management as a result of complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companies,
which could harm our operating results.
Since our initial public offering in August 2010, we have incurred and will continue to incur as a public company significant additional legal, accounting and
other costs to which we were not subject to as a private company, including expenses related to our efforts in complying with Sarbanes-Oxley, and other public
company disclosure and corporate governance requirements, responding to requests of government regulators and defending the class action and stockholder
derivative lawsuits filed against us. Our management and other personnel will continue to need to devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance
initiatives. We expect that these rules, regulations and proceedings may make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability
insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage
previously available. As a result, it may be more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified individuals to serve on our board of directors or as our executive
officers.

If we are required to collect sales and use taxes on the services we sell in additional jurisdictions, we may be subject to liability for past sales and
our future sales could decrease.
We currently collect sales or use tax on our services in fourteen states. Historically, we have not charged or collected value added tax on our services anywhere
in the world. We may lose sales or incur significant expenses should tax authorities in other jurisdictions where we do business be successful in imposing
sales and use taxes, value added taxes or similar taxes on the services we provide. A successful assertion by one or more tax authorities that we should collect

sales or other taxes on the sale of our services could result in substantial tax liabilities for past sales, including interest and penalty charges, and could
discourage customers from purchasing our services and otherwise harm our business. Further, we may conclude based on our own review that our services
may be subject to sales and use taxes in other areas where we do business. Under these circumstances, we may voluntarily disclose our estimated liability to
the respective tax authorities and initiate activities to collect taxes going forward.

It is not clear that our services are subject to sales and use tax in certain jurisdictions. States and certain municipalities in the U.S., as well as countries outside
the U.S., have different rules and regulations governing sales and use taxes. These rules and regulations are subject to varying interpretations that may change
over time and, in the future, our services may be subject to such taxes. Although our customer contracts typically provide that our customers are responsible
for the payment of all taxes associated with the provision and use of our services, customers may decline to pay back taxes and may refuse responsibility for
interest or penalties associated with those taxes. In certain cases, we may elect not to request customers to pay back taxes. If we are required to collect and pay
back taxes and associated interest and penalties, and if our customers fail or refuse to reimburse us for all or a portion of these amounts, or if we elect not to
seek payment of these amounts, we will incur unplanned expenses that may be substantial. Moreover, imposition of such taxes on our services going forward
will effectively increase the cost of our services to our customers, and may adversely affect our ability to retain existing customers or gain new customers in
jurisdictions in which such taxes are imposed. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operation or financial
condition.

Catastrophic events may disrupt our business.
A natural disaster, telecommunications failure, power outage, cyber-attack, war, terrorist attack, or other catastrophic event could cause us to suffer system
interruptions, reputational harm, delays in product development, breaches of data security and loss of critical data. An event of this nature could also prevent
us from fulfilling customer orders or maintaining certain service level requirements, particularly in respect of our SaaS and hosted offerings. While we have
developed certain disaster recovery plans and maintain backup systems to reduce the potentially adverse effect of these types of events, a catastrophic event
that results in the destruction or disruption of any of our data centers or our critical business or information technology systems could severely affect our
ability to conduct normal business operations and, as a result, our business, operating results and financial condition
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could be adversely affected. Though we came through recent storms - Sandy and Nemo - without issue, this is still a risk investors should be aware of.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price may fluctuate significantly.

The stock market, particularly in recent years, has experienced significant volatility, particularly with respect to technology stocks. The volatility of
technology stocks often does not relate to the operating performance of the companies themselves. Factors that could cause volatility in the market price of our
common stock include:

•

market conditions affecting our customers' businesses, including the level of activity in the M&A and syndicated loan markets;

•

the loss of any major customers or the acquisition of new customers for our services;

•

announcements of new services or functions by us or our competitors;

•

developments concerning intellectual property rights;

•

comments by securities analysts, including the publication of their estimates of our operating results;

•

actual and anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly operating results;

•

rumors relating to us or our competitors;

•

developments relating to lawsuits and investigations involving us;

•

actions of stockholders, including sales of shares by our directors and executive officers;

•

additions or departures of key personnel; and

•

developments concerning current or future strategic alliances or acquisitions.

These and other factors may cause the market price and demand for our common stock to fluctuate substantially, which may limit or prevent investors from
readily selling their shares of common stock and may otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of our common stock. In addition, volatility in the market price
of our stock could subject us to securities class action litigation. We are currently, and may in the future be, the subject of class action and stockholder
derivative lawsuits that could require us to incur substantial costs defending such lawsuits and divert the time and attention of our management.

Our principal stockholders could exercise significant control over our company.
As of March 3, 2014, our two largest stockholders beneficially owned, in the aggregate, shares representing 29.2% of our outstanding capital stock. Although
we are not aware of any voting arrangements in place among these stockholders, if these stockholders were to choose to act together, as a result of their stock
ownership, they would likely be able to influence our management and affairs. This concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying or preventing
a change in control of our company and might affect the market price of our common stock.

Future sales of shares by existing stockholders could cause our stock price to decline.
If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate an intent to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the trading price of our common
stock could decline significantly. As of December 31, 2013, we had 56,054,484 shares of common stock outstanding. A relatively small number of our
shareholders own large blocks of shares. We cannot predict the effect, if any, that public sales of these shares will have on the market price of our common
stock.

In addition, shares subject to outstanding options under our equity incentive plans and shares reserved for future issuance under our equity incentive plans
will become eligible for sale in the public market in the future, subject to certain legal and contractual limitations. Moreover, as of March 3, 2014, entities
affiliated with TA Associates, L.P. and Rho Capital Partners, Inc. hold 16,396,233 shares of our common stock and have the right to require us to register
these shares under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, pursuant to a registration rights agreement. If our existing stockholders sell substantial amounts of
our common stock in the public market, or if the public perceives that these types of sales could occur, this could have an adverse impact on the market price
of our common stock, even if there is no relationship between these types of sales and the performance of our business.

Provisions of Delaware law, our charter documents and our loan agreements could delay or prevent an acquisition of our company, even if the
acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders, and could make it more difficult for stockholders to change management.
Provisions of Delaware law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated by-laws and our loan agreements may discourage,
delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders
might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions may
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also prevent or delay attempts by stockholders to replace or remove our current management or members of our board of directors. These provisions include:

•

a classified board of directors;

•

limitations on the removal of directors;

•

advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations;

•

the inability of stockholders to act by written consent or to call special meetings;

•

the ability of our board of directors to make, alter or repeal our amended and restated by-laws;

•

the authority of our board of directors to issue preferred stock with such terms as our board of directors may determine; and

•

provisions in our loan agreements that may accelerate payment of our debt in a change in control.

The affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of our shares of capital stock entitled to vote, and not less than 75% of the outstanding shares of each class
entitled to vote thereon as a class, is generally necessary to amend or repeal the above provisions that are contained in our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation. Also, absent approval of our board of directors, our amended and restated by-laws may only be amended or repealed by the affirmative vote of
the holders of at least 75% of our shares of capital stock entitled to vote.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which limits business combination transactions with
stockholders of 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock that our board of directors has not approved. These provisions and other similar provisions
make it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirers to acquire us without negotiation. These provisions may apply even if some stockholders may
consider the transaction beneficial to them.
As a result, these provisions could limit the price that investors are willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock. These provisions might also
discourage a potential acquisition proposal or tender offer, even if the acquisition proposal or tender offer is at a premium over the then current market price for
our common stock.

We have never paid dividends on our capital stock and we do not anticipate paying any dividends in the foreseeable future. Consequently, any
gains from an investment in our common stock will likely depend on whether the price of our common stock increases.
We have not paid dividends on any of our classes of capital stock to date and we currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to fund the development
and growth of our business. In addition, the terms of our outstanding indebtedness restrict our ability to pay dividends, and any future indebtedness that we
may incur could preclude us from paying dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be your sole source of gain for the
foreseeable future. Consequently, in the foreseeable future, you will likely only experience a gain from your investment in our common stock if the price of our
common stock increases.

If equity research analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they issue unfavorable commentary or downgrade our
common stock, the price of our common stock could decline.
The trading market for our common stock relies in part on the research and reports that equity research analysts publish about us and our business. We do
not control these analysts. We have been, and may in the future be, the subject of unfavorable commentary or termination of coverage by equity analysts. The
price of our common stock could decline as a result of any such negative commentary or termination of coverage.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Our principal executive office located at 150 East 42nd Street, New York, New York occupies 43,304 square feet which is subject to a lease agreement that
expires in July 2021. In addition, we have a facility in Charlestown, Massachusetts that occupies 36,557 square feet under a lease that expires in December
2015.

We also maintain space in Amsterdam, London, Paris, Chicago, São Paulo, Frankfurt, Singapore, Tokyo, Hong Kong, Sydney, Miami and San Francisco
for our sales and services activities. We believe that our facilities are adequate for our current needs. However, we may obtain additional office space to house
additional services personnel in the near future, and we may require other additional office space as our business grows.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
In the ordinary course of business, the Company and its subsidiaries are subject to various claims, charges, disputes, litigation and regulatory inquiries and
investigations. These matters, if resolved adversely against the Company, may result in monetary damages, fines and penalties or require changes in business
practices. The Company is not currently aware of any pending or threatened material claims, charges, disputes, litigation and regulatory inquiries and
investigations except as follows:

Securities Class Action. On December 5, 2011, we became aware of a purported class action lawsuit filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of New York, or the SDNY or the Court, against us and certain of our current and former executive officers. The complaint, or the Wallace Complaint, alleges
that the defendants made false and misleading statements or omissions about our business prospects, financial condition and performance in violation of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The plaintiff seeks unspecified compensatory damages for the purported class of purchasers of our common
stock during the period from February 17, 2011 through November 10, 2011, or the Allegation Period. On December 27, 2011, a second purported class
action complaint, which makes substantially the same claims as, and is related to, the Wallace Complaint, was filed in the SDNY against us and certain of
our current and former executive officers seeking similar unspecified compensatory damages for the Allegation Period. On April 3, 2012, the Court
consolidated the actions and appointed Plumbers and Pipefitters National Pension Fund as lead plaintiff, and also appointed lead counsel in the consolidated
action, or the Consolidated Class Action. On June 15, 2012, the lead plaintiff filed an amended complaint that, in addition to the original allegations made in
the Wallace Complaint, alleges that we, certain of our current and former officers and directors, and the underwriters in our April 6, 2011 stock offering
issued a registration statement and prospectus in connection with the offering that contained untrue statements of material fact or omitted material information
required to be stated therein in violation of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The defendants filed motions to dismiss the action on July 31, 2012. On
May 8, 2013, the Court issued an opinion dismissing claims based on certain allegations in the complaint, but otherwise denied defendants’ motions to
dismiss. On June 28, 2013, defendants filed their answers to the Consolidated Class Action Complaint. On October 15, 2013, the Court entered the parties’
pretrial scheduling stipulation, which provided, inter alia, that the parties would fully brief any motions for summary judgment by February 17, 2015. In
December 2013, the parties served each other with document requests and discovery is ongoing. On February 18, 2014, lead plaintiff filed its motion for class
certification. Pursuant to the October 15, 2013 scheduling order, the defendants’ opposition to class certification is due by May 2, 2014, and lead plaintiff’s
reply is due by June 2, 2014. We believe that these claims are without merit and intend to defend these lawsuits vigorously.
Dixon Derivative Action. On December 28, 2011, a shareholder derivative complaint was filed in the SDNY against us and certain of our current and former
directors. The complaint, or the Dixon Action, alleged that the defendants breached their fiduciary duties by causing us to issue materially false and
misleading statements about our business prospects, financial condition and performance during the same Allegation Period alleged in the Consolidated Class
Action Complaint. Plaintiff has voluntarily dismissed the Dixon Action without receipt of any compensation. On January 28, 2014, the Court approved the
stipulation of dismissal.

Horbal Derivative Action. On April 16, 2012, a second shareholder derivative complaint, or the Horbal Action, was filed in the Supreme Court of the State
of New York in New York County, or the New York State Court, against us and certain of our current and former directors and officers. The Horbal Action
makes substantially the same claims as, and is related to, the Dixon Action. On April 24, 2012, one of the director defendants removed the Horbal Action to
the SDNY, and on May 7, 2012, it was assigned to the same judge as in the Dixon Action. On May 22, 2012, the plaintiff in the Horbal Action moved to
remand the case to New York State Court. On March 11, 2013, the SDNY granted plaintiff's motion to remand, and the case is currently pending in New
York State Court. On June 6, 2013, the parties filed a stipulation with the New York State Court agreeing to stay all proceedings in the Horbal Action,
including discovery, until ninety days after the SDNY issues a scheduling order in the Consolidated Class Action. On January 13, 2014, the parties filed a
stipulation with the New York State Court agreeing to work together on a schedule for defendants’ time to answer, move against or otherwise respond to the
complaint or an amended complaint. We believe the claims in the Horbal Action are without merit and intend to defend this lawsuit vigorously.

Levine Shareholder Demand Letter/Complaint. We received a shareholder demand letter, dated May 16, 2013, demanding that our board of directors, or the
Board, take action to remedy alleged breaches of fiduciary duty by current and former directors and officers. These alleged breaches are based on the same
alleged misconduct in the complaints in the Dixon, Horbal, and Consolidated Class Actions. The letter specifically demands that our Board undertake an
independent internal investigation into the alleged breaches and commence a civil action against each of the allegedly breaching current and former directors
and officers. On June 26, 2013, our Board created a Demand Committee to conduct an investigation into the allegations in the Levine demand letter. On
December 13, 2013, the shareholder filed a derivative complaint, or the Levine Action, in New York State Court against us and certain of our current and
former directors and officers. The Levine Action alleges that since our Board has not responded substantively to the shareholder’s demand letter in over six
months, this has resulted in an improper “functional refusal” of the demand. The Levine Action makes substantially the same claims as, and is related to, the
Dixon, Horbal, and Consolidated Class Actions. It alleges, among other things, that the defendants breached their fiduciary duties by making materially false
and misleading statements related to the strength of our business and customer satisfaction. We believe the claims in the Levine Action are without merit and
intend to defend this lawsuit vigorously.
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ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES
Our common stock trades under the symbol "IL" on the New York Stock Exchange. The following table sets forth for the indicated periods the high and low
closing sales prices of our common stock as reported by the New York Stock Exchange for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.
High

Low

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2013:
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

$
$
$
$

6.72
7.26
9.93
12.39

$
$
$
$

5.73
5.72

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2012:
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

$
$
$
$

7.40

5.37
6.93
6.88

$
$
$
$

5.02
3.75
3.95
5.37

7.33

8.37

On March 3, 2014 , the last reported sales price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $11.33 and there were approximately 20 holders
of record of our common stock. Because the substantial majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on
behalf of shareholders, we are not able to estimate the total number of beneficial shareholders represented by these record holders.
Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid dividends on our capital stock and we do not anticipate paying any dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future. We
currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business. Any future determination to declare
dividends will be subject to the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on various factors, including applicable laws, our results of operations,
financial condition, future prospects and any other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors. In addition, the terms of our outstanding indebtedness
restrict our ability to pay dividends, and any future indebtedness that we may incur could preclude us from paying dividends.

Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by
reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act.
The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the cumulative total return on the NASDAQ Composite index
and the NASDAQ Computer and Data Processing index for the period beginning August 6, 2010 (the date our common stock commenced trading on the New
York Stock Exchange) through December 31, 2013, assuming an initial investment of $100.
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The comparisons in the graph below are based upon historical data and are not indicative of, nor intended to forecast, future performance of our common
stock.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

For information concerning securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans, see Part III, Item 12 - "Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
None.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
None.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
You should read the selected consolidated financial data presented below in conjunction with Part II, Item 7 of this Form 10-K, entitled "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes included elsewhere in
this Form 10-K. The selected consolidated financial data presented below at December 31, 2013 and 2012 and for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2013 have been derived from the Company's audited Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The selected
consolidated financial data presented below at December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 and for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 have been derived
from the Company's audited Consolidated Financial Statements not included in this Form 10-K. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the
results of operations to be expected for future periods.
Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

(In Thousands, Except Share Data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations:

$

Revenue

Cost of revenue

(1)

Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing (1)
General and administrative (1)
Product development (1)
Impairment of capitalized software
Restructuring costs

216,667
62,354
154,313

$

96,198
50,608
21,092
8,715
—
176,613

213,504
56,385
157,119

$

184,332

$

47,496
136,836

88,872

79,251
28,435
17,953
—
—
125,639
11,197
24,724

140,699
48,721
91,978

4,974
(2,722)
(18,863)
(6,427)
(12,436) $

59,058
20,556
14,222
—
1,494
95,330
(3,352)
28,935
1,872
—
9,027
(43,186)
(18,415)
(24,771)

$
$

(0.28) $

(0.32)

$

(0.02)

$

(0.58) $

(15.38)

$

(0.28) $

(0.32)

$

(0.02)

$

(0.58) $

(15.38)

(Loss) income from operations
Interest expense

Amortization of debt issuance costs
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Other expense (income), net
Net loss before income tax
Income tax (benefit) expense

Diluted

$

108,428
57,063
20,014
—
—
185,505
(15,894)
4,136
358
—
239
(20,627)
(5,349)
(15,278) $

Total operating expenses

Net loss
Net loss per common share
Basic

234,496
64,885
169,611

40,808

(22,300)

6,435
740

—
(1,870)
(27,605)
(10,225)
(17,380) $

18,579
—
—
148,259
8,860
10,645
1,369
—

3,084

(3,123)
(31)

1,212
(1,243) $

Weighted average number of shares

Basic

55,135,657

54,352,536

53,381,655

21,310,284

1,611,090

Diluted

55,135,657

54,352,536

53,381,655

21,310,284

1,611,090

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense.
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Years Ended December 31,
2012
2011
2010

2013

Stock-Based Compensation Expense:
Cost of revenue
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Product development
Total

2009

(In Thousands)

$

$

692
1,320
4,998
1,276
8,286
2013

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Working capital
Total assets

$

$

445
1,080
3,596
1,440
6,561

2012

$

310

$

$

2,353
4,716
1,329
8,708

$

December 31,
2011

105
1,638
1,717
755
4,215

$

63
529
863

$

1,938

483

2010

2009

(In Thousands)

$

50,540 $
43,798 $
34,886
31,549
66,371
62,955
495,962
489,754
75,004
75,238
—
—
(112,714)
(97,436)
$ 316,101 $ 322,052 $

Long-term debt, net of current portion
Series A preferred stock
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)

46,694
36,120
78,136

$

50,467 $
30,481
—
3,414
49,563
15,591
530,341
526,355
509,341
91,164
125,886
290,513
—
—
176,478
(80,056)
(78,813)
(66,377)
331,830 $ 287,444 $ (62,032)

ITEM 7: MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, or MD&A, is intended to provide a reader of our financial
statements with a narrative from the perspective of our management on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and certain other
factors that may affect our future results. The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial
Statements and related notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
Executive Overview

Intralinks is a leading global provider of Software-as-a-Service, or SaaS, solutions for secure content management and collaboration within and among
organizations. Our cloud-based solutions enable organizations to control, track, search, exchange and collaborate on time-sensitive information inside and
outside the firewall, all within a secure and easy-to-use environment. Our customers rely on our cost-effective solutions to manage large amounts of electronic
information, accelerate information intensive business processes, reduce time to market, optimize critical information workflow, meet regulatory and risk
management requirements and collaborate with business counterparties in a secure, auditable and compliant manner. We help our customers eliminate many of
the inherent risks and inefficiencies of using email, fax, courier services and other existing solutions to collaborate and exchange information.

At our founding in 1996, we introduced cloud-based collaboration for the debt capital markets industry and, shortly thereafter, extended our solutions to
merger and acquisition transactions. Today, we service enterprise and governmental agencies in 6 9 countries across a variety of industries, including financial
services, pharmaceutical, manufacturing, biotechnology, consumer, energy, telecommunications, industrial, legal, agriculture, insurance, real estate and
technology, which use our solutions for the secure management and online exchange of information within and among organizations. Across all of our
principal markets, we help transform a wide range of slow, expensive and information-intensive tasks into streamlined, efficient and real-time business
processes.
We deliver our solutions through a multi-tenant SaaS architecture in which a single instance of our software serves all of our customers. We sell our solutions

directly through a field team with industry-specific expertise and an inside sales team, and indirectly through a customer referral network and channel
partners. In 2013, we generated $234.5 million in revenue, 41.3% of which was derived from sales across 6 9 countries outside of the U.S.
2013 Key Accomplishments
Launch of Intralinks VIA
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We launched Intralinks VIA, a secure and scalable SaaS solution for enterprise content sharing and collaboration within and beyond the corporate firewall, in
February 2013, with the offering generally available in April 2013. Designed for business collaboration in a wide variety of markets and industries, Intralinks
VIA enables users to sync, share and revoke access or ‘unshare’ files, work efficiently on group projects, and manage content wherever it travels.

In January 2014, we announced Intralinks VIA Enterprise, a new version of our Intralinks VIA product that incorporates advanced capabilities of the
Intralinks platform previously available in our Connect product. With Intralinks VIA Enterprise, customers can manage the full lifecycle of content, both
inside and across the enterprise boundary, from ad hoc creation and editing through structured storage and publication through final archiving and disposal.

Intralinks DealNexus
In April 2013, we announced the acquisitions of PE-Nexus and MergerID, two online deal sourcing platforms used by the mergers and acquisitions industry.
In September 2013, we combined these two platforms to create DealNexus, an online platform for the deal making community that brings together qualified
M&A professionals with matching deal criteria and opportunities. The DealNexus platform offers a low-cost and confidential way for deal makers to market
deals broadly and then find and engage the best buyers or capital partners.

Implementation of Operational Changes
During 2013, we continued making enhancements and improvements in our infrastructure based on the operational assessments we conducted during 2012.

In addition, during 2013, we continued a redesign of our sales model, focusing on improving marketing and demand generation, implementing our highvelocity inside sales model and sales specialization in our enterprise sales force. We believe this sales model will better address opportunities in the market and
better match sales with the way customers buy SaaS offerings.
In product development, we continue to embrace the Agile development methodology. We also continue our focus on our program of intellectual property
protection and have generated and identified a significant number of innovations.
Key Metrics
We evaluate our operating and financial performance using various performance indicators, as well as against the macroeconomic trends affecting the demand
for our solutions in our principal markets. We also monitor relevant industry performance, including the mergers and acquisitions, or M&A, market globally
and transactional activity in the debt capital markets, or DCM, to provide insight into the success of our sales activities as compared to our peers and to
estimate our market share in each of our principal markets.
Our management relies on the key performance indicators set forth below to help us evaluate growth trends, establish budgets, measure the effectiveness of our

sales and marketing efforts and assess operational efficiencies. We discuss revenue under “Results of Operations” and net cash provided by operating
activities under “Liquidity and Capital Resources.” Other measures of our performance, including Non-GAAP adjusted gross profit, Non-GAAP adjusted
gross margin, Non-GAAP adjusted operating income, Non-GAAP adjusted net income, Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA, Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA
margin, and free cash flow are defined and discussed under “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.
Year Ended December 31,

2013

2012

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

2011

(In Thousands)

$
$

Revenue

Non-GAAP adjusted gross profit

Non-GAAP adjusted gross margin
$
$
$

Non-GAAP adjusted operating income
Non-GAAP adjusted net income
Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA

Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA margin
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Data:

$
$

Net cash provided by operating activities
Free cash flow
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234,496
178,439
76.1%
16,036
7,008
36,900
15.7%

$
$

42,009
14,538

$
$

$
$
$

216,667
165,127
76.2%
18,750
8,365
37,317
17.2%

$
$

35,186
9,159

$
$

$
$
$

213,504
170,666
79.9%
46,255
23,539
66,254
31.0%

54,726
30,893
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures
This Form 10-K includes information about certain financial measures that are not prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States, or GAAP or U.S. GAAP, including non-GAAP adjusted gross profit and non-GAAP adjusted gross margin, non-GAAP adjusted operating
income, non-GAAP adjusted net income, non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA and non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA margin and free cash flow. These non-GAAP
financial measures are not based on any standardized methodology prescribed by GAAP and are not necessarily comparable to similar measures presented by
other companies.
Management defines its non-GAAP financial measures as follows:

•

Non-GAAP gross profit represents the corresponding GAAP measure adjusted to exclude, if applicable: (1) amortization of intangible assets and (2)
stock-based compensation expense.

•

Non-GAAP adjusted operating income represents the corresponding GAAP measure adjusted to exclude, if applicable: (1) amortization of intangible
assets, (2) stock-based compensation expense, (3) impairment charges or asset write-offs and (4) costs related to public stock offerings.

•

Non-GAAP adjusted net income represents the corresponding GAAP measure adjusted to exclude, if applicable: (1) amortization of intangible assets,
(2) stock-based compensation expense, (3) impairment charges or asset write-offs, (4) costs related to debt repayments and (5) costs related to public
stock offerings. The income tax expense included in non-GAAP adjusted net income is calculated using an estimated long-term effective tax rate.

•

Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA represents net loss adjusted to exclude, if applicable: (1) amortization of intangible assets, (2) depreciation and
amortization, (3) stock-based compensation expense, (4) impairment charges or asset write-offs, (5) interest expense, (6) amortization of debt issuance
costs, (7) other expense (income), net, (8) costs related to public stock offerings and (9) income tax (benefit) expense.

•

Free cash flow represents net cash provided by operating activities less capitalized software development costs and capital expenditures.

Management believes that these non-GAAP financial measures, when viewed with our results under U.S. GAAP and the accompanying reconciliations,
provide useful information about our period-over-period growth and provide additional information that is useful for evaluating our operating performance. In
addition, free cash flow provides management with useful information for managing the cash needs of our business. Management also believes that these nonGAAP financial measures provide a more meaningful comparison of our operating results against those of other companies in our industry, as well as on a
period-over-period basis, because these measures exclude items that are not representative of our operating performance, such as amortization of intangible
assets, interest expense and fair value adjustments to the interest rate swap that matured on June 30, 2012. Management believes that including these costs in
our results of operations results in a lack of comparability between our operating results and those of our peers in the industry, the majority of which are not
highly leveraged and do not have comparable amortization expense related to intangible assets. However, non-GAAP adjusted gross profit, non-GAAP adjusted
operating income, non-GAAP adjusted net income, non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow are not measures of financial performance under U.S.

GAAP and, accordingly, should not be considered as substitutes for or superior to gross profit, loss from operations, net loss and net cash provided by
operating activities as indicators of operating performance.

The table below provides reconciliations of U.S. GAAP financial measures to the non-GAAP financial measures discussed above:
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Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

(In Thousands)

Gross profit
Gross margin
Cost of revenue – amortization of intangible assets
Cost of revenue – stock-based compensation expense

$

Non-GAAP adjusted gross profit

$

Non-GAAP adjusted gross margin
(Loss) income from operations
Amortization of intangible assets
Stock-based compensation expense
Impairment of capitalized software
Costs related to public stock offerings

$

Non-GAAP adjusted operating income

$

Net loss before income tax
Amortization of intangible assets
Stock-based compensation expense
Impairment of capitalized software
Costs related to debt repayments
Costs related to public stock offerings

$

Non-GAAP adjusted net income before tax
Non-GAAP income tax expense

Non-GAAP adjusted net income

$

Net loss
Amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Impairment of capitalized software

$

Interest expense

Amortization of debt issuance costs
Other expense (income), net (1)
Costs related to public stock offerings
Income tax (benefit) expense

$

Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA

Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA margin
Net cash provided by operating activities
Capitalized software development costs
Capital expenditures

$

Free cash flow

$

169,611
$
72.3%
8,136
692
178,439
$
76.1%
(15,894) $
23,644
8,286
—
—
16,036
$
(20,627)
23,644
8,286
—
—
—
11,303
4,295
7,008

$

(15,278)
23,644
20,864
8,286
—
4,136
358
239
—
(5,349)
36,900
15.7%
42,009
(20,495)
(6,976)
14,538

154,313
$
71.2%
10,369
445
165,127
$

157,119
73.6%
13,237

76.2%

79.9%
8,860
28,630
8,708
—
57
46,255

(22,300)

$

25,774
6,561
8,715
—
18,750

$

(27,605)
25,774
6,561
8,715

$

47

$

—
13,492
5,127
8,365

$

$

(17,380)

$

25,774
18,567
6,561
8,715
6,435

$
$

$

(31)

28,630
8,708
—
—
57
37,364
13,825
23,539
(1,243)

28,630
19,999
8,708
—
10,645
1,369

740

(1,870)
—
(10,225)
37,317

310

170,666

(3,123)

$

17.2%
35,186
$
(18,013)
(8,014)
9,159
$

57
1,212
66,254
31.0%
54,726
(18,718)
(5,115)
30,893

(1) Other expense (income), net primarily includes fair value adjustments to our interest rate swap which matured on June 30, 2012 and foreign currency transaction gains and losses.
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Components of Operating Results

Sources of Revenue
We derive revenue principally through fixed commitment contracts under which we provide customers with various services, including access to our cloudbased Intralinks Platform, access to one or more of our Intralinks exchanges, the related customer support and other services. Our management operates the
business in one reportable segment, assessing performance and making operating decisions based on one single operating unit. However, to date we have
monitored certain revenue metrics and trends by principal markets, as defined belo w. We also monitor the mix of "subscription" and "transaction" customers
(as defined in "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates") within these markets, as well as revenue growth in international locations.
The following represent our principal markets:

•

Mergers & Acquisitions (M&A) comprises customers spanning a variety of industries, including financial services, pharmaceutical,
biotechnology, consumer, energy, industrial, legal, insurance, real estate and technology, who use Intralinks exchanges for project-based
transactions, such as mergers, acquisitions and dispositions. These customers are typically referred to us by financial or legal advisors involved in
the respective transactions. This principal market is generally characterized by the use of the Intralinks Platform under transaction arrangements.

•

Enterprise comprises customers, across the same variety of industries described above, who use the Intralinks Platform for a wide range of
corporate purposes, primarily under subscription arrangements.

•

Debt Capital Markets (DCM) primarily comprises customers within the financial services industry who use Intralinks exchanges for loan
syndication and administration, and is generally characterized by the use of the Intralinks Platform under subscription arrangements.

We believe our revenue growth will be driven by our ongoing investments in our platform and in enhanced service offerings, by improving our mid-market
coverage, by expanding our focus on underrepresented geographies and by increasing our overall market share in our strategic transactions business. We
believe that making continued investments in our platform, services and operational infrastructure will allow us to service more clients, including those with
larger-scale requirements.

Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2011, we received insurance proceeds totaling $0.6 million, as a result of one of our primary facilities
sustaining water damage from a fire on a floor above, which resulted in an interruption in our operations. We filed a claim under our business interruption
insurance policy for lost revenue caused by the down-time experienced subsequent to the loss event. The business interruption insurance proceeds are
classified as "Other Revenue" in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue primarily consists of (i) personnel-related costs, including non-cash stock-based compensation, (ii) expenses for third-party contractors
providing customer support and project management services, (iii) expenses related to hosting our service, including Internet connectivity, co-location
management and data storage fees, (iv) depreciation expenses for hardware, (v) amortization expenses associated with capitalized software and definite-lived
intangible assets and (vi) allocated overhead. Our hosting provider charges us a monthly fee based on the number of servers, the amount of storage and the
levels of network connectivity required. We allocate overhead, such as facilities and telecommunication charges, to all departments based on headcount, which
we consider to be a fair and representative means of allocation. As such, general overhead expenses are reflected in our cost of revenue and operating expenses
categories.

We will continue to make investments in our platform and services, which may include direct investments in our technology, client services group and our
hosting infrastructure. The level and timing of investments in these areas could affect our cost of revenue, both in terms of absolute dollars and as a percentage
of revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin
Our gross profit and margin are driven by our ability to manage the costs of providing our service as revenue increases or decreases. As noted under "Cost of
Revenue" above, we intend to continue making investments in personnel, including our client service group, and other initiatives directly related to the
development of our technology.

Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing - Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs, including commissions paid to our sales representatives
and non-cash stock-based compensation for equity granted to our sales and marketing staff. Sales and marketing expenses also include payments to channel
partners, costs of marketing programs and amortization expense for certain definite-lived intangible assets. Our marketing programs include advertising,
events and conferences, corporate communications, public relations and other brand building and product marketing expenses.
We expect that sales and marketing expenses will increase in absolute dollars as we continue to invest in additional direct sales
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personnel in order to add new customers in our existing markets and geographical locations, as well as in emerging global markets. Additionally, we intend to
focus on expanding our partnering efforts and allocating more resources to marketing activities, including building greater brand awareness and sponsoring
additional marketing events.

General and Administrative - General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs, including non-cash stock-based
compensation, for our finance and accounting, legal, human resources, administrative, and internal business systems personnel, amortization expense for
certain definite-lived intangible assets, as well as non-personnel costs such as professional fees and other corporate and public company expenses.

We expect that general and administrative expenses will increase in absolute dollars in connection with our continued efforts to make infrastructure
enhancements and improvements.

Product Development - Product development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs, including non-cash stock-based compensation, and
consulting expenses associated with the design, development and testing of our systems. We capitalize direct costs of services used in developing internal-use
software, including both internal and external direct labor costs. Costs incurred during the preliminary project stage, as well as maintenance and training
costs, are expensed as incurred.
We expect that product development expenses will increase in absolute dollars as we extend our service offerings and develop new technologies to ensure our
service integrates and performs well with existing and future leading databases, applications, operating systems and other platforms, and keeps pace with
technological change in our industry. Depending on the nature and levels of work undertaken, the amount of product development costs that are capitalized
may fluctuate from period to period, which may affect our operating expenses, both in terms of absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue.

Non-Operating Expenses
Non-operating expenses consist of: (i) interest expense related to our long-term debt, (ii) amortization of debt issuance costs, which are being amortized over the
remaining life of the related loan, (iii) foreign currency transactions gains and losses, primarily driven by fluctuations between the U.S. Dollar, Pound Sterling

and Euro, (iv) fair value adjustments to our interest rate swap which matured on June 30, 2012 and (v) interest income generated from our short-term
investments.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
We are subject to income tax in the U.S. as well as other countries in which we conduct business. Earnings from our non-U.S. activities are subject to local
country income tax and may also be subject to current U.S. income tax based on our corporate structure and operations. Our effective tax rate differs from the
U.S. statutory rate primarily as a result of stock-based compensation, other non-deductible expenses, research and development credits, state taxes, and
taxation of our foreign operations.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us, on an ongoing basis, to make estimates and judgments
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The following
accounting estimates are viewed by management to be critical because they require significant judgment on the part of management. Management has discussed
and reviewed the development, selection, and disclosure of critical accounting estimates with our Audit Committee.
Among the estimates we review are those related to the determination of the fair value of stock options and estimated forfeitures of equity-based awards, the fair
value of our single reporting unit, valuation of intangible assets (and their related useful lives), fair value of financial instruments, certain components of the
income tax provisions, including valuation allowances on deferred tax assets, accruals for certain compensation expenses, allowances for doubtful accounts
and reserves for customer credits. We base our estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be reasonable

under the circumstances. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Actual results may differ from those estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. Our financial results could be materially different if other methodologies were used or if management modified its assumptions.
During the year ended December 31, 2013 , there were no material changes to our significant accounting policies from those included in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 .

Revenue Recognition
We derive revenue principally through fixed commitment contracts under which we provide customers various services, including access to our cloud-based
Intralinks Platform, which includes our Intralinks exchanges, as well as the related customer support and other services.
We currently sell our services under service contracts that we categorize as either "subscription" or "transaction" arrangements,
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as follows:

•

Subscription arrangements include those customer contracts with an initial term of 12 months or more that automatically renew for successive terms

of at least 12 months. Because some long-term customers will not accept automatic renewal terms, we also consider among our subscription
customers those whose contracts have been extended upon mutual agreement for at least one renewal term of at least 12 months. We believe
subscription arrangements appeal mainly to customers that have integrated our service offerings into their business processes and plan to use our
service offerings for a series of expected projects or on an ongoing basis. Subscription arrangements afford customers of our exchange products
several benefits, including the ability to manage the creation, opening and closing of any number of exchanges at their convenience during the
commitment period, and potentially lower pricing than they would generally be charged under a single-event contract.

•

Transaction arrangements include those customer contracts with an initial term of less than 12 months. We also consider transaction customers to be

those first-time customers whose contracts do not have an automatic renewal clause and who have not yet renewed their contracts by mutual
agreement. We believe these types of arrangements appeal mainly to customers who have a single discrete project. Unlike subscription contracts,
which generally renew for at least one year at a time, transaction contracts continue in effect after their initial term on a month-to-month basis until the
customer terminates, often by closing the relevant exchange.

Revenue from both subscription and transaction contracts is recognized ratably over the contracted service period, provided that there is persuasive evidence of
an arrangement, the service has been provided to the customer, collection is reasonably assured, the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or
determinable and we have no significant remaining obligation at the completion of the contracted term. In circumstances where we have a significant remaining
obligation after completion of the initial contract term, revenue is recognized ratably over the extended service period. Our contracts do not contain general rights
of return.

Under most subscription arrangements for our exchange offering, an annual fixed commitment fee is determined based on the aggregate value of the expected
number of exchanges required over the term, the type of exchanges expected to be opened, the number of users that are expected to access each exchange and the
volume of data expected to be managed in the exchanges. We bill customers with annual commitment fees in advance, generally in four equal quarterly
installments. Similarly, a transaction contract for a single project will have a fee covering services for the expected duration of the project, for which we
generally bill customers in full, in advance, upon the commencement of the contract. Subscription and transaction fees billed in advance are recorded initially
in accounts receivable and deferred revenue, until such time that the relevant revenue recognition criteria have been met, at which time the related amounts are
included in revenue.

Annual subscription fees, as well as the fixed fees payable upfront under transaction contracts, are payable in full and are non-refundable regardless of actual

usage of services. Similarly, while customers may close exchanges and cease using services, our contracts generally do not allow for cancellation or
termination for convenience during the contract term. We reserve the right under subscription and transaction contracts to charge customers for loading data or
adding users to exchanges in excess of their original usage estimates. Incremental fees for overages are billed monthly or quarterly in arrears and the related
revenue is recognized ratably from the point that the overage is measured through the remaining contract term, or the remaining contract quarter, depending on
the usage terms within the customer contract.

Our customers do not have a contractual right, or the ability, to take possession of the Intralinks software at any time during the hosting period, or to contract
with an unrelated third party to host the Intralinks software. Therefore, revenue recognition for our services is not accounted for under the specific guidance of
the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or the FASB, on software revenue recognition. We recognize revenue for our services ratably over the related service
period, as described above.
We offer our services to customers through single-element and multiple-element arrangements, some of which contain offerings for optional services, including
document scanning, data archiving and other professional services. In accordance with the FASB's guidance on multiple-deliverable arrangements, we have
evaluated the deliverables in our arrangements to determine whether they represent separate units of accounting and, specifically whether the deliverables have
value to our customers on a standalone basis. We have determined that the services delivered to customers under our existing arrangements generally represent a
single unit of accounting. Revenue for optional services is recognized as delivered, or as completed, provided that the general revenue recognition criteria
described above are met. We will continue to evaluate the nature of the services offered to customers under our fixed commitment contracts, as well as our
pricing practices, to determine if a change in policy regarding multiple-element arrangements and related disclosures is warranted in future periods.

Additionally, certain of our contracts contain provisions for set-up, implementation and other professional services relating to the customer's use of our
platform. We believe that these set-up, implementation and other professional services provide value to the customer over the entire period that the exchange is

active, including renewal periods, and therefore the revenue related to these services is recognized over the longer of the contract term or the estimated
relationship life. We continue to evaluate the length of the amortization period of the revenue related to set-up, implementation and other professional service
fees, as we gain more
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experience with customer contract renewals.

From time to time we agree to sales concessions with our customers; a reserve for which is estimated based on historical patterns of actual credits issued.
Expenses associated with maintaining this reserve are recorded as a reduction to revenue.
Deferred revenue represents the billed but unearned portion of existing contracts for services to be provided. Deferred revenue does not include the unbilled
portion of existing contractual commitments of our customers. Accordingly, our deferred revenue balance does not represent the total contract value of
outstanding arrangements. Amounts that have been invoiced but not yet collected are recorded as revenue or deferred revenue, as appropriate, and are included
in our accounts receivable balances. Deferred revenue that will be recognized during the subsequent 12-month period is classified as "Deferred revenue," with
the remaining portion as non-current deferred revenue as a component of "Other long-term liabilities" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Stock-Based Compensation - We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of options granted under our 2007 Stock Option and
Grant Plan and 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, as well as the rights awarded under our 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP. Using this model, fair
value is calculated based on assumptions with respect to (i) the expected volatility of our common stock price, (ii) the expected life of the award, which for
options is the period of time over which equity recipients are expected to hold their options prior to exercise and for ESPP rights is the period of time between the
offering date and the exercise date (as defined in Note 12 to our Consolidated Financial Statements), (iii) expected dividend yield on our common stock, and
(iv) a risk-free interest rate, which is based on quoted U.S. Treasury rates for securities with maturities approximating the expected term. The use of different

assumptions in the Black-Scholes pricing model would result in different amounts of stock-based compensation expense. Furthermore, if we were to use
different assumptions in future periods, stock-based compensation expense could be materially impacted in the future.
The fair value of restricted shares of common stock, or RSAs, and restricted stock units, or RSUs, is generally determined using the intrinsic value of our
common stock at the time of grant, with the exception of the 0.5 million performance based RSAs issued to our Chief Executive Officer on February 1, 2012.
The fair value of the performance based RSAs was determined using a Monte-Carlo simulation.

We do not have a significant history of market prices, and as such, we estimate volatility in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Staff
Accounting Bulletin Topic 14 D.1, using historical volatilities of similar public companies. We based our analysis of expected volatility on reported data for a
peer group of companies within our industry, using an average of the historical volatility measures of this peer group of companies. We intend to continue to
consistently apply this process using the same or similar entities until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of our own stock
price becomes available, or unless circumstances change such that the identified entities are no longer similar to us, in which case, we would select and use in
the calculation publicly available share price information for more suitable entities. Once a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility
of our share price becomes available, we will utilize the closing prices of our publicly-traded common stock to determine our volatility. The expected life of
options has been determined using the "simplified" method, which uses the midpoint between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term. We utilize
the simplified method of determining the expected life of options due to the limited period of time our common stock has been publicly traded, thus resulting in
a lack of sufficient historical exercise data in a publicly traded environment to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term. We intend to
continue to consistently apply the simplified method until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding exercise data in a publicly traded
environment becomes available. The risk-free interest rate is based on quoted U.S. Treasury rates for securities with maturities approximating the award's
expected term. The expected dividend yield is zero as we never paid dividends and do not currently anticipate paying any in the foreseeable future.

Stocked-based compensation expense for stock options is recorded over the requisite service period, less estimated forfeitures. For grants of RSAs and RSUs,
we record stock-based compensation expense based on the fair value of the shares on the grant date over the requisite service period, less estimated forfeitures.
Stock-based compensation expense for ESPP rights is recorded in line with each respective offering period.
We utilize an estimated forfeiture rate when calculating expense for the period. We consider several factors when estimating future forfeitures, including types

of awards, employee level and historical experience. If this estimated rate changes in future periods due to different actual forfeitures, our stock-based
compensation expense may increase or decrease significantly. If there are any modifications or cancellations of the underlying unvested securities or the terms
of the awards, we may be required to accelerate, increase or cancel any remaining unamortized stock-based compensation.

Income Taxes - We account for income taxes on the asset and liability method pursuant to ASC 740, Income Taxes. Under this method, deferred income tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards, and temporary differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred income taxes are measured using enacted tax rates
applicable to taxable income in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred income taxes of a change in tax rates
is recognized in our results of operations in the period that includes the enactment date.
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We assess whether it is necessary to establish a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred income tax assets if we conclude that it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of our deferred income tax assets will not be realized. Our evaluation includes assessing both positive (e.g., sources of taxable income) and
negative (e.g., recent historical losses) evidence potentially impacting their realizability.
We recognize the impact of an uncertain tax position in our financial statements if, based on the technical merits of the position, we believe the position is more-

likely-than-not sustainable upon audit. This involves the identification of potential uncertain tax positions, the evaluation of relevant tax law and an
assessment of whether a liability for each uncertain tax position is necessary. We operate and are subject to audit in multiple taxing jurisdictions. We record
interest expense and penalties on uncertain tax positions as part of income tax expense.

Investments - Our investment portfolio may at any time contain investments in U.S. Treasury obligations, securities guaranteed by the U.S. government,
certificates of deposit, corporate notes and bonds, medium-term notes, commercial paper, and money market mutual funds, each with original maturities less
than one year. Our investments with original maturity dates of less than three months from the purchase date are included in "Cash and cash equivalents" on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Our investments with original maturity dates in excess of three months, but less than
one year, from the purchase date are classified as short-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Short-term
investments classified as held-to-maturity are recorded at amortized cost. Interest earned on short-term investments is included in "Other expense (income), net"
on the Consolidated Statements of Operations, included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The carrying amounts of our cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments classified as held-to-maturity,
accounts receivable, accounts payable and other accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. See "Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities" below for a discussion of our accounting policy for our interest rate swap, which matured during 2012.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - We evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts on a quarterly basis. This evaluation includes historical
loss experience, length of time receivables are past due, adverse situations that may affect a customer's ability to pay its obligation to us and prevailing market
conditions. This evaluation is inherently subjective and estimates may be revised as more information becomes available.

Software Development Costs - We account for the cost of computer software developed or obtained for internal use by capitalizing qualifying costs that are
incurred during the application development stage and amortizing them over the expected period of benefit, which we have determined to be three years for most
internally developed software. Amortization begins when the software is ready for its intended use. Costs incurred in the preliminary and post-implementation
stages of our products are expensed as incurred. The amounts capitalized include external direct costs of services used in developing internal-use software,
payroll and payroll-related costs of employees directly associated with the development activities and interest. Software development costs are evaluated for
recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. During 2012, the Company
recorded an impairment loss on certain internal-use capitalized software of $8.7 million .

Goodwill - At December 31, 2013, we have $215.9 million of goodwill. Goodwill is assessed for impairment annually as of October 1 or more frequently if
an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. The goodwill
impairment test is based on our single operating segment and reporting unit structure. No goodwill impairment was identified in any of the years presented.

In 2011, the FASB issued authoritative guidance which gives entities the option to qualitatively assess whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If the entity elects to perform a qualitative assessment and concludes it is not more likely than not that the fair
value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, no further assessment of that reporting unit's goodwill is necessary; otherwise goodwill must be tested
for impairment using a two-step process. The first step involves a comparison of the estimated fair value of an entity's reporting unit to its carrying value,
including goodwill. If the estimated fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, goodwill of the reporting unit is not impaired and the second step of
the impairment test is not necessary. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value, then the second step of the goodwill impairment
test must be performed. The second step of the goodwill impairment test compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill with its carrying value
to measure the amount of impairment, if any. If the carrying value of a reporting unit's goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment
is recognized in an amount equal to that excess.

The process of evaluating the potential impairment of goodwill is highly subjective and requires significant judgment. When performing the quantitative
analysis, we utilize valuation techniques consistent with the market approach and income approach to measure fair value for purposes of impairment testing.
An estimate of fair value can be affected by many assumptions, requiring that management make significant judgments in arriving at these estimates,
including the expected operational performance of our business in the future, market conditions and other factors. Although there are inherent uncertainties in
this assessment process, the estimates and assumptions we use to estimate future cash flows - including sales growth, pricing of our services, market
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penetration, competition, technological obsolescence, fair value of net operating loss carryforwards and discount rates - are consistent with our internal
planning. Significant changes in these estimates and the related assumptions, changes in market capitalization, or changes in qualitative factors affecting us in
the future, could result in an impairment charge related to our goodwill.

While there were no qualitative factors that suggested the fair value of Intralinks was less than the carrying value, we elected to perform a quantitative
impairment assessment as of October 1, 2013. Step 1 of the goodwill impairment test was performed using a combination of a market approach and an
income approach using a discounted cash flow, or DCF, analysis. The market approach considered our market capitalization as of October 1, 2013, adjusted
for an estimated equity control premium of 20%. The estimated cash flows utilized in the DCF analysis were based on our most recent budget and business
plans and, for years beyond the budget, our best estimate of future results, based, in part, on forecasted growth rates. Assumptions used in the DCF analysis
include a 13% discount rate. Based on the results of the quantitative assessment, the estimated fair value of the Company's single reporting unit exceeds its
carrying value and the second step of the impairment test is not necessary.

Other Intangible and Long-Lived Assets - Our definite-lived intangible assets include developed technology, customer relationships, trade names and noncompete agreements. Developed technology is amortized over its estimated useful life at a rate consistent with the expected future cash flows to be generated by
the asset. All other definite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Other long-lived assets primarily consist of computer equipment, capitalized software, furniture, fixtures, office equipment and leasehold improvements,
which are subject to depreciation over the useful life of the asset. The useful lives of our definite-lived intangible and other long-lived assets are determined
based on our estimate of the period over which the asset will be utilized; such periods are periodically reviewed for reasonableness. We may be required to
change these estimates based on changes in our industry or other changing circumstances. If these estimates change in the future, we may be required to
recognize increased or decreased depreciation expense for these assets.

Other intangible and long-lived assets are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset
may not be recoverable. In evaluating an asset for recoverability, we estimate the future cash flow expected to result from the use of the asset and eventual
disposition. If the expected future undiscounted cash flow is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss, equal to the excess of the carrying

amount over the fair value of the asset, is recognized. No impairments were recorded on long-lived assets for the periods presented in the Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

The process of assessing potential impairment of our definite-lived intangible and long-lived assets is highly subjective and requires significant judgment. An
estimate of future undiscounted cash flow can be affected by many assumptions, requiring that management make significant judgments in arriving at these
estimates, which include sales growth, pricing of our services, market penetration, competition and technological obsolescence. In each of the years presented,
we did not identify any indicators of impairment related to our definite-lived intangible and long-lived assets, and therefore were not required to assess
impairment utilizing an undiscounted cash flow model. However, significant future changes in these estimates or their related assumptions could result in an
impairment charge related to individual or groups of these assets.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities - Until its maturity in June 2012, we maintained an interest rate swap agreement that economically hedged our
exposure to changes in the amounts of future cash flows, driven by the variable rates associated with our long-term debt. Our interest rate swap was recorded
on the balance sheet at fair value. The fair value of the interest rate swap was measured each reporting period and included a credit valuation adjustment that
reflected consideration of our own credit risk, since the interest rate swap was in a liability position. We do not hold derivatives and do not use financial
instruments for any trading or other speculative purposes.

Warranties and Indemnification - Our revenue generating contracts generally provide for indemnification of customers against liabilities arising from third
party claims that are attributable to the breach of warranties or infringement of third party intellectual property rights, subject to contractual limitations of
liability. To date, we have not incurred any material costs as a result of these indemnification obligations and have not accrued any liabilities related to these
obligations in the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K as we currently have no infringement or warranty related disputes
with customers or third parties.
We have entered into contracts that include service level agreements with some of our customers in which we have warranted that we will provide certain levels
of uptime. A subset of those customers have the explicit right, under the terms of their contracts, to receive credits or terminate their agreement in the event that
we fail to meet those stated service levels. To date, we have not provided credits nor had any agreement canceled based on these service level agreements.

We warrant that our service is provided in a manner reasonably designed for the secure transmission of customer data. We do not monitor our exposure to
customer contracts in terms of maximum payout. In the event of an infringement claim giving rise to indemnification liability, we have the right to satisfy our
obligations to our customers by providing them with a workaround or
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by suspending or terminating their service to mitigate any liability. We rely on a risk framework to define risk tolerances and establish limits to ensure that
certain risk-related losses occur within acceptable, predefined limits. Factors that we consider in determining exposure include the fact that we disclaim
liability for consequential and indirect damages, including for loss of data, resulting from any breach of contract and that we, to date, have not had to do any
make-good rework or been impacted by any payout in connection with any of these guarantees. Thus, the potential for us to be required to make payments
under these arrangements is remote and, accordingly, no contingent liability is carried on the Consolidated Balance Sheet included elsewhere in this Form 10-K
for these transactions.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2013, the FASB issued new accounting guidelines that require disclosure of amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income
to net income. The adoption of this accounting guidance, which became effective and was adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2013, had no material
impact on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.
In June 2013, the FASB ratified accounting guidance proposed by the Emerging Issues Task Force that requires entities to present an unrecognized tax benefit
net with certain deferred tax assets when specific requirements are met. The amendments in this updated guidance are effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2013. The effect of this guidance has no impact on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth Consolidated Statements of Operations data as a percentage of total revenues.
Years Ended December 31,

2013

Revenue

Other revenue

Total revenue
Cost of revenue

Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Product development
Impairment of capitalized software
Total operating expenses
(Loss) income from operations

2012

Amortization of debt issuance costs
Other expense (income), net

—%

—%

0.3 %

100.0 %

100.0 %

100.0 %

27.7 %
72.3 %

28.8 %
71.2 %

26.4 %
73.6 %

46.2 %

44.4 %
23.4 %
9.7 %
4.0 %

41.6 %
19.1 %
8.7 %
—%
69.4 %

79.1 %
(6.8)%
1.8 %

81.5 %

0.2 %
0.1 %

0.3 %
(0.9)%
(12.7)%
(4.7)%
(8.0)%

(8.8)%
(2.3)%
(6.5)%

Net loss before income tax
Income tax (benefit) expense

Net loss
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99.7 %

100.0 %

24.3 %
8.5 %
—%

Interest expense

2011

100.0 %

(10.3)%

4.1 %

3.0 %

5.0 %
0.6 %
(1.5)%
0.0%

0.6 %
(0.6)%
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Comparison of the Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Revenue
Total revenue was $234.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 , up $17.8 million or 8.2% from $216.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2012, primarily due to a 20.6% increase in M&A revenue.
% Revenue
Years Ended December 31,

2013

Increase
(Decrease)

2012

% Increase
(Decrease)

Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

(In Thousands)

M&A
Enterprise
DCM

$

Total revenue

$

110,456
95,246
28,794
234,496

$

91,606
94,616

$

216,667

20.6 %

630

0.7 %
(5.4)%

47.1%
40.6%
12.3%

42.3%
43.7%
14.0%

8.2 %

100%

100%

(1,651)
17,829

30,445

$

18,850

$

M&A — The results for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflect an increase in M&A revenue of $18.9 million , or 20.6%, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 . The increase in M&A revenue reflects a higher volume of strategic business transactions, larger deal sizes, a price increase and market
share gains in each of the geographic regions in which we operate.

Enterprise — The results for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflect a nominal increase in Enterprise revenue of $0.6 million , or 0.7%, as compared to the
year ended December 31, 2012 , due primarily to new subscriptions sales.

DCM — The results for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflect a decrease in DCM revenue of $1.7 million , or 5.4%, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 . The decrease in DCM revenue primarily reflects the net cumulative impact of 2012 contract cancellations, partially offset by the impact
of a higher volume of loan syndication market transactions.

We believe our revenue growth will be driven, barring unforeseen circumstances, by our ongoing investments in our platform and in enhanced service
offerings such as our Intralinks VIA offering, by improving our mid-market advisory firm coverage, by expanding our focus on underrepresented geographies
and by increasing our overall market share in our strategic transactions business. We believe that our continued investments in our platform, services and
operational infrastructure will allow us to service a greater number of clients more efficiently, including those with larger-scale requirements.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit
Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

Increase

% Increase

(In Thousands)

$
$

Cost of revenue
Gross profit

Gross margin

64,885
$
169,611
$
72.3%

62,354
$
154,313
71.2%

2,531
15,298
1.1%

4.1%

9.9%

Cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased $2.5 million, or 4.1%, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 , due to a $3.1
million increase in depreciation and amortization primarily related to the enhancement of our service offerings and an increase of $1.7 million in salaries and
related expense, which was primarily related to incentive compensation and severance, partially offset by a decrease of $2.2 million in amortization of
intangible assets in accordance with the amortization schedule associated with these intangible assets. Gross margin increased 1.1% due to the $17.8 million
increase in revenue, primarily related to the growth in M&A revenue, partially offset by an increase of $2.5 million in cost of revenue.

Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased by $8.9 million, or 5.0%, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 .
Excluding an impairment charge taken in 2012, operating expenses increased by 17.6 million , or10.5%.
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Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

% Increase
Increase (Decrease)

(Decrease)

(In Thousands)

$

Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Product development
Impairment of capitalized software

$

Total operating expenses

$

108,428
57,063
20,014
—
185,505

$

96,198
50,608
21,092
8,715
176,613

$

12.7 %
12.8 %
(5.1)%
NM
5.0 %

12,230
6,455
(1,078)
(8,715)
8,892

$

Sales and Marketing — The results for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflect an increase in sales and marketing expense of $12.2 million , or 12.7%, as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 , driven by increases in (i) salaries, commission and related expense of $6.1 million mostly from increased
headcount and incentive compensation, (ii) marketing expense of $2.4 million related to the launch of Intralinks VIA and our new corporate branding, (iii)
commissions of $2.0 million paid to partners primarily related to an initiative to drive an increase in renewal rates, (iv) travel and entertainment expenses of
$1.5 million primarily due to the execution of our redesigned sales model, along with increased headcount and (v) professional fees of $1.2 million related to
our strategic initiatives.

General and Administrative — The results for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflect an increase in general and administrative expense of $6.5 million,
or 12.8%, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 , driven by an increase of $6.5 million in salaries and related expense primarily due to increases
in headcount, incentive compensation and stock-based compensation expense, as well as the 2013 transfer of certain employees, who now support our internal
business systems, from our product development group to our general and administrative group.

Product Development — The results for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflect a decrease in product development expense of $1.1 million , or 5.1%, as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 , driven by (i) a decrease of $2.1 million in salaries and related expense that resulted from (a) a greater
percentage of product development costs being capitalized, including work on Intralinks VIA, our new Enterprise-focused content sharing and collaboration
solution, as well as development of enhanced functionality in our DCM and M&A products, and (b) the 2013 transfer of certain employees, who now support
our internal business systems, from our product development group to our general and administrative group, and (ii) a decrease of $0.3 million in depreciation
and amortization. These decreases were partially offset by an increase of $1.8 million in consulting expense, primarily related to product architectural work
and pre-production support.
Total product development costs are comprised of both capitalized software and product development expense.
Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

Increase
(Decrease)

% Increase
(Decrease)

(In Thousands)

Capitalized software
Product development expense

$

Total product development costs

$

21,761 $
20,014

41,775 $

18,013 $
21,092
39,105 $

3,748
(1,078)
2,670

20.8 %
(5.1)%
6.8 %

The increase in total product development costs of $2.7 million , or 6.8%, reflects a higher level of spending to support our new Enterprise-focused content
sharing and collaboration solution, as well as development of enhanced functionality in our DCM and M&A products.

Impairment of Capitalized Software — The results for the year ended December 31, 2012 include an impairment loss of $8.7 million related to certain
internal-use capitalized software that was recorded in conjunction with our strategic review, as management decided at that time to replace certain server-based
systems with SaaS-based solutions.
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Non-Operating Expenses
Years Ended December 31,

2013

% Increase

Increase
(Decrease)

2012

(Decrease)

(In Thousands)

$
$
$

Interest expense

Amortization of debt issuance costs
Other expense (income), net

4,136
358
239

$
$
$

6,435

$
$
(1,870) $
740

(2,299)
(382)
(2,109)

(35.7)%
(51.6)%
112.8 %

Interest Expense — Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 decreased by $2.3 million , or 35.7% as compared to the year ended December 31,
2012. Including interest capitalized in 2013 of $0.5 million, interest expense decreased $1.8 million or 27.7%, which was primarily driven by the expiration
of the interest rate swap as of June 30, 2012 and a lower outstanding debt balance due to principal repayments, partially offset by a higher interest rate on our
Prior Credit Facility.

Amortization of Debt Issuance Costs — Amortization of debt issuance costs for the year ended December 31, 2013 decreased by $0.4 million , or 51.6%, as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 , due to certain debt issuance costs that became fully amortized subsequent to December 31, 2012.

Other Expense (Income), Net — Other expense (income), net for the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily relates to foreign currency transaction losses.
Other expense (income), net for the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily relates to a $1.5 million gain associated with the fair value adjustment to our
interest rate swap that matured on June 30, 2012.

Income Tax Benefit
For the year ended December 31, 2013 , our income tax benefit totaled $5.3 million representing an effective tax rate of 25.9%. For the year ended December 31,
2012, our income tax benefit totaled $10.2 million , representing an effective tax rate of 37.0%. The differences between our effective tax rates and the U.S.
Federal statutory income tax rate of 35% resulted primarily from non tax-deductible stock-based compensation expense, other non tax-deductible expenses, state
income taxes, foreign income taxes, and research and development tax credits.

During the financial statement close process for the three months ended June 30, 2013, the Company identified a prior period error totaling $0.8 million, which
was corrected and recorded as a cumulative adjustment to long-term deferred tax assets within the Consolidated Balance Sheet at June 30, 2013, and was
reflected as an income tax expense within the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013. The Company does not
believe that this adjustment is material to the Consolidated Financial Statements for any prior period or to the 2013 results.

During the financial statement close process for the three months ended March 31, 2012, the Company identified a prior period error totaling $0.8 million,
which was corrected and recorded as a cumulative adjustment to long-term deferred tax assets within the Consolidated Balance Sheet at March 31, 2012, and
was reflected as an income tax benefit within the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2012. The Company does not
believe that this adjustment is material to the Consolidated Financial Statements for any prior period or to the 2012 results.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
Revenue
Total revenue increased to $216.7 million for year ended December 31, 2012 , from $213.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2011.
% Revenue
Years Ended December 31,

2012

Increase
(Decrease)

2011

% Increase
(Decrease)

Years Ended December 31,

2012

2011

(In Thousands)

Enterprise
M&A
DCM
Other revenue

$

Total revenue

$

94,616
91,606

$

30,445

—
216,667

$

94,588
83,763
34,539
614
213,504

$

$

28
7,843
(4,094)
(614)
3,163

0.0 %

39.2%
16.2%

(100.0)%

43.7%
42.3%
14.0%
0.0%

1.5 %

100%

100%

9.4 %
(11.9)%

Enterprise — Enterprise revenue for the year ended December 31, 2012 was essentially flat as compared to the year ended
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0.3%
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December 31, 2011.

M&A — The results for the year ended December 31, 2012 reflect an increase in M&A principal market revenue of $7.8 million , or 9.4%, as compared to the
year ended December 31, 2011. The increase in M&A revenue in 2012, as compared to the prior year, reflects a higher volume of strategic business
transactions and market share gains.

DCM — The results for the year ended December 31, 2012 reflect an increase in DCM principal market revenue of $4.1 million , or 11.9%, as compared to
the year ended December 31, 2011. The results for 2012 reflect the net cumulative impact of 2012 cancellations.

Other Revenue — The results for the year ended December 31, 2011 included $0.6 million of business interruption insurance proceeds received during the
period as a result of a claim filed for lost revenue from an interruption to our operations caused by water damage to one of our primary facilities from a fire on
a floor above.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin
Years Ended December 31,

2012

Increase
(Decrease)

2011

% Increase
(Decrease)

(In Thousands)

Cost of revenue
Gross profit

$
$

62,354
$
154,313
$
71.2%

Gross margin

56,385
$
157,119
73.6%

5,969
(2,806)
(2.4)%

10.6 %
(1.8)%

The results for the year ended December 31, 2012 reflect an increase in cost of revenue of $6.0 million, o r 10.6%, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2011. The increase in cost of revenue in 2012, as compared to the prior year period, was attributed primarily to (i) an increase of $4.3 million in
personnel-related expenses, primarily salaries for additional personnel, which is in line with the investment strategy of our business, (ii) an increase of $4.0
million in support and maintenance of servers and related equipment to support expanded capacity, and (iii) a $0.7 million increase in occupancy costs to
support this additional headcount. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $2.9 million of amortization of intangible assets, in accordance with
the amortization schedule determined at the time of the Merger. Gross margin decreased 2.4% due to the $6.0 million increase in cost of revenue, partially offset
by a $3.2 million increase in revenue.

Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses for year ended December 31, 2012 increased by $28.4 million , or 19.1%, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2011.

Years Ended December 31,

2012

2011

Increase

% Increase

(In Thousands)

$

Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Product development
Impairment of capitalized software

$

Total operating expenses

96,198
50,608
21,092
8,715
176,613

$

88,872

$

40,808

$

18,579
—
148,259

$

7,326
9,800
2,513
8,715
28,354

8.2%
24.0%
13.5%
NM

19.1%

Sales and Marketing — The results for the year ended December 31, 2012 reflect an increase in sales and marketing expense of $7.3 million , or 8.2%, as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase in sales and marketing expense in 2012, as compared to the prior year period, was primarily
driven by (i) an increase of $4.9 million in personnel related expenses, primarily salaries, bonus, benefits and severance, (ii) an increase of $3.8 million
related to marketing programs and initiatives and (iii) $1.1 million in increased occupancy costs. The increases were partially offset by reductions of (i) $1.3
million in non-cash compensation, (ii) $0.7 million in recruiting expenses and (iii) $0.4 million in travel and entertainment spending.

General and Administrative — The results for the year ended December 31, 2012 reflect an increase in general and administrative expense of $9.8 million,
or 24.0%, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase in general and administrative expense in 2012, as compared to the prior year
period, was primarily driven by (i) an increase of $5.9 million of professional services related to a strategic review we undertook, improvements in
infrastructure, as well as legal, tax and audit services, (ii) an increase of $3.8 million in headcount-related expenses, comprised primarily of salaries, bonus
and benefits, and (iii) an increase
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of $1.7 million in system support and maintenance costs driven by system improvements and additional licenses to accommodate increased headcount. The
increases were partially offset by reductions of $1.1 million in non-cash compensation and $0.3 million in office expense.

Product Development — The results for the year ended December 31, 2012 reflect an increase in product development expense of $2.5 million , or 13.5%, as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2011, due primarily to an increase in headcount-related expense and the initiation of new development activities
related to our platform and software enhancements, partially offset by the completion of fully deployed projects.
Total product development costs are comprised of both capitalized software and product development expense.
Year Ended December 31,
2012

2011

% Increase

Increase
(Decrease)

(Decrease)

(In Thousands)

Capitalized software
Product development expense

$

Total product development costs

$

18,013 $
21,092
39,105 $

18,718 $
18,579
37,297 $

(705)
2,513
1,808

(3.8)%

13.5 %
4.8 %

The increase in total product development costs of $1.8 million , or 4.8%, reflects an increase of $2.5 million or 13.5% in product development expense which
reflects a higher level of spending to support our focus on Enterprise-related content sharing and collaborative solutions as well as enhanced functionality in
our DCM and M&A products. This increase was partially offset by a $0.7 million or 3.8% reduction in capitalized software due to the asset impairment.

Impairment of Capitalized Software — In conjunction with the strategy review conducted during the second quarter of 2012, we initiated a company-wide
evaluation of our internal systems. As a result of this initiative, management decided to replace certain server-based systems with SaaS-based solutions,
resulting in an impairment of certain internal-use capitalized software. Accordingly, we recorded an impairment loss on capitalized software of $8.7 million
(including incremental costs of $0.3 million representing amounts paid to the vendor to terminate the contractual relationship) for the year ended December 31,
2012.

Non-Operating Expenses
Years Ended December 31,

2012

2011

% Increase
Increase(Decrease)

(Decrease)

(In Thousands)

$
$
$

Interest expense

Amortization of debt issuance costs
Other income, net

6,435

$
$
(1,870) $
740

10,645
1,369

$
$
(3,123) $

(4,210)

(629)
(1,253)

(39.5)%
(45.9)%
(40.1)%

Interest Expense — Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2012 decreased by $4.2 million , or 39.5%, compared to the year ended December 31,
2011 due primarily to the expiration of the interest rate swap as of June 30, 2012 and a lower outstanding debt balance due to repayments of $49.6 million of
our outstanding debt on our Prior Credit Facility.

Amortization of Debt Issuance Costs — Amortization of debt issuance costs for the year ended December 31, 2012 decreased by $0.6 million , or 45.9% as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 due to the amortization of certain debt issuance costs related to the proportionate amounts of debt that were
repaid.

Other Income, Net — Other income, net for the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily relates to a $1.5 million gain associated with the fair value
adjustment to our interest rate swap liability and $0.3 million in foreign currency transaction gains. Other income, net for the year ended December 31, 2011
primarily relates to a $4.2 million gain associated with the fair value adjustment to our interest rate swap liability, partially offset by $0.9 million in foreign
currency transaction losses.
Income Tax (Benefit) Expense

For the year ended December 31, 2012 , our income tax benefit totaled $10.2 million , representing an effective tax rate of 37.0%. For the year ended
December 31, 2011, our income tax expense totaled $1.2 million , representing an effective tax rate of (3,970.2)% . The differences between our effective tax
rates and the U.S. statutory income tax rate of 35% resulted primarily from non tax-deductible stock-based compensation expense, other non tax-deductible
expenses, state income taxes, foreign income taxes and research and development tax credits. Our 2011 effective tax rate resulted from our pre-tax loss of $0.03
million relative to substantially higher non tax-deductible expenses for tax purposes, primarily stock-based compensation expense.
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During the financial statement close process for the three months ended March 31, 2012, the Company identified a prior period error totaling $0.8 million,
which was corrected and recorded as a cumulative adjustment to long-term deferred tax assets within the Consolidated Balance Sheet at March 31, 2012, and
was reflected as an income tax benefit within the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2012. The Company does not
believe that this adjustment is material to the Consolidated Financial Statements for any prior period or to the 2012 results.

Quarterly Results of Operations
The following tables set forth selected unaudited quarterly statements of operations for the eight quarters ended December 31, 2013 . The information for each
of these quarters has been prepared on the same basis as the audited Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K and, in the
opinion of management, includes all adjustments necessary for the fair presentation of the results of operations for these periods. This data should be read in
conjunction with our audited Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. These quarterly operating results are
not necessarily indicative of our operating results for any future period.
March 31, 2013

Consolidated Statement of Operations:

June 30, 2013

December 31, 2013

September 30, 2013
(In Thousands)

$

Enterprise

23,937

M&A

24,306

DCM

6,778
—
55,021
15,567
39,454

Other revenue
Total revenue

Cost of revenue
Gross profit

$

71.7%

Gross profit margin

23,576
26,321
7,845
—
57,742
16,223
41,519

$

71.9%

23,246
28,670
7,200
—
59,116
15,919
43,197
73.1%

$

24,487
31,159
6,971
—
62,617
17,176
45,441

72.6%

Operating expenses:

24,914
14,138
4,678
43,730
(4,276)
1,122

Sales and marketing
General and administrative

Product development
Total operating expenses

Loss from operations
Interest expense

27,274

29,118
15,362
5,778
50,258
(4,817)

27,122
13,844
4,878
45,844
(2,647)
1,242

13,719

4,680
45,673
(4,154)
1,152

620

Amortization of debt issuance costs

112

104

71

71

Other expense (income), net

779

189

(662)

(67)

(3,298)
(782)
(2,516)

$

(5,441)
(1,592)
(3,849)

10,707

$

8,832

Net loss before income tax
Income tax benefit

$

Net loss

Adjusted EBITDA

(1)

Adjusted EBITDA margin

$

(6,289)
(1,733)
(4,556)

$

8,515
$
15.5%

50

(5,599)
(1,242)
(4,357)

$

8,845
$
15.3%

18.1%

14.1%
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June 30, 2012

March 31, 2012

Consolidated Statement of Operations:

December 31, 2012

September 30, 2012

(In Thousands)

$

Enterprise

23,261

M&A

19,977

DCM

7,547
—
50,785
15,505
35,280

Other revenue
Total revenue

Cost of revenue
Gross profit

$

69.5%

Gross profit margin

$

23,364
21,483
8,918
—
53,765
16,222
37,543

$

23,822
23,905
7,026
—
54,753
15,209
39,544

69.8%

24,170
26,240

6,954
—
57,364
15,419
41,945
73.1%

72.2%

Operating expenses:

24,392
12,165
4,440
—
40,997
(5,717)
2,136

Sales and marketing
General and administrative

Product development
Impairment of capitalized software

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations
Interest expense

Amortization of debt issuance costs

5,274
8,377
50,587
(13,044)

1,938

$

(1,238)
(6,806)
(1,222)
(5,584)

$

$

7,064

$

Other (income) expense, net
Net loss before income tax
Income tax benefit

Net loss

Adjusted EBITDA

14,194

191

(1)

Adjusted EBITDA margin

13.9%

25,539
11,796
6,019
338
43,692
(1,747)
1,190

23,526
12,453
5,359
—
41,338
(1,794)
1,171

22,742

223

177

149

447

(689)

(392)

(2,453)
(1,194)
(1,259)

$

(2,694)
(1,185)
(1,509)

10,567

$

(15,652)
(6,623)
(9,029)

$

8,452 $
15.7%

11,231
19.6%

19.3%

The tables below provide reconciliation of the U.S. GAAP financial measure of net loss to the non-U.S. GAAP financial measure of Adjusted EBITDA
included above. For additional details regarding non-GAAP disclosures, refer to "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" included elsewhere within this Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."
(1)

March 31, 2013

June 30, 2013

December 31, 2013

September 30, 2013

(In Thousands)

Net loss

$

Amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation and amortization

Stock-based compensation expense
Impairment of capitalized software

Interest expense

(4,556)
5,844
4,831
2,116
—
1,122

$

(4,357)
5,967
5,021
2,012
—
1,152

$

(2,516)
5,967
5,290
2,097
—
1,242

$

(3,849)
5,866
5,722
2,061
—
620

Amortization of debt issuance costs

112

104

71

71

Other expense (income), net

779

189

(662)

(67)

(1,733)

Income tax benefit

Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA

$

8,515

51

(1,242)

$

8,846

(782)

$

10,707

$

(1,592)
8,832
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March 31, 2012

June 30, 2012

September 30, 2012

December 31, 2012

(In Thousands)

Net loss

$

Amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation and amortization

Stock-based compensation expense
Impairment of capitalized software

Interest expense

Amortization of debt issuance costs
Other (income) expense, net
Income tax benefit

Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA

$

(5,584) $
7,157
4,279
1,345
—
2,136

(9,029) $

(1,259) $
5,834
4,732
1,795
—
1,171

191

223

177

149

(1,238)
(1,222)
7,064 $

447

(689)

(392)

6,937
4,491
1,691
8,377
1,938

(6,623)

(1,194)
10,567 $

8,452 $

(1,509)
5,846
5,065
1,729
338
1,190

(1,185)
11,231

Seasonality
Renewal dates for our subscription contracts are typically spread over the course of the year, though we generally experience a greater concentration of renewals

in the second and fourth fiscal quarters. However, since our revenues are primarily recognized ratably over the related service period and contracts are
generally invoiced in advance either annually or on a quarterly basis over the contract period, the impact on our revenue is not material.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
December 31, 2013 , we had $50.5 million in cash and cash equivalents, $34.9 million in short-term
investments, and $38.3 million in accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and credit reserve. We believe that we have sufficient cash
We currently use the net cash generated from operations to fund our working capital needs and our capital expenditure requirements. At

resources to continue operations for at least the next 12 to 24 months.

If the credit markets were to experience a period of disruption, as has happened in the past, that could adversely affect our access to financing, as well as our
revenue growth (due to our customer base in the DCM and M&A markets). Additionally, if the national or global economy or credit market conditions in
general were to deteriorate, it is possible that those changes could adversely affect our credit ratings, which, among other things, could have a material adverse
effect on our ability to obtain external financing or to refinance our existing indebtedness.
Our corporate credit ratings and rating agency outlooks as of December 31, 2013 are summarized in the table below.
Rating Agency

Moody's
Standard & Poor's

Rating

Outlook

B2

Stable
Stable

B+

Credit rating agencies review their ratings periodically, and therefore the credit rating assigned to us by each agency may be subject to revision at any time.
Factors that can affect our credit ratings include changes in our operating performance, the economic environment, our financial position, conditions in any of
our principal markets and changes in our business strategy. If weak financial market conditions or competitive dynamics cause any of these factors to
deteriorate, we could see a reduction in our corporate credit rating.
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Cash Flows
December 31,

2013

2012

2011

(In Thousands)

$

Cash and cash equivalents

50,540

$

43,798

46,694

Years ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

(In Thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

$

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$

42,009 $
(34,792)
(168)
(307)
6,742 $

35,186 $
(22,552)
(15,226)
(304)
(2,896) $

54,726
(59,953)
1,455
(1)
(3,773)

Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2013 was $42.0 million , as a result of $32.3 million in cash generated from
results of operations, after adjusting for non-cash items, and a net increase in our operating assets and liabilities of $9.7 million . The net increase in operating
assets and liabilities consisted primarily of: (i) an increase of $5.1 million in accounts payable due to more effective cash management, (ii) an increase of $4.1
million in accrued expenses and other liabilities primarily related to incentive compensation, and (iii) a $4.0 million increase in deferred revenue, partially
offset by (iv) an increase of $2.4 million in accounts receivable related, in part, to higher billings and (v) an increase of $1.2 million in prepaid expenses and
other assets, due primarily to prepaid licensing costs related to software infrastructure. Additionally, net cash provided by operating activities during the year
ended December 31, 2013 primarily consisted of a net loss of $15.3 million plus adjustments for non-cash items including (a) amortization of intangible
assets of $23.6 million , (b) depreciation and amortization of $20.9 million , (c) stock-based compensation expense of $8.3 million , (d) provision for bad debts
and customer credits of $1.6 million , and (e) amortization of deferred costs of $1.5 million , partially offset by (f) a reduction in net deferred tax liability of
$8.3 million .

Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2012 was $35.2 million, primarily as a result of $31.7 million in cash
generated by operations, after adjusting for non-cash items, and a net increase in our operating assets and liabilities of $3.5 million . The net increase in
operating assets and liabilities primarily consisted of an increase of $4.8 million of accrued expenses and other liabilities primarily driven by bonus,
commissions and severance, partially offset by (i) a decrease of $0.5 million of accounts payable due to the timing of payments, and (ii) $0.9 million increase
in prepaid expenses and other assets, primarily related to contractual obligations and securing more favorable vendor pricing. Additionally, net cash provided
by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2012 consisted of a net loss of $17.4 million plus adjustments for non-cash items including (a)
amortization of intangible assets of $25.8 million , (b) depreciation and amortization of $18.6 million , (c) impairment of capitalized software of $ 8.7 million ,
and (d) stock-based compensation of $6.6 million , partially offset by (e) a gain on the interest rate swap of $1.5 million .
Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2011 was $54.7 million, primarily as a result of $53.0 million in cash
generated by operations, after adjusting for non-cash items, and a net increase in our operating assets and liabilities of $1.7 million . The net increase in
operating assets and liabilities primarily consisted of (i) a $2.4 million increase in deferred revenue, primarily driven by an increase in business activity for
the period resulting in higher invoicing, and (ii) an increase of $1.9 million in accrued expenses and other liabilities, primarily driven by timing of payments,
partially offset by a $2.7 million increase in accounts receivable. Additionally, net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31,
2011 consisted of a net loss of $1.2 million plus adjustments for non-cash items including (a) amortization of intangible assets of $28.6 million, (b)
depreciation and amortization of $20.0 million , (c) stock-based compensation of $8.7 million and (d) an unrealized gain on the interest rate swap of $4.2
million.
Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $34.8 million , $22.6 million a n d $60.0 million,
respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011, purchases of investments of $47.6 million , $37.4 million and $40.1 million ,
respectively, consisted primarily of commercial paper and corporate notes and maturities of investments of $43.3 million , $41.2 million and $4.0 million ,
respectively. Cash used in investing activities related to capital
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expenditures for infrastructure during the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $7.0 million , $8.0 million and $5.1 million , respectively.

Investments in capitalized software development costs for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 were $20.5 million , $18.0 million and $18.7
million, respectively. We anticipate capital expenditures and investments in our software development may increase in future periods, in line with our growth
strategy. The covenants of our Prior Credit Facility restricted our capital expenditures, including capitalized software, to $35.0 million on an annual basis,
subject to increase or decrease by the under- or over-spend, respectively, compared to the base amount from the prior year. The annual maximum capital
expenditure limit could have been further increased at our option, by borrowing 25% of our capital expenditure availability from the succeeding year.
We restricted $2.4 million of cash during the year ended December 31, 2013 when we replaced the obligations previously covered by our now expired revolving
line of credit, which relate to office leases for our various locations, under a separate cash collateralized facility.

Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 of $0.2 million includes $0.8 million of repayments of outstanding principal on
long-term debt, $0.7 million of repayments of outstanding financing arrangements and $0.3 million of financing costs, partially offset by proceeds from the
exercise of stock options and issuance of common stock, net of withholding taxes of $1.6 million .

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2012 of $15.2 million reflects $15.9 million of debt repayments, including our
mandatory quarterly debt repayments and a voluntary prepayment on our Prior Credit Facility made in April 2012.

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2011 of $1.5 million includes $2.6 million in proceeds from the issuance of common
stock upon exercises of stock options and pursuant to our ESPP, as well as $35.0 million received in connection with our successful follow-on public stock
offering that closed in April 2011. The cash received was partially offset by $35.7 million of debt repayments made during the year ended December 31,
2011, including our mandatory quarterly debt repayments and the voluntary prepayment on our Prior Credit Facility using the net proceeds from our April
2011 follow-on public stock offering. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2011, we incurred $0.5 million of costs associated with our public
offerings.

The Prior Credit Facility provided for term loans in the aggregate principal amount of $135.0 million. Prior to June 30, 2011, each quarterly installment
payment was equal to $0.3 million. The terms of our Prior Credit Facility required any voluntary prepayment of our term loans to be applied on a pro rata
basis to each scheduled installment of principal. As of June 30, 2011, the quarterly installment payments decreased to $0.2 million as result of the voluntary
prepayment made in April 2011. Each principal payment was due on the last day of each quarter, commencing with the quarter ended September 30, 2007 and
continuing for 27 quarterly installments, with the balance due in a final installment to be due on June 15, 2014. Additionally, the Prior Credit Facility
included a requirement for mandatory prepayments of 50% of our excess free cash flow as measured on an annual basis. Excess free cash flow was generally
defined as our adjusted EBITDA less debt service costs, capital expenditures, current income taxes paid and any cash security deposits made in respect of
leases for office space, as adjusted for changes in our working capital. As a result of our fiscal 2009 excess free cash flow, we made a mandatory prepayment
on April 1, 2010 of $1.2 million. In line with the terms of the Prior Credit Facility, an excess cash flow mandatory prepayment was not required for fiscal
years 2011, 2012 and 2013 due to our Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined in the credit agreement) being less than 3.25 at December 31, 2011, 2012 and
2013.

The term loans under the Prior Credit Facility bore interest at the higher of the Eurodollar Rate (as defined in the credit agreement) or 1.50% plus 4.50% per
annum, resulting in an interest rate of 6.00% at December 31, 2013. Interest payments on the Prior Credit Facility were due on the last business day of each
month. The Prior Credit Facility also provided for a $15.0 million revolving line of credit, of which $12.9 million was unused as of December 31, 2012. As
of December 31, 2012, $1.3 million of the revolving line of credit was reserved for standby letters of credit for several of our operating lease agreements related
to our various office locations. Additionally, $0.8 million of the revolving line of credit was reserved for a standby letter of credit related to our corporate charge
card utilized by executives and certain other employees.
The Prior Credit Facility was secured by security interests and liens against all of our assets, including a pledge of 100% of the equity interests in our domestic
subsidiaries and an obligation to pledge 65% of the equity interests in our direct foreign subsidiaries.

All obligations under the Prior Credit Facility were unconditionally guaranteed by our direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries. These guarantees are secured
by substantially all the present and future property of the guarantors.
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On February 24, 2014, we refinanced all the outstanding indebtedness under our Prior Credit Facility with the proceeds of our new Term Loan Credit Facility
and we entered into our new Revolving Credit Facility. Our Term Loan Credit Facility provides for term loans in the aggregate principal amount of $80.0

million. The term loans bear interest, at our option, at either the Eurodollar rate plus a margin of 5.25% or the prime rate plus a margin of 4.25%. The
Eurodollar rate is subject to a 2.00% floor and the prime rate is subject to a 3.00% floor. We must repay the term loan in installments of $0.2 million per quarter

due on the last day of each quarter beginning with the quarter ending June 30, 2014, with the balance due in a final installment on February 24, 2019.
Additionally, the Term Loan Credit Facility includes an annual mandatory prepayment of the term loans from 50% of our excess cash flow as measured on an
annual basis, with step-downs to 25% and to 0% of our excess cash flow if our Consolidated Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Term Loan Credit Facility),

tested as of the last day of our fiscal year, is less than 2.00 to 1.00 and 1.00 to 1.00, respectively. Excess cash flow is generally defined as our adjusted
EBITDA (as defined in the Term Loan Credit Facility) less debt service costs, unfinanced capital expenditures, unfinanced acquisition expenditures, and
current income taxes paid, as adjusted for changes in our working capital. Additionally, the Term Loan Credit Facility requires mandatory prepayment of the
term loans from the net proceeds of certain asset sales outside the ordinary course of business and from proceeds of property insurance and condemnation
events, in each case subject to our right to reinvest such proceeds in assets used on our business.
Our Revolving Credit Facility provides for commitments of up to $10.0 million for general corporate purposes, working capital and letters of credit. Revolving
loan drawings are subject to a further cap based on our borrowing base, as calculated from time to time. Our borrowing base is equal to 85% of our eligible
accounts receivable, minus customary reserves established by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., our lender. Our revolving loans bear interest at the Eurodollar
rate plus 2.50%. In addition, we pay a commitment fee on the first business day of each fiscal quarter of 0.50% on the average daily unused balance under the
Revolving Credit Facility. The Revolving Credit Facility matures and the commitments thereunder terminate on the earlier of February 24, 2019 and the date
that is six months prior to the maturity date of our Term Loan Credit Facility.

Each of our Credit Facilities is secured by liens on substantially all our assets, including a pledge of 100% of the equity interests in our domestic subsidiaries
and an obligation to pledge 65% of the equity interests in our direct foreign subsidiaries. Our Revolving Credit Facility is secured by a first lien on our cash,
accounts receivable and certain other liquid collateral and a second lien on our other assets. Our Term Loan Credit Facility is secured by a second lien on our
cash, accounts receivable and certain other liquid collateral and a first lien on our other assets.

All obligations under each of our Credit Facilities are unconditionally guaranteed by our direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries. These guarantees are
secured by substantially all the present and future property of the guarantors.
Additionally, in July 2007, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement to fix the interest rate on our variable rate debt at 5.43% on a beginning notional
amount of $170.0 million that amortized over the period ended June 30, 2012. In March 2009, in conjunction with the elections made on the Prior Credit
Facility and our prior second lien credit facility variable rate bases (from three-month LIBOR to one-month LIBOR, and quarterly interest payments to
monthly), we amended the interest rate swap agreement to mirror the terms of the Prior Credit Facility and our prior second lien credit facility. The fixed rate
payable on the interest rate swap was also revised from 5.43% to 5.25%, which was the rate in effect at June 30, 2012 and 2011. The variable rate receivable
was based on one-month LIBOR. Our interest rate swap agreement matured on June 30, 2012. We recognized a gain on the interest rate swap of $1.5 million in
2012 that is included in “Other expense (income), net” on the Consolidated Statement of Operations included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
Cash paid for interest during the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $4.1 million , $6.4 million and $10.7 million , respectively.

Due to the continued positive operating performance of our business, we have not needed to borrow additional amounts under our credit facilities or obtain
additional financing to fund our operations and capital expenditures.

Covenants
The borrowings under the Credit Facilities are subject to certain affirmative and negative covenants, both financial and non-financial. These covenants include
the timely submission of unqualified audited financial statements to the lender, as well as customary restrictions on certain activities, including the following,
which are subject to lender approval, with certain exceptions:

•

incurring additional indebtedness other than in the normal course of business;

•

creating liens or other encumbrances on our assets;

•

engaging in merger or acquisition transactions;

•

making investments; and

•

entering into asset sale agreements or paying dividends or making distributions on and repurchasing our stock.
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The Term Loan Credit Facility requires us to comply with a Consolidated Net Leverage Ratio (as defined under the Term Loan Credit Facility). The
Consolidated Net Leverage Ratio must be less than or equal to 3.25 to 1.00 as of the last day of each fiscal quarter through March 31, 2015 and less than or
equal to 3.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of each fiscal quarter ending thereafter through the maturity date. For purposes of testing our Consolidated Net Leverage
Ratio, we are permitted to net from our outstanding total indebtedness up to $20.0 million of our cash and cash equivalents.
The Revolving Credit Facility includes a springing Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility), which we must comply with any
time our cash and cash equivalents held in deposit or securities accounts subject to a lien in favor of our revolving loan lenders falls below $10.0 million or if
an Event of Default (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) occurs (in either case, a “Fixed Charge Coverage Trigger Event”). The Fixed Charge Coverage

Ratio is tested as of the last day of the fiscal quarter preceding the Fixed Charge Coverage Trigger Event and as of the last day of each subsequent fiscal
quarter during the Fixed Charge Coverage Compliance Period (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility). The Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio must be greater
than or equal to 1.05 to 1.00 as of the last day of each fiscal quarter through March 31, 2015 and greater than or equal to 1.10 to 1.00 as of the last day of each
fiscal quarter ending thereafter through the maturity date.
Additionally, in order to borrow against the revolving line of credit under the Prior Credit Facility, our senior secured debt to Consolidated EBITDA ratio (as
defined under the Prior Credit Facility) for the trailing four quarters was required to have been less than 6.5 to 1.0 as of the last day of each fiscal quarter
through the maturity date. Our senior secured debt to Consolidated EBITDA ratio at December 31, 2013 was 2.04.

We were in compliance with all of our financial and non-financial covenants as of December 31, 2013 . These agreements also contain customary events of
default, including, but not limited to, cross-defaults among these agreements. Although we currently expect to remain in compliance with these existing
covenants, any breach of these covenants or a change in control could result in a default, and subsequent cross-defaults, under our credit agreements, which
could cause all of the outstanding indebtedness to become immediately due and payable and terminate all commitments from our lenders to extend further
credit.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2013 , certain significant cash obligations that will affect our future liquidity:
Total

Less than

1–3

3–5

1 year

Years

Years

More than
5 years

(In Thousands)

Long-term debt, including current portion
Interest on long-term debt
Operating leases
Third-party hosting commitments
Other contractual commitments (including interest)

$

Total

$

75,213
2,260
22,425
7,965
264
108,127

$

$

75,107
2,260
4,247
3,951
150
85,715

$

106
—
6,556

$

4,014
114

$

10,790

$

—
—
5,256
—
—
5,256

$

$

—
—
6,366
—
—
6,366

On February 24, 2014, the Company refinanced all its outstanding indebtedness under the Prior Credit Facility with the proceeds of its new Term Loan Credit
Facility and entered into a new Revolving Credit Facility. The Term Loan Credit Facility bears interest at LIBOR, with a 2.00% floor plus 5.25% per annum,
for an effective interest rate of 7.25%. There is a 0.25% principal payment due on the last day of each quarter, commencing on June 30, 2014, with a balance
due in a final installment on February 24, 2019.

On March 11, 2014, the Company entered into a lease dated as of March 3, 2014 (the "Lease") with 404 Wyman LLC to lease 51,325 square feet of office
space in the building located at 404 Wyman Street, Waltham, Massachusetts. The term of the Lease is ten years and three months, which the Company
expects will commence on or around July 15, 2014. The fixed base rent for the premises during years one through five of the Lease term is $1.7 million per
annum, payable monthly and the fixed base rent for the premises during years six through the end of the Lease term is $1.8 million per annum, paid monthly.
Long-Term Debt and Interest on Long-Term Debt
Interest on long-term debt consists of monthly interest payments on the Prior Credit Facility through its maturity date, June 15, 2014, based on the amount of
debt outstanding and the December 31, 2013 interest rate of 6.00%, representing 1.50% floor, plus 4.50% spread.

Other Financing Arrangements
In June 2011, we entered into a financing arrangement in the amount of $1.2 million for third-party software, including financing costs of $0.1 million to be
repaid over a 50 month period ending in July 2015. In December 2011, we entered into a second financing arrangement for licensing and support of internal
systems in the amount of $0.2 million to be repaid over a 25 month period that ended in January 2014.
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Operating Leases and Third-party Hosting Commitments
Our principal executive office in New York, New York occupies 43,304 square feet that is subject to a lease agreement that expires in July 2021. In addition,
we have a facility in Charlestown, Massachusetts that occupies 36,557 square feet under a lease that expires in December 2015.

We also maintain space in Amsterdam, London, Paris, Chicago, São Paulo, Frankfurt, Singapore, Tokyo, Hong Kong, Sydney, Miami and San Francisco
for our sales and services activities. We believe that our facilities are adequate for our current needs. However, we may obtain additional office space to house
additional services personnel in the near future, and we may require other additional office space as our business grows.

Our commitments to our third-party hosting provider expire in December 2015. Our hosting obligations are largely impacted by service expansion
requirements in line with the growth of our business.

Uncertain Tax Positions
Tax reserves for uncertain tax positions, excluding interest and penalties, totaled $3.9 million and $3.3 million at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 ,
respectively. These tax reserves are included in "Other long-term liabilities" and as a reduction in long-term deferred tax assets on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet. We do not expect the balance of unrecognized tax benefits to significantly increase or decrease over the next twelve months. We are not able to reasonably
estimate when we would make cash payments required to settle these liabilities beyond the next twelve months; however, we do not believe that the ultimate
settlement of our obligations will materially affect our liquidity.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not currently have, and did not have during the periods presented, any off-balance sheet arrangements (as defined under the rules promulgated by the
SEC) such as relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, which are often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities,
that are established for the purpose of facilitating financing transactions that are not required to be reflected on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The following discussion should be read together with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
Interest Rate Sensitivity
Term loans under our now terminated First Lien Credit Agreement, as amended, bore interest at the higher of the Eurodollar Rate or 1.5%, plus 4.25% per
annum. Although the interest on our Prior Credit Facility was defined as variable, the existence of the Eurodollar Rate floor of 1.5% caused us, in recent years,
to not be subject to market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates because the Eurodollar Rate has been considerably lower than 1.5%. If the Eurodollar
Rate were to have risen above 1.5%, our results of operations, specifically interest expense on the Prior Credit Facility, would have been subject to market risk.
Changes in our credit rating could adversely impact the interest rates on our Prior Credit Facility. However, for so long as our corporate credit rating is at least
B1 (stable) from Moody’s and at least B+ (stable) from Standard & Poor’s, our Eurodollar rate margin will be 4.25%. If our current rating were to further
decline, our Eurodollar rate margin would increase to 4.50%. Due to our current credit rating of B2 from Moody's, our Eurodollar rate margin is 4.50%. An
increase in the effective interest rate of one percentage point would increase interest expense by $0.8 million .

On June 30, 2012, our interest rate swap matured. However, the fair value of the interest rate swap was measured each reporting period and included a credit
valuation adjustment that reflected consideration of our credit risk, since the interest rate swap was in a liability position. The fair value measurement of the
swap fluctuated considerably from period-to-period due to volatility in underlying interest rates, which were driven by market conditions and the duration of
the swap. In both of the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, a 10% increase or decrease in interest rates would have resulted in an increase or decrease
of $0.2 million to "Other expense (income), net", within our Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The primary objectives of our investment activities are to preserve principal, provide liquidity and maximize income without significantly increasing risk.
Some of the securities we invest in are subject to market risk. This means that a change in prevailing interest rates may cause the value of the investment to
fluctuate. To minimize this risk, we maintain our portfolio of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments in a variety of securities, including
money market funds, certificates of deposit, U.S. treasuries, commercial paper and corporate debt securities. A 10% decrease in interest rates in the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 would not have had a material impact (on a total dollar basis) on our interest income during those periods, respectively,
due to the immateriality of the interest income generated by our investments during those periods.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
During the year ended December 31, 2013 , 41.3% of our revenues were generated from sales across 6 9 countries outside of the

57

Table of Contents

U.S. Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly between the U.S. Dollar, Pound
Sterling and Euro. During the year ended December 31, 2013 , we realized a foreign currency transaction loss of $0.3 million and during the year ended
December 31, 2012, we realized a foreign currency transaction gain of $0.3 million .
We generate a significant portion of our revenue in Europe. Our European operations are subject to risk if the Euro were to be devalued. For example, a 10%
devaluation in the Euro applied to our revenue generating activities in Europe would have resulted in an additional $0.4 million recorded as a loss to our "Other
expense (income), net" within our Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 . Comparatively, an appreciation in the Euro of
10% applied to our revenue generating activities in Europe would have resulted in an additional $0.4 million recorded as a gain to our "Other expense (income),
net" within our Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 .
In addition, we generate a significant portion of our revenue in the U.K. As a result, a 10% devaluation in the Pound Sterling applied to our revenue generating

activities in the U.K. would have resulted in an additional $0.8 million recorded as a loss to our "Other expense (income), net" within our Consolidated
Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 . Comparatively, an appreciation in the Pound Sterling of 10% applied to our revenue generating
activities in the U.K. would have resulted in an additional $0.8 million recorded as a gain to our "Other expense (income), net" within our Consolidated
Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 .
Inflation Risk

Our monetary assets, consisting primarily of cash, cash equivalents and investments, are not affected significantly by inflation because they are short-term.
We believe the impact of inflation on replacement costs of equipment, furniture and leasehold improvements will not materially affect our operations. The rate
of inflation, however, affects our cost of revenue and expenses, such as those for employee compensation, which may not be readily recoverable in the price of
the services we offer.
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ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Intralinks Holdings, Inc.

In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Intralinks Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In
addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth
therein when read in conjunction with the related Consolidated Financial Statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (1992)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's management is responsible for these financial
statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company's internal control over financial
reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial
statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect

the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York
March 13, 2014
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INTRALINKS HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In Thousands, Except Share Data)
December 31,

2013

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $3,152 and $2,927, respectively

$

Investments
Deferred taxes
Prepaid expenses
Restricted cash
Other current assets

Total current assets
Fixed assets, net
Capitalized software, net
Goodwill
Other intangibles, net
Other assets

2012

50,540
38,322
34,886
12,148
6,036
2,442
4,576
148,950

$

$

43,798
37,667
31,549
7,469
5,474
—
3,518
129,475
10,645
26,295
215,478
106,750
1,111
489,754

$

4,451

14,100
32,341

$

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Short-term debt

$

Deferred revenue
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred taxes
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)
Stockholders' equity:
Undesignated Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding
Common Stock, $0.001 par value; 300,000,000 shares authorized; 56,054,484 and 55,486,651 shares issued
and outstanding, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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11,052
209
44,651
26,667
82,579
75,004
16,989
5,289
179,861

—

Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

215,869
83,648
1,054
495,962

56
429,549
(112,714)
(790)
316,101
495,962 $

1,030

40,719
20,320

66,520
75,238
21,135
4,809
167,702

—
55
419,618
(97,436)
(185)
322,052
489,754
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INTRALINKS HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In Thousands, Except Share Data)
Years Ended December 31,

2013

$

Revenue

Other revenue

Total revenue
Cost of revenue

Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Product development
Impairment of capitalized software
Total operating expenses

(Loss) income from operations
Interest expense

Amortization of debt issuance costs
Other expense (income), net
Net loss before income tax
Income tax (benefit) expense

$

Net loss

2012

234,496
—
234,496
64,885
169,611

2011

$

216,667
—
216,667
62,354
154,313

108,428
57,063
20,014
—
185,505
(15,894)
4,136
358
239
(20,627)
(5,349)
(15,278) $

96,198
50,608
21,092
8,715
176,613

$

(22,300)

6,435
740

(1,870)
(27,605)
(10,225)
(17,380) $

212,890
614
213,504
56,385
157,119
88,872
40,808

18,579
—
148,259
8,860
10,645
1,369
(3,123)
(31)

1,212
(1,243)

Net loss per common share

$
$

Basic
Diluted

(0.28) $

(0.32)

$
(0.32) $

(0.28) $

(0.02)
(0.02)

Weighted average number of shares

Basic

55,135,657

54,352,536

53,381,655

Diluted

55,135,657

54,352,536

53,381,655

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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INTRALINKS HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In Thousands)
Years Ended December 31,

2013

$

Net (loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax
Total other comprehensive loss, net of tax

$

Comprehensive (loss)

2012

(15,278) $
(605)
(605)
(15,883) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(17,380) $
(236)
(236)

(17,616) $

2011

(1,243)

(192)
(192)
(1,435)
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INTRALINKS HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In Thousands, Except Share Data)
Shares

Amount

Common
Stock

Common

Stock

Balance at January 1, 2011

52,387,374

$

52

$

365,962

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax

—

—

—

Net loss
Proceeds from initial public and follow-on offerings,
including underwriters' overallotment shares, net of
offering costs

—

—

—

Forfeiture of restricted unvested common stock
Exercise of stock options for common stock

Issuance of common stock in connection with employee
stock purchase plan

Stock-based compensation expense
Balance at December 31, 2011

1,437,500

Accumulated
Other

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Deficit

$

(78,813)

$

—

243

Total

$

(192)

(1,243)

287,444
(192)

—

(1,243)

2

34,486

—

—

34,488

(187,679)

—

1,374

—

—

1,374

412,050

—

1,251

—

—

1,251

127,876

—

—

—

—

—

71,057

—

8,708

—

—

8,708

54,248,178

$

54

$

411,781

$

(80,056)

$

$

331,830

—

—

—

Net loss

—

—

—

Exercise of stock options for common stock

341,764

—

481

—

—

481

Issuance of common stock in connection with employee
stock purchase plan

187,417

—

795

—

—

795

Issuance of restricted common stock

709,292

1

—

—

—

1

—

—

6,561

—

—

6,561

Stock-based compensation expense

Balance at December 31, 2012

55,486,651

$

55

$

419,618

—
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Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax

(236)

(17,380)

$

(97,436)

(236)

—

$

(185)

$

322,052

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax

—

—

—

Net loss

—

—

—

405,328

1

1,105

—

—

1,106

86,338

—

540

—

—

540

76,167

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

8,286

—

—

8,286

Exercise of stock options for common stock

Issuance of common stock in connection with employee
stock purchase plan

Issuance of restricted common stock

Stock-based compensation expense

Balance at December 31, 2013

56,054,484

$

56

$

429,549

—

(17,380)

(605)

(15,278)

$

(112,714)

(605)

—

$

(790)

(15,278)

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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INTRALINKS HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In Thousands)
Years Ended December 31,

Net loss

2013

2012

$ (15,278)

$ (17,380)

2011

$

(1,243)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

23,644
20,864
8,286
—
1,517
1,594
(8,338)
—
—
(18)

Amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation and amortization

Stock-based compensation expense
Impairment of capitalized software

Amortization of deferred costs

Provision for bad debt and customer credits
Deferred income tax benefit

Gain on interest rate swap
Loss on disposal of fixed assets

Currency remeasurement (gain) loss

25,774
18,567
6,561
8,715
1,808
1,713

28,630
19,999
8,708
—
1,472

(13,007)

(1,166)

(1,455)
15
388

(4,193)

(690)

(2,692)

(873)

(712)

931

228
(318)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Deferred revenue
Net cash provided by operating activities

(2,363)
(1,181)
5,142
4,132
4,008
42,009

35,186

(20,495)
(6,976)
(2,443)
(47,604)
43,326

(18,013)
(8,014)
—
(37,445)
41,220

(18,718)
(5,115)
—

(600)

(300)

(34,792)

(22,552)

—
(59,953)

1,645

765
1,928
2,389
54,726

(490)

4,793
747

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capitalized software development costs

Capital expenditures

Restricted cash

Purchases of investments
Maturities of investments
Acquisitions
Net cash used in investing activities

(40,120)

4,000

Cash flows from financing activities:

Repayments of outstanding principal on long-term debt

(821)

1,276
(15,861)

Repayments of outstanding financing arrangements

(708)

(641)

Payment of financing costs

(284)

—
—
—
(15,226)

Proceeds from exercise of stock options and issuance of common stock, net of withholding taxes

—
—

Proceeds from IPO and follow-on offerings, net of underwriting discounts and commissions
Offering costs paid in connection with initial public offering and follow-on offerings

(168)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

(307)

6,742

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

$

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

65

43,798
50,540

$

2,625
(35,657)
—
—
35,003
(516)

1,455

(304)

(1)

(2,896)
46,694
43,798

(3,773)

$

50,467
46,694
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Year Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

Supplemental Schedule of Cash Flow Information:

Cash paid during the period for:
Interest, net of amount capitalized

4,136

6,378

10,666

Income tax

2,416

2,005

3,181

—

591

1,325

Non-cash transactions during the period for:
Assets acquired through financing transactions

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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INTRALINKS HOLDINGS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Description of Business

Intralinks Holdings, Inc. ("Intralinks Holdings") and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Company") is a leading global provider of Software-as-a-Service
("SaaS") solutions for secure content management and collaboration within and among organizations. The Company's cloud-based solutions enable
organizations to control, track, search and exchange time-sensitive information, inside and outside of the firewall, all within a secure and easy-to-use
environment. The Company's customers rely on its cost-effective solutions to manage large amounts of electronic information, accelerate information-intensive
business processes, reduce time to market, optimize critical information workflows, meet regulatory and risk management requirements and collaborate with
business counterparties in a secure, auditable and compliant manner. The Company helps its customers eliminate the inherent risks and inefficiencies of
using email, fax, courier services and other existing solutions to collaborate and exchange information.

The Company was incorporated in Delaware as "Intralinks, Inc." in June 1996. In June 2007, the Company completed a merger (the "Merger") pursuant to
which Intralinks, Inc. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of TA Indigo Holding Corporation, a Delaware corporation formed by an investor group led by TA
Associates, Inc., which is now part of TA Associates Management, L.P., a prominent growth private equity firm, and Rho Capital Partners, Inc., an
investment and venture capital management company and one of the principal investors in Intralinks, Inc. since 2001. In 2010, the Company changed the
name of TA Indigo Holding Corporation to "Intralinks Holdings, Inc." and on August 5, 2010, the Securities and Exchange Commission declared effective the
Company's registration statement on Form S-1, in connection with its initial public offering of 11.0 million shares of common stock.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation - The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). All intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.

Significant estimates and assumptions made by management include the determination of the fair value of stock options and estimated forfeitures of equitybased awards, fair value of the Company's reporting unit, valuation of intangible assets (and their related useful lives), fair value of financial instruments,
certain components of the income tax provisions, including valuation allowances on the Company's deferred tax assets, accruals for certain compensation
expenses, allowances for doubtful accounts and reserves for customer credits. The Company bases estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on
various other factors that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Company evaluates its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Out-of-period Adjustments - During the financial statement close process for the three months ended June 30, 2013, the Company identified a prior period
error totaling $0.8 million , which was corrected and recorded as a cumulative adjustment to long-term deferred tax assets within the Consolidated Balance
Sheet at June 30, 2013, and was reflected as an income tax expense within the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three and six months ended June
30, 2013. The Company does not believe that this adjustment is material to the Consolidated Financial Statements for any prior period or to the 2013 results.

During the financial statement close process for the three months ended March 31, 2012, the Company identified a prior period error totaling $0.8 million ,
which was corrected and recorded as a cumulative adjustment to long-term deferred tax assets within the Consolidated Balance Sheet at March 31, 2012, and
was reflected as an income tax benefit within the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2012. The Company does not
believe that this adjustment is material to the Consolidated Financial Statements for any prior period or to the 2012 results.
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INTRALINKS HOLDINGS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Revenue Recognition - The Company derives revenue principally through fixed commitment contracts under which the Company provides customers various
services, including access to the cloud-based Intralinks Platform, including Intralinks exchanges and Intralinks VIA, as well as the related customer support
and other services. The Company's customers do not have a contractual right, or the ability, to take possession of the Intralinks software at any time during
the hosting period, or contract with an unrelated third party to host the Intralinks software. Therefore, revenue recognition for the Company's services is not
accounted for under specific guidance of the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") on software revenue recognition. The Company recognizes
revenue for its services ratably over the contracted service period, provided that there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement; the service has been provided
to the customer; collection is reasonably assured; the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable; and the Company has no significant
remaining obligation at the completion of the contracted term. In circumstances where the Company has a significant remaining obligation after completion of
the initial contract term, revenue is recognized ratably over the extended service period. The Company's contracts do not contain general rights of return.
From time to time, the Company agrees to sales concessions with its customers a reserve for which is estimated based on historical patterns of actual credits
issued. Expenses associated with maintaining this reserve are recorded as a reduction to revenue, which the Company believes represents an accurate reflection
of the underlying business activity for each reporting period and is in line with the requirement that all revenue recognized during the period is earned and
realizable.

The Company offers services to customers through single-element and multiple-element arrangements, some of which contain offerings for optional services,
including document scanning, data archiving and other professional services. In accordance with the FASB's guidance on multiple-deliverable arrangements,
the Company has evaluated the deliverables in its arrangements to determine whether they represent separate units of accounting, specifically whether the
deliverables have value to the Company's customers on a standalone basis. The Company has determined that the services delivered to customers under its
existing arrangements generally represent a single unit of accounting. Revenue for optional services is recognized as delivered, or as completed, provided that
the general revenue recognition criteria described above are met. The Company continues to evaluate the nature of the services offered to customers under its
fixed commitment contracts, as well as its pricing practices, to determine if a change in policy regarding multiple-element arrangements and related disclosures
is warranted in future periods.

Additionally, certain of the Company's customer contracts contain provisions for set-up and implementation services relating to the customer's use of the
Intralinks Platform. The Company believes that these set-up and implementation services provide value to the customer over the entire period that the exchange
is active, including renewal periods, and therefore the revenue related to these set-up types of services are recognized over the longer of the contract term or the
estimated relationship life which, as of December 31, 2013 , generally ranged from two to four years. The Company will continue to evaluate the length of the
amortization period of the revenue related to set up and implementation fees to determine if a change in estimate is warranted in future periods.

Other Revenues - On November 25, 2008, one of the Company's primary facilities sustained water damage from a fire on a floor above, resulting in an
interruption to the Company's operations. The Company filed a claim under its business interruption insurance policy for lost revenue caused by the downtime experienced subsequent to the loss event. The Company received insurance proceeds totaling $0.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2011, in
response to its business interruption claim. Business interruption insurance proceeds are classified as "Other revenue" in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Deferred Revenue - Deferred revenue represents the billed but unearned portion of existing contracts for services to be provided. Deferred revenue does not
include the unbilled portion of existing contractual commitments of the Company's customers. Accordingly, the deferred revenue balance does not represent the
total contract value of outstanding arrangements. However, amounts that have been invoiced are recorded as revenue or deferred revenue, as appropriate, and
are included in the Company's accounts receivable balances. Deferred revenue that will be recognized during the subsequent 12-month period is classified as
"Deferred revenue" with the remaining portion as non-current deferred revenue as a component of "Other long-term liabilities" on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets.
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INTRALINKS HOLDINGS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Stock-Based Compensation - The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of options granted under its 2007 Stock
Option and Grant Plan and the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, as well as the rights awarded under its 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP. Using this
model, fair value is calculated based on assumptions with respect to (i) expected volatility of the Company's common stock price, (ii) the expected life of the
award, which for options is the period of time over which equity recipients are expected to hold their options prior to exercise and for ESPP rights is the period
of time between the offering date and the exercise date (as defined in Note 12), (iii) expected dividend yield on the Company's common stock, and (iv) a riskfree interest rate, which is based on quoted U.S. Treasury rates for securities with maturities approximating the expected term. The use of different
assumptions in the Black-Scholes pricing model would result in different amounts of stock-based compensation expense. Furthermore, if different
assumptions are used in future periods, stock-based compensation expense could be materially impacted in the future.
The fair value of restricted shares of common stock, or RSAs, and restricted stock units, or RSUs, is generally determined using the intrinsic value of the
Company's common stock at the time of grant, with the exception of the 0.5 million performance based RSAs issued to the Company's Chief Executive
Officer on February 1, 2012. The fair value of the performance based RSAs was determined using a Monte-Carlo simulation.

The Company does not have a significant history of market prices, and as such, the Company estimates volatility in accordance with Securities and
Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 14 D.1, using historical volatilities of similar public companies. The Company based its analysis of
expected volatility on reported data for a peer group of companies within the Company's industry, using an average of the historical volatility measures of this
peer group of companies. The Company intends to continue to consistently apply this process using the same or similar entities until a sufficient amount of
historical information regarding the volatility of its own stock price becomes available, or unless circumstances change such that the identified entities are no
longer similar to the Company, in which case, the Company would select and use in the calculation publicly available share price information for more
suitable entities. Once a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of the Company's share price becomes available, the Company will
utilize the closing prices of its publicly-traded common stock to determine its volatility. The expected life of options has been determined using the "simplified"
method, which uses the midpoint between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term. The Company utilizes the simplified method of determining the
expected life of options due to the limited period of time its common stock has been publicly traded, thus resulting in a lack of sufficient historical exercise
data in a publicly traded environment to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term. The Company intends to continue to consistently
apply the simplified method until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding exercise data in a publicly traded environment becomes available.

The risk-free interest rate is based on quoted U.S. Treasury rates for securities with maturities approximating the awards' expected term. The expected
dividend yield is zero as the Company never paid dividends and does not currently anticipate paying any in the foreseeable future.

Stocked-based compensation expense for stock options is recorded over the requisite service period, less estimated forfeitures. For grants of RSAs and RSUs,
the Company records stock-based compensation expense based on the fair value of the shares on the grant date over the requisite service period, less estimated
forfeitures. Stock-based compensation expense for ESPP rights is recorded in line with each respective offering period.

The Company utilizes an estimated forfeiture rate when calculating expense for the period. The Company considers several factors when estimating future
forfeitures, including types of awards, employee level and historical experience. If this estimated rate changes in future periods due to different actual
forfeitures, the Company's stock-based compensation expense may increase or decrease significantly. If there are any modifications or cancellations of the
underlying unvested securities or the terms of the awards, the Company may be required to accelerate, increase or cancel any remaining unamortized stockbased compensation.

Sales Commissions - Commissions payable to the Company's sales staff are expensed in the period the related sales efforts are performed. Sales commission
expense was $17.0 million , $13.4 million and $13.2 million , respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 and are included within
"Sales and marketing" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Advertising - The Company expenses the cost for producing and communicating advertising and promoting its services when incurred.

Income Taxes - The Company accounts for income taxes on the asset and liability method pursuant to ASC 740, Income Taxes. Under this method, deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, as well as net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred income taxes are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to be applied to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on
deferred income
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taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in results of operations in the period that includes the enactment date.

Each reporting period, the Company assesses whether its deferred income tax assets are more-likely-than-not realizable, in determining whether it is necessary
to record a valuation allowance. This includes evaluating both positive (e.g., sources of taxable income) and negative (e.g., recent historical losses) evidence
that could impact the realizability of the Company's deferred income tax assets.

The Company recognizes the impact of an uncertain tax position in its financial statements if, in management's judgment, the position is more-likely-than-not
sustainable upon audit based on the position's technical merits. This involves the identification of potential uncertain tax positions, the evaluation of applicable
income tax laws and measurement of the amount of each uncertain tax position that is more-likely-than-not sustainable. The Company operates within multiple
taxing jurisdictions and is subject to audit in each of these jurisdictions. The Company recognizes interest expense and penalties on uncertain tax positions as
part of income tax expense.

Net Loss Per Share - Basic loss per share is computed using net loss and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted loss per share
reflects the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding plus any potentially dilutive shares outstanding during the period. Potentially
dilutive shares consist of shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and unvested shares of restricted common stock (using the treasury stock method)
and conversion of preferred shares (using the as converted method). Common equivalent shares are excluded from the diluted computation if their effect is antidilutive.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions - The functional currencies of the Company's foreign operations are the local currencies in each of the
foreign subsidiary locations. Assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate on the balance sheet
date. Revenue and expenses denominated in a foreign currency are translated into U.S. dollars on a monthly basis at the average exchange rate during the
period. Adjustments resulting from translating foreign currency financial statements into U.S. dollars are recorded in "Accumulated other comprehensive loss"
as a separate component of shareholders' equity within the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses resulting from assets
and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the subsidiary's local currency are reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as a component
of "Other expense (income), net." For the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011, foreign currency transaction losses (gains) were $0.3 million ,
$(0.3) million and $0.9 million , respectively.

Comprehensive Loss - Comprehensive loss consists of net loss and other comprehensive loss. Other comprehensive loss includes certain changes in
stockholders' equity that are excluded from net loss, specifically cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments. Comprehensive loss has previously
been reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity and is now reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss.

Cash and Cash Equivalents - The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase
to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit with banks, money market funds and certain investments in commercial paper.
Investments - The Company's investment portfolio may at any time contain investments in U.S Treasury obligations, securities guaranteed by the U.S.
government, certificates of deposit, corporate notes and bonds, medium-term notes, commercial paper, and money market mutual funds, with original
maturities less than one year. The Company's investments with original maturity dates of less than three months from the purchase date are included in "Cash
and cash equivalents" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company's investments with original maturity dates in excess of three months, but less than
one year, from the purchase date are classified as short-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Short-term investments classified as held-tomaturity are recorded at amortized cost. Interest earned on short-term investments is included in "Other expense (income), net" on the Consolidated Statements
of Operations.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The carrying amounts of the Company's cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments classified as held-tomaturity, accounts receivable, accounts payable and other accrued expenses, approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. See
"Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" below for a discussion of the Company's accounting policy for its interest rate swap.

Concentration of Credit Risk - Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, investments and trade accounts receivable. Although the Company deposits its cash with more than one financial institution, its
deposits, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses on cash and cash equivalent accounts to date and the
Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk related to cash.
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The Company evaluates the adequacy of its allowance for doubtful accounts on a quarterly basis. This evaluation includes historical loss experience, length of
time receivables are past due, adverse situations that may affect a customer's ability to repay and prevailing market conditions. This evaluation is inherently
subjective and the Company may revise its estimates as more information becomes available.

Property and Equipment, Net - Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of those assets, as follows:

Computer equipment and capitalized software
Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

3 years

5 years
5 years
Shorter of estimated useful life or remaining lease term

Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - The Company evaluates the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts on a quarterly basis. This evaluation
includes historical loss experience, length of time receivables are past due, adverse situations that may affect a customer's ability to pay its obligation to the
Company and prevailing market conditions. This evaluation is inherently subjective and the Company may revise its estimates as more information becomes
available.

Software Development Costs - The Company accounts for the cost of computer software developed or obtained for internal use of its application service by
capitalizing qualifying costs, which are incurred during the application development stage and amortizing them over the software's estimated useful life. Costs
incurred in the preliminary and post-implementation stages of the Company's products are expensed as incurred. The amounts capitalized include external
direct costs of services used in developing internal-use software, payroll and payroll-related costs of employees directly associated with the development
activities and interest. The Company amortizes capitalized software over the expected period of benefit, which is three years, beginning when the software is
ready for its intended use. Software development costs are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value of the asset may not be recoverable. During 2012, the Company recorded an impairment loss on certain internal-use capitalized software of $8.7 million .

Goodwill and Other Intangible and Long-Lived Assets - The Company assesses goodwill for impairment annually as of October 1 or more frequently if an
event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. The goodwill
impairment test is based on the Company's single operating segment and reporting unit structure. In 2011, the FASB issued authoritative guidance which gives
entities the option to qualitatively assess whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If the Company
elects to perform a qualitative assessment and concludes it is not more likely than not that the fair value of its reporting unit is less than its carrying value, no
further assessment is necessary; otherwise, the fair value of its reporting unit has to be determined and if the carrying value of its goodwill exceeds its implied
fair value, an impairment loss equal to the excess is recorded. The Company adopted this newly issued authoritative guidance effective October 1, 2011.

The Company's long-lived assets primarily consist of computer equipment, capitalized software, furniture, fixtures, office equipment and leasehold
improvements, which are subject to depreciation over the useful life of the asset. Long-lived assets are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may be impaired. In evaluating an asset for recoverability, the Company estimates the future cash
flow expected to result from the use of the asset and eventual disposition. If the expected future undiscounted cash flow is less than the carrying amount of the
asset, an impairment loss, equal to the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the asset, is recognized. No impairments were recorded on longlived assets for the periods presented in these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other Intangibles, net - represents definite-lived intangible assets, which are being amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows:
10 years
10 years
12 years
3 years

Developed technology

Customer relationships
Trade name
Non-compete agreement
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Developed technology is amortized over its estimated useful life at a rate consistent with the expected future cash flows to be generated by the asset. All other
definite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Deferred Financing Costs - Deferred financing costs being amortized using the effective interest method over the expected remaining term of the loan.
Amortized costs are presented separately as non-operating costs within the Company's Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities - During 2012 and 2011, the Company maintained an interest rate swap agreement to economically hedge its
exposure to changes in the amounts of future cash flows, driven by the variable rates associated with the Company's long-term debt. The interest rate swap
agreement matured on June 30, 2012. The interest rate swap was recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet in "Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities" at fair value. The fair value of the interest rate swap was measured each reporting period and included a credit valuation adjustment that reflected
consideration of the Company's own credit risk, since the interest rate swap was in a liability position. Valuations may have fluctuated considerably from
period-to-period due to volatility in underlying interest rates, which was driven by market conditions and the duration of the derivative instrument. The
Company does not hold any derivatives and does not use financial instruments for any trading or other speculative purposes at December 31, 2013 .

Warranties and Indemnification - The Company's revenue contracts generally provide for indemnification of customers against liabilities arising from third
party claims that are attributable to the Company's breach of its warranties or infringement of third party intellectual property rights, subject to contractual
limitations of liability. To date, the Company has not incurred any material costs as a result of such indemnifications and has not accrued any liabilities
related to such obligations in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements as the Company currently has no infringement or warranty related disputes
with customers or third parties.

The Company has entered into contracts that include service level agreements with some of its customers in which the Company has warranted that it will
provide certain levels of uptime. A subset of those customers have the explicit right, under the terms of their contracts, to receive credits or terminate their
agreement in the event that the Company fails to meet those stated service levels. To date, the Company has not provided credits nor had any agreement
canceled based on these service level agreements.

The Company warrants that its service is provided in a manner reasonably designed for the secure transmission of customer data. The Company does not
monitor its exposure to customer contracts in terms of maximum payout. In the event of an infringement claim giving rise to indemnification liability, the
Company has the right to satisfy such obligations by providing a workaround or may suspend or terminate service to mitigate any liability. The Company
relies on a risk framework to define risk tolerances and establish limits to ensure that certain risk-related losses occur within acceptable, predefined limits.
Factors that it considers in determining exposure include the fact that the Company disclaims liability for consequential and indirect damages, including for
loss of data, resulting from any breach of contract and that the Company, to date, has never had to do any make-good rework or been impacted by any payout
in connection with any of these guarantees. Thus, the potential for the Company to be required to make payments under these arrangements is remote and,
accordingly, no contingent liability is carried on the Consolidated Balance Sheet for these transactions.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2013, the FASB issued new accounting guidelines that require disclosure of amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income
to net income. The adoption of this accounting guidance, which became effective and was adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2013, had no material
impact on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.
In June 2013, the FASB ratified accounting guidance proposed by the Emerging Issues Task Force that requires entities to present an unrecognized tax benefit
net with certain deferred tax assets when specific requirements are met. The amendments in this updated guidance are effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2013. The effect of this guidance has no impact on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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3. Investments and Fair Value Measurements
The Company has classified its short-term investments in commercial paper and corporate bonds as held-to-maturity and as such, has recorded them at
amortized cost. Interest earned on these debt securities is included in “Other expense (income), net” within the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The
gross unrecognized holding gains and losses for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 were not material.
The following tables summarize these short-term investments as of December 31, 2013 and 2012:
2013
Consolidated Balance Sheet

Security Type

Maturity

Classification

176 to 269 Days
229 to 354 Days

Investments (short-term)
Investments (short-term)

Amortized Cost
(In thousands)

Commercial Paper
Corporate Notes

$

6,791
28,095
34,886

$

Total

2012
Consolidated Balance Sheet

Security Type

Maturity

Classification

44 to 72 Days
363 Days

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments (short-term)
Investments (short-term)

Amortized Cost
(In thousands)

Corporate Bonds
Commercial Paper
Corporate Notes

152 to 365 Days

$

$

Total

2,509
2,493
29,056
34,058

The fair value framework under the FASB’s guidance requires the categorization of assets and liabilities into three levels based upon the assumptions used to
measure the assets or liabilities. Level 1 provides the most reliable measure of fair value, whereas Level 3, if applicable, generally would require significant
management judgment. The three levels for categorizing assets and liabilities under the fair value measurement requirements are as follows:

•

Level 1: Fair value measurement of the asset or liability using observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities;

•

Level 2: Fair value measurement of the asset or liability using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the applicable asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar (as opposed to identical) assets or liabilities in active markets and quoted prices for
identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; and

•

Level 3: Fair value measurement of the asset or liability using unobservable inputs that reflect the Company’s own assumptions regarding the
applicable asset or liability.

All of the Company's investments that are measured at fair value are Level 1 assets for all periods presented.
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The following table summarizes the assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2013 :
Level 1

Total

Level 3

Level 2
(In thousands)

Asset:
Money market funds as cash equivalents

$

5,031

5,031

—

—

The following table summarizes those assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2012 :
Level 1

Total

Level 3

Level 2
(In thousands)

Asset:
Money market funds as cash equivalents

$

5,642

5,642

—

—

4. Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Goodwill
At December 31, 2013 , the Company has $215.9 million of goodwill. Goodwill is assessed for impairment annually as of October 1 or more frequently if an

event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. The goodwill
impairment test is based on the Company's single operating segment and reporting unit structure. No goodwill impairment was identified in any of the years
presented.

While there were no qualitative factors that suggested the fair value of Intralinks was less than the carrying value, the Company elected to perform a
quantitative impairment assessment as of October 1, 2013. Step 1 of the goodwill impairment test was performed using a combination of a market approach
and an income approach using a discounted cash flow (“DCF”) analysis. The market approach considered the market capitalization of the Company as of
October 1, 2013, adjusted for an estimated equity control premium of 20%. The estimated cash flows utilized in the DCF analysis were based on the
Company’s most recent budget and business plans and, for years beyond the budget, the Company’s best estimate of future results, based, in part, on
forecasted growth rates. Assumptions used in the DCF analysis include a 13% discount rate. Based on the results of the quantitative assessment, the estimated
fair value of the Company's single reporting unit exceeds its carrying value and the second step of the impairment test is not necessary.

The Company completed a qualitative impairment assessment as of October 1, 2012. Among the factors included in the Company's qualitative assessment
were general economic conditions and the competitive environment, actual and expected financial performance, including consideration of the Company's
revenue growth and improved operating results year-over-year, forward-looking business measurements, external market conditions, the Company's stockprice performance compared to overall market and industry peers, market capitalization, and other relevant entity-specific events. Based on the results of the
qualitative assessment, the Company concluded that it is more likely than not that the fair value of its single reporting unit is higher than its carrying value,
and therefore performance of the two-step quantitative impairment test was not necessary.
As of December 31, 2013 , other intangibles consists of the following:
Definite – Lived Intangible Assets
Gross

Carrying Amount

Accumulated Amortization

Net
Carrying Amount

(In Thousands)

Customer relationships

$

141,973
132,642
14,629
1,039
290,283

Developed technology

Trade name
Non-compete agreements

Total

$

As of December 31, 2012, other intangibles consists of the following:
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$

$

(92,750) $
(105,096)
(7,980)
(809)
(206,635) $

49,223
27,546
6,649
230

83,648
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Definite – Lived Intangible Assets
Gross

Accumulated

Carrying Amount

Amortization

Net
Carrying Amount

(In Thousands)

Customer relationships

$

141,880 $
132,454
14,618
789
289,741 $

Developed technology

Trade name
Non-compete agreements

Total

$

(78,553) $
(96,960)
(6,750)
(728)
(182,991) $

63,327
35,494
7,868
61
106,750

The Company has not identified impairment for any of the definite-lived intangible assets through December 31, 2013 .
Total intangible amortization expense is classified in each of the operating expense categories as follows:
Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

(In Thousands)

Cost of revenue
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

$

Total

$

8,136
14,198
1,310
23,644

$

$

10,369
14,175
1,230
25,774

$

13,237
14,175
1,218
28,630

$

Estimated intangible amortization expense on an annual basis for the succeeding five years is as follows:
For the years ending December 31,

Amount
(In thousands)

$

2014

2015
2016
2017
2018
Thereafter

$

Total

23,470
23,470
23,387

11,386
1,249
686
83,648

5. Fixed Assets
Fixed assets consisted of the following at:
December 31,

2013

2012
(In thousands)

$

Computer equipment and capitalized software
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment
Leasehold improvements

Total fixed assets
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization

$

Fixed assets, net

75

30,605 $
3,222
6,884
40,711
(26,611)
14,100 $

25,598
3,148
4,321
33,067
(22,422)
10,645
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Depreciation expense relating to fixed assets for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $5.1 million, $5.0 million and $5.9 million,
respectively.

6. Capitalized Software
Capitalized software consisted of the following at:
December 31,

2013

2012
(In thousands)

Capitalized software
Less: Impairment of capitalized software
Less: Accumulated amortization

$

Capitalized software, net

$

96,478 $
—
(64,137)
32,341 $

83,432

(8,715)
(48,422)
26,295

In accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant and Equipment — Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets , impairment is the condition that exists
when the carrying value of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. If it is determined that the long-lived asset is not recoverable, an impairment loss is
recognized and measured based on the excess of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset over the long-lived asset’s fair value.

During the second quarter of 2012, management initiated a business strategy review to explore long-term growth opportunities. The objective was to assess the
competitive environment, identify the most attractive market opportunities and further develop the Company’s execution strategy. In conjunction with this
strategy review, management also initiated a company-wide evaluation of its internal systems, to determine whether certain internal server-based systems
should be replaced by SaaS-based solutions. Management’s evaluation indicated that the carrying value of certain internal-use capitalized software exceeded its
fair value. As such, the Company completed a valuation assessment, utilizing the cost replacement method, and concluded that this internal-use capitalized

software is not fully recoverable and should be written down to its fair value. Accordingly, the Company recorded an impairment loss on internal-use
capitalized software of $8.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2012.

Amortization expense of capitalized software for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $15.7 million, $13.6 million and $14.1 million ,
respectively.

7. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following at:
December 31,

2013

2012
(In thousands)

Salaries, commissions and related expenses
Other accrued expenses

$

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities

$

15,601
11,066
26,667

$

10,162
10,158

$

20,320

8. Income Tax
The following is a summary of the Company's net loss before income tax by jurisdiction:
Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

(In thousands)

U.S.
Non-U.S.

$

Net loss before income tax

$
76

(21,375) $

(28,325) $

748

720

(214)
183

(20,627) $

(27,605) $

(31)
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The components of the Company's income tax (benefit) expense are as follows:
Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

(In thousands)

Current:

$

Federal

$

220

52
726
1,852
2,630

626
2,143
2,989

State and local
Foreign

Total current income tax expense

$

375
986
952
2,313

Deferred:

(6,640)
(1,483)
(215)
(8,338)
(5,349) $

Federal

State and local
Foreign

Total deferred income tax benefit

$

Total income tax (benefit) expense

(10,396)
(2,410)
(49)
(12,855)
(10,225) $

1,061
(1,908)
(254)
(1,101)
1,212

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes at the U.S. Federal statutory income tax rate of 35% to the Company's effective income tax rate is as follows:
Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

(In thousands)

Tax at U.S. federal statutory rate
State taxes, net of federal income tax effect
Stock-based compensation expense
Non-deductible expenses

$

(7,219)
(557)
1,334
438
1,348
(1,008)

Foreign taxes
Research and development credit
Other

Total

$

315
(5,349) $
25.9%

$

Effective tax rate

77

(9,662)
(1,356)
(336)
212
1,251
(78)
(256)
(10,225)
37.0%

$

$

(11)
(668)
1,946
712
428
(1,231)
36
1,212

(3970.2)%
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Following is a summary of the components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2013 and 2012:
Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012
(In thousands)

$

Net operating loss carryforwards - Current
Accrued expenses
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Research and development tax credit
Other
Current deferred tax assets

5,972
3,948
1,255

$

70
903

12,148
7,701
7,174
1,546
4,249
2,692
23,362
35,510

Net operating loss carryforwards - Non-current
Research and development tax credit carryforwards
AMT tax credit carryforwards
Stock-based compensation
Other
Non-current deferred tax assets
Total deferred tax assets
Depreciation and amortization
Non-current deferred tax liabilities
Total deferred tax liabilities

$

Net deferred tax liabilities

(40,351)
(40,351)
(40,351)
(4,841) $

3,792
1,834
1,159
75
609
7,469
15,427
5,914
1,325
3,084

2,028
27,778
35,247
(48,913)
(48,913)
(48,913)
(13,666)

At December 31, 2013 , the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of $48.3 million , including $11.3 million of windfall tax benefits attributable to

stock-based compensation. If not utilized, these net operating loss carryforwards will expire beginning in 2020 through 2030. The windfall tax benefits
attributable to stock-based compensation will be recorded to additional paid-in capital when such amounts reduce income taxes payable. At December 31,
2013, the Company had U.S. Federal and state research and development tax credit carryforwards of $8.0 million and $4.1 million , respectively, which if not
utilized, will expire beginning in 2020 through 2033.

Due to ownership changes in 2001 and 2007, and the public stock offerings in 2010, the Company's net operating loss and research and development tax
credit carryforwards are subject to limitations pursuant to IRC Sections 382 and 383 and similar state provisions. The Company has recorded the associated
tax benefits on net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards that it believes are more-likely-than-not realizable, based on its evaluation of the foregoing
limitations and both positive and negative evidence, including reversals of existing taxable temporary differences. As of December 31, 2013 the Company had
no valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets.
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The following table summarizes changes to the Company's unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penalties, for the periods presented:
Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

(In thousands)

Beginning Balance as of January 1
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year
Additions for prior year tax positions
Reductions from expirations of applicable statutes of limitations
Settlements

$

3,335
389
221
—
—
3,945

Balance as of December 31, $

$

3,161
168
6
—
—
3,335

$

$

2,578
475
204

(56)
(40)
3,161

$

If recognized, unrecognized tax benefits totaling $3.4 million at December 31, 2013 , would impact our effective income tax rate. Our liability for unrecognized
tax benefits is classified as part of "Other long-term liabilities" and as a reduction in long-term deferred tax assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

At December 31, 2013, total accrued interest and penalties related to the uncertain tax positions was $0.2 million , which includes $0.03 million , $0.03 million ,
and $0.03 million recorded during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. These amounts were recorded as part of income tax
expense during the respective periods.

As a result of prior year net operating losses, the Company's U.S. Federal income tax returns for years 1999 through 2013 are open for examination by the
U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS"). State and local income tax returns for 2010 through 2013 remain subject to examination by various state and local
taxing authorities. The Company's non-U.S. income tax returns are also subject to income tax examination in various foreign jurisdictions. The Company
concluded an audit by the IRS of its U.S. Federal income tax returns for the years ended December 31, 2006 through 2009 in the second quarter of 2013. The
Company received Notices of Proposed Adjustments for 2006, 2007 and 2008 from the IRS disallowing $58.3 million of foreign branch losses on the basis
that they constitute dual consolidated losses in the U.S. The IRS is asserting that the Company is not entitled to reasonable cause relief for late election filings.
The Company disagrees with the proposed adjustments by the IRS and has filed an appeal. Management believes that it is more likely than not that the
Company’s position will ultimately be sustained. Further, management believes it has adequately provided for all uncertain tax positions, and any potential
audit adjustments would not have a material impact on the Company's financial position. The Company does not anticipate that the total amounts of its
unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease over the next twelve months.

9. Debt
Long-term debt consisted of the following at:
December 31,

2013

2012
(In thousands)

First Lien Credit Agreement (“Prior Credit Facility”)
Other financing arrangements
Less: current portion (Prior Credit Facility)
Less: current portion (Other financing arrangements)

$

Total long-term debt

$

74,898 $
315
—
(209)
75,004 $

75,719
549
(821)
(209)
75,238

Based on available market information, the estimated fair value of the Company’s long-term debt was $75.0 million and $76.6 million as of December 31,
2013 and December 31, 2012 , respectively. These fair value measurements were determined using Level 2 observable inputs, as defined in Note 3. The
estimated fair value of the Company’s other financing arrangements approximates the carrying value at each reporting period.
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Prior Credit Facility
The Prior Credit Facility provided for term loans in the aggregate principal amount of $135.0 million . Each principal payment was due on the last day of each

quarter, which commenced on September 30, 2007 with the balance due in a final installment on June 15, 2014. Additionally, the Prior Credit Facility
included a requirement for mandatory prepayments based on annual excess free cash flow. Term loans under the First Lien Credit Agreement, as amended,
bore interest at the higher of the Eurodollar Rate (as defined in the credit agreement) or 1.50%, plus 4.50% per annum. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the
interest rate on the Prior Credit Facility was 6.00% and 5.75%, respectively.
The Prior Credit Facility limited annual consolidated capital expenditures, including amounts related to capitalized software, and restricted the ability to
borrow against the revolving line of credit if a consolidated EBITDA ratio was not achieved. The agreement also contained other positive and negative
covenants. The Company was in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.
In April 2011, in connection with the Company’s follow-on public offering, the Company received net proceeds of $34.6 million after deducting underwriting
discounts and commissions. The Company used these proceeds to prepay $34.6 million of outstanding indebtedness on the Prior Credit Facility. The terms of
the First Lien Credit Agreement required that any voluntary prepayment of the term loans to be applied on a pro rata basis to each scheduled installment of
principal. As a result, the quarterly installment payment as of June 30, 2011 decreased from $0.34 million to $0.25 million for the remaining term of the loan.

On April 6, 2012, the Company entered into Amendment No. 3 (the “Third Amendment”) to the Prior Credit Facility. The Third Amendment amended certain
provisions of the Prior Credit Facility to, among other things, increase the capital expenditures limit from $21.0 million to $35.0 million per year, through the
remainder of the term. As provided for in the Third Amendment, the Company prepaid $15.0 million of the outstanding balance on the Prior Credit Facility.
As a result, the quarterly installment payment beginning June 30, 2012 decreased from $0.25 million to $0.21 million for the remaining term of the loan.
The Prior Credit Facility also provided for a $15.0 million revolving line of credit, which expired on June 15, 2013. The obligations previously covered by the
Company's revolving line of credit, which were primarily related to the Company's operating lease agreements for its various office locations, were replaced

under a separate cash collateralized facility under which the Company originally provided the bank with $2.5 million and they provided certain of the
Company's landlords with separate letters of credit for each location. The cash collateral balance is $2.4 million at December 31, 2013 . This facility expires on
June 3, 2014 and as such is classified as current restricted cash on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet.
The Prior Credit Facility was secured by security interests and liens against all of the Company’s assets, including a pledge of 100% of the equity interests in
its domestic subsidiaries and an obligation to pledge 65% of the equity interests in its direct foreign subsidiaries.

Financing Costs
Financing costs resulting from the original debt issuance, as well as the amendments to the First Lien Credit Agreement, were deferred and amortized over the
remaining term of the loans using the effective interest method. As a result of the voluntary prepayment of $34.6 million on the Prior Credit Facility (using the
proceeds from the April 2011 public offering of common stock), the amortization of $0.4 million of deferred financing costs was accelerated.

Other Financing Arrangements
In June 2011, the Company entered into a financing arrangement in the ordinary course of business, to purchase certain software and related services in the
amount of $1.2 million , including financing costs of $0.1 million to be repaid over a 50 month period ending in July 2015. In December 2011, the Company
entered into another financing arrangement in the ordinary course of business, to purchase support and maintenance for existing software licenses in the
amount of $0.2 million repaid over a 25 month period ending in January 2014.

In August 2012, the Company entered into a financing arrangement in the ordinary course of business, to purchase D&O insurance in the amount of $0.8
million of which $0.6 million was financed and repaid over the nine month period ended May 9, 2013.
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The following table summarizes the interest expense incurred on long-term debt:
Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

(In thousands)

Prior Credit Facility
Interest Rate Swap (see Note 10)
Other financing arrangements

$

Total interest expense on long-term debt

$

4,618
—
35
4,653

$

4,863
1,515

$

6,410

$

32

$

6,100
4,570
8
10,678

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company capitalized interest costs of $0.5 million related to software development costs.

10. Derivative Financial Instrument
The Company’s interest rate swap agreement matured on June 30, 2012. The Company recognized a gain on the interest rate swap of $1.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012, which is included in “Other expense (income), net” on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

In prior periods, the fair value of the interest rate swap was measured each reporting period and included a credit valuation adjustment that reflected
consideration of the Company’s credit risk, since the interest rate swap was in a liability position. The Company recorded immaterial credit valuation
adjustments during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.
The effects of derivative instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Operations were as follows:
Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

(In thousands)

$

Other expense (income), net

—

$

(1,455) $

(4,193)

11. Common Stock

As of December 31, 2013 , the Company had 300.0 million shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share ("common stock"), authorized, with 56.1
million shares of common stock issued and outstanding. The number of authorized shares of common stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the
number of shares then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of holders representing at least 75% in interest of the issued and outstanding shares of the
Company's common stock.
On August 5, 2010, the SEC declared effective the Company's registration statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165991), in connection with its
initial public offering of 11.0 million shares of common stock, at a public offering price of $13.00 per share. The offering closed on August 11, 2010. Upon
consummation of the Company's initial public offering, all previously outstanding shares of the Company's Series A Preferred Stock converted to 35.1
million shares of common stock. On September 9, 2010, the Company closed the sale of an additional 1.0 million shares of common stock at the initial
public offering price of $13.00 per share pursuant to the underwriters' exercise of their over-allotment option in connection with the Company's initial public
offering that closed on August 11, 2010.

On December 6, 2010, the SEC declared effective the Company's registration statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No.333-170694), in connection with
its follow-on public offering of an additional 2.0 million shares of common stock at a public offering price of $20.00 per share.

On April 6, 2011, the SEC declared effective the Company's registration statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No.333-173107), in connection with the
Company's follow-on public offering of 1.3 million shares of common stock at a public offering price of $25.50 per share, with an overallotment option of an
additional 0.2 million shares. The follow-on offering closed on April 12, 2011, pursuant to which a total of 1.4 million shares were issued, inclusive of the
exercise of the overallotment option by the underwriters of 0.2 million shares.
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The Company used substantially all of the net proceeds of its initial public offering, including the sale of the underwriters' over-allotment shares, and the April
2011 follow-on offerings to repay a significant amount of its outstanding indebtedness (see Note 9).

Entities affiliated with TA Associates, L.P. and Rho Capital Partners, Inc. hold 16.9 million shares of the Company's common stock and have the right to
require the Company to register these shares under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, pursuant to a registration rights agreement.

12. Employee Stock Plans
Total stock-based compensation expense related to all of the Company’s stock awards was included in operating expense categories, as follows:
Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

(In thousands)

Cost of revenue
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Product development

$

Total

$

692
1,320
4,998
1,276
8,286

$

$

445
1,080
3,596
1,440
6,561

$

310

$

2,353
4,716
1,329
8,708

2007 Restricted Preferred Stock Plan

The maximum number of restricted Series A Preferred shares authorized and issued under the 2007 Restricted Preferred Stock Plan was 2.0 million , all of
which were granted on June 15, 2007 in conjunction with the Merger. At the closing of the Company's initial public offering, all outstanding shares of Series A
Preferred Stock converted into shares of common stock, including unvested restricted Series A Preferred shares. At December 31, 2013 , there were no shares of
Series A Preferred Stock issued or outstanding.
2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan

The maximum number of shares of common stock initially reserved and available for issuance under the Company's 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan was
4.0 million shares. Under the 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan, the maximum number of shares increased by one share automatically for every share of
restricted Series A Preferred issued under the 2007 Restricted Preferred Stock Plan that failed to vest and was canceled. On March 8, 2010, an additional 4.0
million shares of common stock were authorized for issuance under the 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan, increasing the number of shares of common stock
authorized for issuance to 8.0 million . Effective upon the adoption of the Company's 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, the Company's board of directors determined
not to grant any further awards under the 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan and the shares of common stock that remained available for future awards under
the 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan have been reserved for issuance under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan.
2010 Equity Incentive Plan

The 2010 Equity Incentive Plan was adopted by the Company's board of directors in March 2010 and approved by its stockholders in July 2010. The 2010
Equity Incentive Plan permits the Company to make grants of stock options (both incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options), stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, unrestricted stock, cash-based awards, performance shares and dividend equivalent rights to its
executives, employees, non-employee directors and consultants. The number of shares of common stock reserved and available for issuance under the 2010
Equity Incentive Plan is 7.8 million which is the sum of 3.3 million shares of stock reserved under the plan on the effective date and 4.5 million additional
shares approved in July 2012. Generally, shares that are forfeited or canceled from awards under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, the 2007 Stock Option and
Grant Plan and the 2007 Restricted Preferred Stock Plan also will be available for future awards under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan. In May 2012, the
Company's board of directors adopted a U.K. sub plan to the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, which was subsequently approved by the HM Revenue and
Customs in November 2012. The U.K. sub plan provides for the issuance to U.K. residents of options to acquire shares of the Company's common stock.
Further, the U.K. sub plan provides that if recipients exercise their options in an approved manner that meets the requirements of the U.K. sub plan, they will
receive favorable tax treatment.
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On July 27, 2012, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-8 (File No.333-182912) that relates to an additional 4.5 million shares of common
stock issuable pursuant to the Company's 2010 Equity Incentive Plan.

The following table summarizes the weighted average values of the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes pricing model to estimate the fair value of the
options granted during the period presented:
Years Ended December 31,

Expected volatility
Expected life of option
Risk free interest rate
Expected dividend yield

2013

2012

2011

52.1%
6.09 years

59.1%
6.09 years
0.9%

57.7%
6.06 years
1.6%

0.0%

0.0%

1.3%
0.0%

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2013 :
Weighted Average Exercise

Shares

5,541,130
857,000

Outstanding at December 31, 2012
Granted
Exercised

Price

$

6.80
7.08
5.37
7.91
6.74

(300,301)
(887,445)
5,210,384 $

Forfeited

Outstanding at December 31, 2013

The following table contains additional information with respect to options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2013 :
Options Outstanding

Number of
Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Remaining
Weighted
Average Life

Number Exercisable

Remaining Weighted
Average Life

Exercise Prices:

$1.59 - $4.73
$5.14 - $7.66
$8.11 - $10.50
$13.00 - $25.89

1,739,141
2,766,672

7.63 years
8.21 years
9.76 years
6.87 years

243,500

461,071
5,210,384

891,890
1,090,281
—

6.73 years
7.90 years

330,385

6.85 years

0.00 years

2,312,556

At December 31, 2013 , the aggregate intrinsic value of stock options outstanding and exercisable was $31.0 million and $14.1 million , respectively. At
December 31, 2012 , the aggregate intrinsic value of stock options outstanding and exercisable was $5.1 million and $1.8 million , respectively. The intrinsic
value for stock options is calculated based on the exercise price of the underlying awards and the share price of such awards as of each respective period-end
date.

The following table summarizes non-vested stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2013 :

Shares

3,816,020 $
857,000
(1,382,509)
(392,683)
2,897,828 $

Non-vested options outstanding at December 31, 2012
Granted
Vested
Forfeited

Non-vested options outstanding at December 31, 2013
83

Weighted Average Grant
Date Fair Value

3.60
3.55
3.59
3.80

3.52

Table of Contents

INTRALINKS HOLDINGS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The following table provides additional information pertaining to the Company's stock options:
Years Ended December 31,

2013

Weighted average grant date fair value for options granted during the period

$
$

Total fair value of options vested (in thousands)

3.55
4,968

2012

$
$

2.68
5,968

2011

$
$

7.03

4,752

The intrinsic value of options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, was $1.0 million and $1.5 million , respectively.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, there was $9.2 million and $12.4 million , respectively, of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock
options, net of estimated forfeitures, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.69 years and 3.41 years , respectively. Stock-based
compensation expense for the Company's stock options under the 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan and 2010 Equity Incentive Plan during the years ended
December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $4.8 million , $3.9 million and $6.1 million , respectively.

Restricted Stock Awards (“RSAs”)
Information concerning RSA’s outstanding under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan is as follows:

Shares

625,800 $
76,167
(143,985)
557,982 $

Non-vested shares at December 31, 2012
Granted
Vested and exchanged for common stock
Non-vested shares at December 31, 2013

Weighted Average Grant
Date Fair Value

4.35
9.19
5.21
4.79

For the year ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011, the weighted-average grant date fair value for RSAs was $9.19, $4.24 and $17.81, respectively. The
fair value of RSAs vested was $0.7 million , $0.9 million and $1.5 million , respectively, during the same periods.

The aggregate intrinsic value of RSAs outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $6.8 million and $3.9 million , respectively. The intrinsic value for
RSAs is calculated based on the market price of the Company’s stock as of each period-end date.
At December 31, 2013 and 2012, there was $1.2 million and $1.9 million , respectively, of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested RSAs,

net of estimated forfeitures, that is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.73 years and 2.51 years , respectively. Stock-based
compensation expense for the Company’s RSAs granted under the 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan and 2010 Equity Incentive Plan during the years ended
December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $1.5 million , $1.5 million and $1.4 million , respectively.
On February 1, 2012, the Company granted 0.5 million restricted shares of common stock to its Chief Executive Officer, Ronald W. Hovsepian, pursuant to
his employment agreement. Vesting of this award is based upon the achievement of specified stock performance and service thresholds. The Company
performed a Monte-Carlo simulation to calculate the award’s fair value of $2.1 million and derived service period of 3.8 years. The assumptions used to
perform the Monte-Carlo simulation were consistent with those utilized in the Company’s Black-Scholes valuations for stock options, specifically: expected
volatility of 60.32%, risk-free interest rate of return of 0.72% and a dividend yield of 0.0%. During the year ended December 31, 2013 , the Company incurred
$0.7 million of stock-based compensation expense related to this award.
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Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”)
The following table summarizes RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2013 :

Shares

446,456 $
1,015,212
(164,828)
(98,550)
1,198,290 $

Non-vested shares at December 31, 2012
Granted
Vested and issued
Forfeited

Non-vested shares at December 31, 2013

Weighted Average Grant
Date Fair Value

7.34

7.36
8.98
5.93
7.24

For the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011, the weighted-average grant date fair value for RSUs was $7.36, $4.70 and $14.72, respectively. The
fair value of RSUs vested was $1.5 million , $1.1 million , and $0.6 million , respectively, during the same periods.

The aggregate intrinsic value of RSUs outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $14.5 million and $2.8 million , respectively. The intrinsic value for
RSUs is calculated based on the market price of the Company's stock as of each period-end date.
At December 31, 2013 and 2012, there was $7.0 million and $2.3 million , respectively, of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested RSUs,
net of estimated forfeitures, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.20 years and 3.70 years , respectively. Stock-based
compensation expense for the Company’s RSUs granted under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, during the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011
was $2.0 million , $1.0 million and $0.9 million , respectively.

Modification of Awards
During the year ended December 31, 2013 , no awards were modified.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, pursuant to separation agreements for three executives, the Company extended the vesting terms for certain
outstanding equity awards beyond the individuals’ separation dates, resulting in modification of the awards for accounting purposes. As a result of the
extended vesting terms and re-measurement of the modified awards, the Company recorded an additional $0.8 million in stock-based compensation expense. In
addition, the Company reversed $1.4 million of stock-based compensation expense related to the forfeiture of unvested options by two of the three executives
previously referenced.

2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2010 ESPP”) was adopted by the Company's board of directors and approved by its stockholders in July
2010. As originally adopted in 2010, a maximum of 400,000 shares of the Company's common stock had been reserved for issuance under the 2010 ESPP.
Due to the limited number of shares available for purchase under the 2010 ESPP participation in the plan was suspended for the second quarter of 2013. At the
annual meeting on August 9, 2013, an amendment to increase the shares available for purchase to 1,000,000 was approved by the shareholders and the
Company reopened participation in the plan for the third quarter of 2013.
The Company makes one or more offerings each year to its employees to purchase stock under the 2010 ESPP, usually beginning on the first business day of
the quarter and ending on the last business day of the quarter. For employees eligible to participate on the first date of an offering period, the purchase price of
shares of common stock under the ESPP is 85% of the fair market value of the shares, either on the offering date or the exercise date, whichever is less. As of
December 31, 2013, there are 1,000,000 shares of common stock reserved, 420,627 shares issued and 579,373 shares available for future issuance under the
ESPP.

Stock-based compensation expense related to the Company's 2010 ESPP for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012, and 2011 was $0.04 million , $0.2
million and $0.4 million , respectively.
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13. Net Loss per Share
The following table provides a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in computing basic and diluted net loss per common share:
Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

Numerator:

$

Net loss (in thousands)
Denominator:
Basic shares:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding
Diluted shares:
Weighted-average shares used to compute basic net loss income per share
Effect of potentially dilutive securities:
Options to purchase common stock
Unvested shares of restricted stock awards
Unvested shares of restricted stock units
Weighted-average shares used to compute diluted net income loss per share

(15,278) $

(17,380) $

(1,243)

55,135,657

54,352,536

53,381,655

55,135,657

54,352,536

53,381,655

—
—
—
55,135,657

—
—
—
54,352,536

—
—
—
53,381,655

Net loss per share:

Basic

$

(0.28) $

(0.32)

$

(0.02)

Diluted

$

(0.28) $

(0.32)

$

(0.02)

The following outstanding options, non-vested RSAs and non-vested RSUs were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share for the periods
presented as their effect would have been antidilutive:
Years Ended December 31,

Options to purchase common stock
Unvested shares of restricted stock awards
Unvested shares of restricted stock units

2013

2012

2011

5,210,384
557,982
1,198,290

5,541,130
625,800
446,456

4,817,748
72,985
222,774

14. Segment and Geographic Information
The Company is a single operating segment. The Company's chief operating decision maker reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis,
accompanied by certain revenue metrics and trends by the following principal markets:

•

Mergers & Acquisitions ("M&A") comprises customers spanning a variety of industries, including financial services, pharmaceutical,
biotechnology, consumer, energy, industrial, legal, insurance, real estate and technology, who use Intralinks exchanges for project-based
transactions, such as mergers, acquisitions and dispositions. These customers are typically referred to the Company by financial or legal advisors
involved in the respective transactions. This principal market is generally characterized by the use of the Intralinks Platform.

•

Enterprise comprises customers spanning a variety of industries described above, who use the Intralinks Platform for a wide range of corporate
purposes.

•

Debt Capital Markets ("DCM") primarily comprises customers within the financial services industry who use Intralinks exchanges for loan
syndication and administration, and is generally characterized by the use of the Intralinks Platform.

The following table sets forth the Company's revenue by principal market:
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Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

(In thousands)

$

M&A
Enterprise
DCM
Other revenue

$

Total revenue

110,456
95,246
28,794
—
234,496

$

91,606
94,616

$

83,763
94,588
34,539
614
213,504

30,445

—
216,667

$

$

Revenue by geographic location is based on where the customer is located. Revenue and long-lived assets by geographic location are as follows:
Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

(In thousands)

Revenue:

U.S.

$

All other countries

$

Total

137,603
96,893
234,496

$

131,487
85,180
216,667

$

$

128,404

$

85,100
213,504

Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012
(In thousands)

Long-lived assets (excluding goodwill and intangible assets):

U.S.

$

All other countries

45,702 $
740

$

Total

46,442 $

36,372
645
37,017

Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Customers
The Company operates globally with 58.7% of total revenues derived from customers located in the U.S. and the remaining 41.3% derived from customers
located in various international locations. Revenue derived from customers located in the U.K. during the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was
$31.1 million , $25.4 million and $27.8 million , or 13.2%, 11.7% and 13.0% of total revenue, respectively. No other individual foreign country accounted for
more than 10% of the Company's revenue during these periods and no individual foreign country accounted for more than 10% of the Company's accounts
receivable at December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011.
No individual customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company's revenue in the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011.

15. Related Party Transactions
Affiliates of one of our largest shareholders, TA Associates, L.P. (which is now part of TA Associates Management, L.P.) are also customers of the Company.
These affiliates made payments to the Company in connection with their purchase of its services using the Intralinks platform. Revenue generated from TA
Associates, L.P. and its affiliates for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 totaled $0.2 million and $0.2 million . There were no amounts due from TA
Associates, L.P. at December 31, 2013 .

On April 27, 2011, the Company’s board of directors elected J. Chris Scalet as a Class I director of the Company. Mr. Scalet served as Executive Vice
President, Global Services and Chief Information Officer of Merck & Co., Inc. (“Merck”), a global research-
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driven pharmaceutical company, until his retirement on July 2, 2012. Affiliates of Merck are customers of the Company in the ordinary course of business.
Revenue generated from Merck and its affiliates for the year ended December 31, 2012 totaled $2.9 million . At December 31, 2012, amounts due from Merck
and its affiliates were nominal. At December 31, 2013, Merck was no longer a related party.
16. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases
The Company has entered into operating agreements for office space. Rent is amortized on a straight-line basis over the applicable lease terms. Deferred rent at
December 31, 2013 was $3.6 million .
Future minimum payments under operating leases for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:
Years Ending December 31,

Amount
(In thousands)

$

2014

2015
2016
2017
2018
Thereafter

$

Total

4,247
3,836
2,720
2,690
2,566
6,366
22,425

Total facilities expenses charged to operations for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $5.5 million, $6.3 million and $5.4 million,
respectively.

The Company's principal executive office located at 150 East 42nd Street, New York, New York occupies 43,304 square feet which is subject to a lease
agreement that expires in July 2021. The lease began in August 2011, has a ten year term and provided for 12 months of initial free rent and an allowance from
the landlord to be used for office improvements and certain other payments of $1.9 million . As of December 31, 2013 , the Company received $1.1 million of
reimbursed landlord leasehold improvements. In addition, we have a facility in Charlestown, Massachusetts that occupies 36,557 square feet under a lease
that expires in December 2015.

The Company also maintains space in Amsterdam, London, Paris, Chicago, São Paulo, Frankfurt, Singapore, Tokyo, Hong Kong, Sydney, Miami and San
Francisco for its sales and services activities. The Company believes that its facilities are adequate for its current needs. However, the Company may obtain
additional office space to house additional services personnel in the near future, and it may require other additional office space as its business grows.
Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, the Company and its subsidiaries are subject to various claims, charges, disputes, litigation and regulatory inquiries and
investigations. These matters, if resolved adversely against the Company, may result in monetary damages, fines and penalties or require changes in business
practices. The Company is not currently aware of any pending or threatened material claims, charges, disputes, litigation and regulatory inquiries and
investigations except as follows:
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Securities Class Action. On December 5, 2011, the Company became aware of a purported class action lawsuit filed in the U.S. District Court for the
Southern District of New York (the "SDNY" or the "Court") against the Company and certain of its current and former executive officers. The initial
complaint (the "Wallace Complaint") alleges that the defendants made false and misleading statements or omissions about the Company’s business prospects,
financial condition and performance in violation of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The plaintiff seeks unspecified compensatory damages

for the purported class of purchasers of the Company's common stock during the period from February 17, 2011 through November 10, 2011 (the
"Allegation Period"). On December 27, 2011, a second purported class action complaint, which makes substantially the same claims as, and is related to, the
Wallace Complaint, was filed in the SDNY against the Company and certain of its current and former executive officers seeking similar unspecified
compensatory damages for the Allegation Period. On April 3, 2012, the Court consolidated the actions and appointed Plumbers and Pipefitters National
Pension Fund as lead plaintiff, and also appointed lead counsel in the consolidated action ("Consolidated Class Action"). On June 15, 2012, the lead plaintiff
filed an amended complaint (“Consolidated Class Action Complaint”), that in addition to the original allegations made in the Wallace Complaint, alleges that
the Company, certain of its current and former officers and directors, and the underwriters in Intralinks’ April 6, 2011 stock offering issued a registration
statement and prospectus in connection with the offering that contained untrue statements of material fact or omitted material information required to be stated
therein in violation of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The defendants filed their motions to dismiss on July 31, 2012. On May 8, 2013, the Court
issued an opinion dismissing claims based on certain allegations in the complaint, but otherwise denied defendants' motions to dismiss. On June 28, 2013,
defendants filed their answers to the Consolidated Class Action Complaint. On October 15, 2013, the Court entered the parties’ pretrial scheduling stipulation,
which provided, inter alia, that the parties would fully brief any motions for summary judgment by February 17, 2015. In December 2013, the parties
served each other with document requests and discovery is ongoing. On February 18, 2014, lead plaintiff filed its motion for class certification. Pursuant to
the October 15, 2013 scheduling order, the defendants’ opposition to class certification is due by May 2, 2014, and lead plaintiff’s reply is due by June 2,
2014. The Company believes that these claims are without merit and intends to defend these lawsuits vigorously.

Dixon Derivative Action. On December 28, 2011, a shareholder derivative complaint was filed in the SDNY against the Company and certain of its current
and former directors. The complaint (the "Dixon Action") alleged that the defendants breached their fiduciary duties by causing the Company to issue
materially false and misleading statements about the Company's business prospects, financial condition and performance during the same Allegation Period
alleged in the Consolidated Class Action Complaint. Plaintiff has voluntarily dismissed the Dixon Action without receipt of any compensation. On January
28, 2014, the Court approved the stipulation of dismissal.

Horbal Derivative Action. On April 16, 2012, a second shareholder derivative complaint (the "Horbal Action") was filed in the Supreme Court of the State of
New York in New York County ("New York State Court") against the Company and certain of its current and former directors and officers. The Horbal
Action makes substantially the same claims as, and is related to, the Dixon Action. On April 24, 2012, one of the director defendants removed the Horbal
Action to the SDNY, and on May 7, 2012, it was assigned to the same judge as in the Dixon Action. On May 22, 2012, the plaintiff in the Horbal Action
moved to remand the case to New York State Court. On March 11, 2013, the SDNY granted plaintiff's motion to remand, and the case is currently pending in
New York State Court. On June 6, 2013, the parties filed a stipulation with the New York State Court agreeing to stay all proceedings in the Horbal Action,
including discovery, until ninety days after the SDNY issues a scheduling order in the Consolidated Class Action. On January 13, 2014, the parties filed a
stipulation with the New York State Court agreeing to work together on a schedule for defendants’ time to answer, move against or otherwise respond to the
complaint or an amended complaint. The Company believes the claims in the Horbal Action are without merit and intends to defend this lawsuit vigorously.
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Levine Shareholder Demand Letter/Complaint. The Company received a shareholder demand letter, dated May 16, 2013, demanding that the Company's
Board take action to remedy alleged breaches of fiduciary duty by current and former directors and officers of the Company. These alleged breaches are based
on the same alleged misconduct in the complaints in the Dixon, Horbal, and Consolidated Class Actions. The letter specifically demands that the Company's
Board undertake an independent internal investigation into the alleged breaches and commence a civil action against each of the allegedly breaching current and
former directors and officers. On June 26, 2013, the Company's Board created a Demand Committee to conduct an investigation into the allegations in the
Levine demand letter. On December 13, 2013, the shareholder filed a derivative complaint (the “Levine Action”) in New York State Court against the Company
and certain of its current and former directors and officers. The Levine Action alleges that since the Company’s Board has not responded substantively to the
shareholder’s demand letter in over six months, this has resulted in an improper “functional refusal” of the demand. The Levine Action makes substantially
the same claims as, and is related to, the Dixon, Horbal, and Consolidated Class Actions. It alleges, among other things, that the defendants breached their
fiduciary duties by making materially false and misleading statements related to the strength of the Company’s business and customer satisfaction. The
Company believes the claims in the Levine Action are without merit and intends to defend this lawsuit vigorously.

17. Subsequent Events
On February 24, 2014, the Company entered into an $80 million , 5-year term loan B credit agreement. The term loan bears interest at LIBOR, with a 2.00%
floor plus 5.25% per annum, for an effective interest rate of 7.25%. There is a 0.25% principal payment due on the last day of each quarter, commencing on
June 30, 2014, with a balance due in a final installment on February 24, 2019. In connection with the term loan agreement the lenders have provided for a
$10.0 million asset-based revolving line of credit. The Company must comply with various covenants the breach of which could result in a termination event.

The debt will provide the Company with additional financial flexibility to fund working capital, and discretionary investments, along with organic and
inorganic growth initiatives, including strategic acquisitions.

The occurrence of this subsequent event is evidence of the Company's intent and ability to refinance on a long-term basis. As such, the Company reclassified
the existing debt balance as of December 31, 2013 as long-term debt, in accordance with accounting rules prescribed in ASC 470-10.

On March 11, 2014, the Company entered into an operating lease to occupy 51,325 square feet of office space in Waltham, Massachusetts. The term of the
lease is ten years and three months . The fixed base rent for the premises during years one through five of the lease term is $1.7 million per annum, payable
monthly and the fixed base rent for the premises during years six through the end of the lease term is $1.8 million per annum, paid monthly.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A: CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the
Exchange Act, that are designed to ensure that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that such information
is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. Our management,
with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as
of the end of the period covered by this report.

Based upon this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of the end of the period covered by this report. Management believes that the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K are fairly presented in all material respects in accordance with GAAP, and our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have
certified that they fairly present in all material respects our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows for each of the periods presented in this
report.

Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting.
Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Our internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately

and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and that our receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. Due to
its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this evaluation, management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2013.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires us to evaluate annually the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of the end of
each fiscal year, and to include a management report assessing the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting in all annual reports. There were
no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B: OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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(In Thousands)

Year ended December 31, 2013
Allowance for doubtful accounts

Balance at Beginning of
Period

Additions Charged to
Expenses/Against Revenue

$

1,502
1,425
2,927

$

Credit reserve

Total

$

Year ended December 31, 2012
Allowance for doubtful accounts

$

724

$

Total

$

1,425
2,149

$

Year ended December 31, 2011
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Credit reserve

$

Total

$

Credit reserve

581
1,837
2,418

$

$
$

92

Deductions

1,028
6,694
7,722

$

1,713
6,348
8,061

$

1,344
3,933
5,277

$

$

$

$

Balance at
End of Period

(1,278) $
(6,219)
(7,497) $

1,252
1,900
3,152

(935) $
(6,348)
(7,283) $

1,502
1,425
2,927

(1,201) $
(4,345)
(5,546) $

1,425
2,149
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item is set forth under the captions "Board of Directors," "Corporate Governance," "Management" and "Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" in our definitive proxy statement for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we expect to file with the
SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2013 and is incorporated herein by reference.

We intend to disclose on our website any amendments to, or waivers from, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that are required to be disclosed
pursuant to the rules of the SEC. Information contained on, or connected to, our website is not incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K and should not
be considered part of this report or any other filing that we make with the SEC.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is set forth under the captions “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” "Directors," "Director Compensation" and
"Compensation Practices and Risk Assessment" in our definitive proxy statement for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we expect to file with
the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2013 and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information required by this Item is set forth under the captions “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity
Compensation Plan Information” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we expect to file with the SEC within
120 days of December 31, 2013 and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is set forth under the captions “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” and “Board of
Directors─Composition of our Board of Directors─Director Independence” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
which we expect to file with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2013 and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is set forth under the captions “Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm" and
"Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees and Services” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we
expect to file with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2013 and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15: EXHIBITS
The following are filed as part of this Annual Report:

1. Financial Statements
The financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report are listed on the index to financial statements found in Item 8.
2. Financial Statement Schedules
The financial statement schedule entitled "Schedule II-Valuation and Qualifying Accounts" filed as part of this Annual Report is listed on the index to financial
statements found in Item 8. All other schedules have been omitted since the required information is not present, or not present in amounts sufficient to require
submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or the Notes thereto.
3. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
The following exhibits are required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K.
Exhibit
Number
3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
4.3

Description

Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165991)).
Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165991)).
Specimen Common Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1, as
amended (File No. 333-165991)).
Registration Rights Agreement by and among the investors and shareholders listed therein and the Company, dated as of June 15, 2007
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165991)).
Stockholders Agreement by and among the investors and shareholders listed therein and the Company, dated as of June 15, 2007, as
amended (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-

165991)).
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4

10.5+

10.6+
10.7+
10.8+

10.9+
10.10+

Sublease Agreement by and between Meredith Corporation and Intralinks, Inc., dated as of September 24, 2007 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165991)).
First Amendment to Sublease Agreement by and between Meredith Corporation and Intralinks, Inc., dated as of June 2009 (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165991)).
Lease Agreement by and between Hiro Real Estate Co. and Intralinks, Inc., dated as of December 31, 2009 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165991)).
Lease Agreement, dated July 15, 2008, as amended by a First Amendment to Lease dated December 21, 2010 and a Letter Agreement
dated May 22, 2013, by and between Schrafft Center LLC and Intralinks, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013 filed on November 8, 2013).
2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan, First Amendment to 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan, Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement,
Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement and Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165991)).
2007 Restricted Preferred Stock Plan and Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165991)).
Amended and Restated 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form S-8 filed on September 6, 2013).
Amended and Restated 2010 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of award agreements (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on July 27, 2012).
Senior Executive Incentive Bonus Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1,
as amended (File No. 333-165991)).
Intralinks, Inc. Senior Executive Severance Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165991)).
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10.11+

10.12

10.13

10.14+

10.15+
10.16+
10.17+
10.18+

21.1*
23.1*
31.1 *
31.2 *
32.1 *
32.2 *
101.INS**
101.SCH**
101.CAL**
101.LAB**
101.PRE**
101.DEF**

Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2011 filed on May 16, 2011).
Credit Agreement, dated as of February 24, 2014, by and among Intralinks Holdings, Inc., Intralinks Inc. as Borrower, the financial
institutions listed therein as Lenders, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent and J.P. Morgan
Securities LLC as Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 27, 2014).
Credit Agreement, dated as of February 24, 2014, by and among Intralinks Holdings, Inc. and Intralinks International Holdings LLC as
Guarantors, Intralinks Inc. as Borrower and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Lender (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 27, 2014).
Employment Agreement dated as of December 15, 2011 by and between the Company and Ronald W. Hovsepian (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 16, 2011).
Employment Agreement dated as of September 17, 2012 by and between the Company and Derek Irwin (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 4, 2012).
Employment Agreement dated as of January 27, 2012 by and between the Company and Scott Semel (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 1, 2012).
Employment Agreement dated as of April 9, 2012 by and between the Company and Rainer Gawlick (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013 filed on November 8, 2013).
Form of Indemnification Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1, as
amended (File No. 333-165991)).
List of Subsidiaries of the Company.
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Definitions Linkbase Document

* Filed herewith.
+

Indicates a management contract or compensation plan, contract or arrangement.

* * Attached as Exhibits 101 to this report are the following financial statements from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 formatted in XBRL
(eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive
Loss, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (vi) related notes to these financial statements.

95

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf on March 13, 2014 by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INTRALINKS HOLDINGS, INC.
By: /s/ Ronald W. Hovsepian

Ronald W. Hovsepian
President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 13, 2014

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities indicated.

Signature
/s/ Ronald W. Hovsepian
Ronald W. Hovsepian
/s/ Derek Irwin
Derek Irwin
/s/ Patrick J. Wack, Jr.

Patrick J. Wack, Jr.
/s/ Brian J. Conway
Brian J. Conway

Title
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)

Date
March 13, 2014
March 13, 2014

Chairman of the Board of Directors

March 13, 2014

Director

March 13, 2014

Director

March 13, 2014

Director

March 13, 2014

Director

March 13, 2014

Director

March 13, 2014

Director

March 13, 2014

/s/ Peter Gyenes

Peter Gyenes
/s/ Thomas Hale
Thomas Hale
/s/ Habib Kairouz
Habib Kairouz
/s/ Robert C. McBride
Robert C. McBride
/s/ J. Chris Scalet
J. Chris Scalet
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Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF
INTRALINKS HOLDINGS, INC.

NAME OF SUBSIDIARY

Direct Subsidiaries:
Intralinks, Inc.
Indirect Subsidiaries:
Intralinks International Holdings LLC
Intralinks EMEA Holdings B.V.
Intralinks Pty Limited
Intralinks Goudou Kaisha
Intralinks Ltd.
Intralinks Serviços De Informática Ltda.
Intralinks GmbH
Intralinks EMEA France SARL
Intralinks Spain S.L.U.
Intralinks Canada Inc.
DealNexus Limited

JURISDICTION OF ORGANIZATION

Delaware

Delaware

Netherlands
Australia
Japan
England and Wales
Brazil
Germany
France
Spain
Canada
England and Wales

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-169138, 333-182912 and 333-191045) of Intralinks
Holdings, Inc. of our report dated March 13, 2014 relating to the consolidated financial statements, financial statement schedule and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10 ‑K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York March 13, 2014

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Ronald W. Hovsepian, certify that:

1

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2013 of Intralinks Holdings, Inc. (the “Registrant”);

2

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4

The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the Registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5

The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 13, 2014

/s/ RONALD W. HOVSEPIAN
Ronald W. Hovsepian
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Derek Irwin, certify that:

1

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2013 of Intralinks Holdings, Inc. (the “Registrant”);

2

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4

The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the Registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5

The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 13, 2014

/s/ DEREK IRWIN
Derek Irwin
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Intralinks Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2013, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Ronald W. Hovsepian, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 13, 2014

/s/ RONALD W. HOVSEPIAN
Ronald W. Hovsepian
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Intralinks Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2013, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Derek Irwin, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Date: March 13, 2014

/s/ DEREK IRWIN
Derek Irwin
Chief Financial Officer

